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CORPORATE INFORMATION
~EEFR
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Mr. Lam Ka Po

Mr. Cheung Ka Ho

Mr. Liu Min

Mr. Zhou Pei Feng

Non-Executive Director
Mr. Lo Ka Leong
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Mr. Leung Tai Chiu

Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen

Mr. Zhang Lu Fu

Mr. Lau Ping Cheung, Kaizer
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Mr. Leung Yu Hin (resigned on 2 January 2018)

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
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China Construction Bank Corporation

Citibank, N.A.

DBS Bank Ltd., Hong Kong Branch

Hang Seng Bank Limited

Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation

The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd., Hong Kong Branch
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
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Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBRE

FY2018
—E-N\F
B E

HK$’ MillionE &7 T

T —F
PHRFEE

HK$’ Million & &35 7T
(Restated) (& =&il)

ANNUAL REPORT 2018

Revenue BERE 20,645.8 18,338.0 +13%
EBITDA *Eggi%ggﬁ* 5,120.0 5,259.4 -3%
Profit before tax* R AR A 4,415.5 4,613.1 -4%
Net profit attributable to owners  Z&2RQ F)EHE A 4L 4R
of the Company
— Underlying net profit* — E ARG R 3,190.1 3,735.0 -15%
- Reported net profit — BREALF 3,250.4 3.764.5 149
Earnings per share BREF
— Based on underlying net profit* — AELAR AR5 HK103.5 cents3&1|l| HK121.6 cents;#& (Il -15%
— Based on reported net profit —BREAREE HK105.5 centsi&fll  HK122.5 centsi{l -14%
Interim dividend per share BRPERE HK17.5 cents3&1l HK32.6 cents)& L -46%
Proposed final dividend per share E&ESRAHKE HK35.0 cents3&1l HK52.6 cents;& Ll -33%
Net asset value per share EREEFE HK$5.687% 7T HK$5.673# 7T -
Net gearing 11% Net cash 1,062.1
FBEBELE11% FH$1,062.1
*Excluding: e
FY2018: Gain on fair value changes of investment properties of HK$91.1 million and written —E-)\F RAMELATFEEGZRENT B8
off of property, plant and equipment of HK$30.8 million. BT RMEDE  BERBEZEE=TFTT
N+EET -
FY2017: Gain on fair value changes of investment properties of HK$29.5 million. ZEtF RAMELATEEG2WE—TILEA TS

BT ©
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

MBRE

Revenue

ERE

HK$ Million
BERTT
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18,000
15,000
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20,646

Underlying Net Profit*
BRI

HK$ Million
BEEET

4,000
3,500
3,000
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2,000
1,500
1,000
500

0

- 3,190

2003 2018

*Excluding non-recurri
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERERE

BUSINESS REVIEW ¥ )]

On behalf of the board (“Board”) of directors (“Directors”), | am delighted RAZRREETS  MARASIMUEREAND - &
to report to our shareholders (“Shareholders”) that Kingboard Laminates SEEEBRIERAER AT (AT ) REWEB AT
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) delivered (TEB)HREBE-_ZE—N\E+-A=1+—H1t

solid results for the financial year ended 31 December 2018. During the year, PR FERSIEEEL - —T— \F - IREE
global trade disputes brought greater uncertainty to the electronics industry. SRImABFITEHEESREANTETE - N
This, coupled with the slowed growth in the demand for auto mobile and FTERASERFTESEMEBIRFENE - B
home appliances in China, had posed downward pressure on demand in ERITESZKEHEE - BEEERETENE
the laminates industry. Nevertheless, the Group was able to capitalise on its IR EEHEESEYE SRS RZ
vertical laminates supply chain, effective cost control and diversified business TAEMEBEES - WAREILR - BEAT
portfolio to sustain revenue growth. The Group’s overall profitability has NN ELERIR ZE -

continuously outperformed its peers.

Turnover Breakdown by Products % £ 28 5 #fh

FY2018 FY2017
—E-\FHBFE T EFHBFE

B Glass Epoxy Laminates  [] Paper Laminates [ Upstream Materials ~ [J§ Properties [l Investments [l Others
REFIBHEEIREIR BRI AER Rt FEihE ®E A
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EE®HE

BUSI N ESS REVI EW (continued)

The Group reported a 13% increase in revenue to HK$20,645.8 million in
2018. Underlying net profit (excluding non-recurring items) decreased by 15%
to HK$3,190.1 million. In view of the Group’s healthy financial position, the
Board has proposed a final dividend of HK35.0 cents per share, subject to
Shareholders’ approval.

PERFORMANCE

The management team introduced new sales initiatives in tune with the
market conditions, and expedited the upgrade of the product mix, thus
resulting in an increase in the average selling price (“ASP”) during 2018.
However, in view of the overall weakened demand for laminates, the division
was unable to fully shift the cost increases of the materials, such as copper
and chemicals to customers. Laminates sales showed a modest decline
with the average monthly shipment volume standing at 9.64 million square
metres. The laminates division's segment revenue rose 2% to HK$16,747.3
million. Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (“EBITDA”)
declined 30% to HK$3,378.9 million.

The property division sped up project sales during the second half of the
year. The sales of Kunshan Development Zone Kingboard Yu Garden Phase
2, Huagiao Kingboard Yu Garden Phase 4 and Jiangyin Kingboard Yu
Garden Phase 1 were partially booked for the year. Segment revenue thus
rose significantly by 104% to HK$3,644.0 million, delivering a 221% EBITDA
growth to HK$1,535.1 million.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EEHE

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Group’s consolidated financial and liquidity position remained robust. As
at 31 December 2018, net current assets and current ratio of the Group were
approximately HK$9,555.4 million (31 December 2017: HK$11,135.5 million)
and 2.59 (31 December 2017: 2.49) respectively.

As at 31 December 2018, the cash and cash equivalent of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$3,803 million. A total of HK$8,192 million
bank facilities were available, of which HK$5,843 million, or 71%, had been
utilised as at 31 December 2018, to finance the Group’s investment, capital
expenditures and for working capital purposes.

The net working capital cycle decreased to 63 days as at 31 December 2018
from 74 days as at 31 December 2017, on the following key metrics:

- The stock turnover days was 41 days (31 December 2017: 27 days).

- Trade receivables, including amounts due from fellow subsidiaries, in
terms of debtor turnover days, was 59 days (31 December 2017: 89
days).

- Trade and bills payables (excluding bills payables to properties, plant
and equipment), including amounts due to fellow subsidiaries, in
terms of creditor turnover days, was 37 days (31 December 2017: 42
days).

The principal of the total bank borrowings of the Group amounted to
approximately HK$5,843 million as at 31 December 2018, which was
denominated in Hong Kong dollars. The carrying amount of the Group’s bank
loans that was repayable within (i) one year; (i) more than one year, but not
more than two years; (i) more than two year, but not more than three years;
(iv) more than three year, but not more than five years; and (iv) more than five
years, was approximately HK$1,033 million, HK$933 million, HK$933 million,
HK$2,939 million and HK$5 million, respectively. All of the bank loans of the
Group bore variable-interest rates. The ratio of bank borrowings between
short term and long term stood at 18%:82% (31 December 2017: 12%:88%)).
The Group maintains sufficient financial resources to meet its requirements
for future market developments. The Group’s net gearing ratio, which is
calculated as the bank borrowing net of bank balances and cash divided by
net assets, was 11% as at 31 December 2018 (31 December 2017: net cash
HK$1,062.1 million). During 2018, the Group invested HK$860 million in new
production capacity and HK$540 million in its property business.

ANNUAL REPORT 2018

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

REE S R HARR

%.E']Z EUBERBESR RN EERSS
BE e RZE—-NF+ZA=+—RHZ2
mﬁ%éé@@%ﬂr+£%£ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ+

gEFrt(Z2—+ttF+=-_A=+—8":
— BT E=FTRER+EET)  RE=
BlB259(ZE—+F+-HA=+—H :2.49) »

RZE—NF+-A=+—H ' AEEZRS
FREEEBENA=ZTNEZ=ZG8HET -
R-_ZE—NF+_A=+—8  dAFHENIER
TREEEANtT—RBAT-EEST  &F
AT/\EUNFZE8BTHT1%EHEE -
BNALEENKE BEATHUARIER S
BESRR -

FEEESRAEHHR T —tF+-_A=+—
EIE’J‘t—T—P-—quTIEEFi—? NF+ZRA=+—
HEN+=H #oaT :

- FEABHANtT -—R(ZZ—+F
TZA=t+—HB:ZttR)-

- ﬁ%ﬁ%mﬁﬁﬁ¢&%X§ﬁ§W%

RAZEZRRFR)VBABHRR T

H(ZZE—tF+-A=+—RH:
N+AH) -

- 5 RNEREENRE(ERaIER
BREMBARIZESENERETE
EBEDE  BEEREZENREE)
BEHA=TEA(ZZ—tF+=A
=+t—H:@m+=RH)-

RZZE—NF+_A=+—8  KEBENRT
EBEEARSRENAA TN \BNT=Z688T
L/{/%ﬁ;+{g ZIS%.A\ ()—il?ﬂ(n)—ib/{
HETEBRE ; (I)WELEETBR=F ;
(VI =FLA FERBBRE  RVAEENR HEER
NIRTERZEEESINATRE=T=8
BB WVE=T=G881 WVE=T=8
EET —TNAE=ZThAEEELIATEREHE
T REBFERITERYAZEER - BH
EEBEENLIIA18%  82% (T —+F
+=—HA=+—8 :12% : 88%) - EE&& At
BERRAR  BRUMEAKRMISGEENTR -
EEE-_Z-N\F+-_B=1+—B2FaEL
K (EPRTEENBRBITESBRIREHRINEE
FE) AN (ZE—F+_A=+—8 %
Bet+EBATFZE—TEBT) - ZF—N\F -
EBREHNN\BATEBTABETEERENR
NRBOTEBSTNEMEER - BEEES
BEFREENER  BENEBSERLEED
FIRE N BEERMs LMIEEBAEREREK
REBTHNIREELR -



EEHBEERZERARALF

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EE®HE

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

(continued)

Backed by a highly experienced professional management team, a sound
business foundation and solid financial strength, management is confident
that these investments will deliver stable and satisfactory returns to
Shareholders over the long term.

The Group continued to adopt a prudent financial management policy. The
Group did not enter into any material types of derivative financial instrument,
nor did the Group have any material foreign exchange exposure during the
year. The Group’s revenue, mostly denominated in Hong Kong dollars, RMB
and US dollars, was fairly matched with the currency requirements of its
operating expenses.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2018, the Group maintained a workforce of approximately
10,200 (31 December 2017: 9,900). In addition to offering competitive salary
packages, the Group grants share options and discretionary bonuses to
eligible employees based on the Group’s overall financial achievements and
individual employee performance.

PROSPECTS

Stepping into 2019, investments in the industrial chain of 5G mobile networks
and the introduction of consumption stimulus policies in China are expected
to drive a rebound in laminates demand. Prices of laminates are already
on the upward track, while costs have remained relatively stable. This is
favourable for the division to expand its profit margin. Coping with market
needs, the division will work in full force to speed up the upgrade of thin,
high-frequency and high-speed, halogen-free laminates. The steadily growing
proportion of sales of high-value-added products will provide new impetus for
business growth.

The Group has also initiated a number of expansion programmes, with new
capacities due to be commissioned consecutively. In Guangdong Province,
capacities of copper foil in Lianzhou and those of glass fabric in Qingyuan
have both been expanded, further strengthening the Group’s vertical
production setup. To cope with the demand growth for high-end laminates
in the 5G era, and to satisfy expanding overseas market requirements, the
Group has planned the phased commissioning of new capacities in Jiangmen
and Shaoguan, Guangdong Province, and Thailand within this year. These
plans are expected to propel the laminates division into a new growth cycle.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EE®E

P ROS P ECTS (continued)

The Group will also continue to increase the pace of sales of its residential
projects in Kunshan City, Jiangsu Province in China. It is expected that a
substantial volume of property sales can be booked this year. The Group
has no intention of increasing its land bank for the time being. With all
existing projects close to completion, and thus construction expenses set to
decrease, it is expected that there will be an increase in net cash inflow for
the property business.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express my
sincere gratitude to our Shareholders, customers, banks, the management
and employees for their unreserved support to the Group in the past financial
year.

Cheung Kwok Wa
Chairman
Hong Kong, 20 March 2019
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

EERGREEBAEBZERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Wa, aged 55, is an executive Director and the Chairman
of the Company. He is a brother of Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung and Mr. Cheung
Kwok Ping, both being executive Directors and an uncle of Mr. Cheung Ka
Ho, an executive Director. Mr. Cheung joined Kingboard Holdings Limited
(“KHL") in 1988 and has over 30 years experience in the marketing of a
wide range of industrial products. He is responsible for the overall strategic
planning of the Group and sets the general direction and goals for the Group.
Mr. Cheung was appointed as an executive Director in July 20086.

Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Keung, aged 66, is an executive Director and the
Managing Director of the Company. He is a brother of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa
and Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping, both being executive Directors, and an uncle of
Mr. Cheung Ka Ho, an executive Director. Mr. Cheung joined KHL in 1991
and has over 27 years experience in the laminate industry. He is responsible
for the overall implementation of the strategic plans and goals of the Group.
Mr. Cheung was appointed as an executive Director in July 20086.

Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Ping, aged 58, is an executive Director. He is a brother
of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa and Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung, and an uncle of Mr.
Cheung Ka Ho, each being an executive Director. Mr. Cheung joined KHL in
1988 and has over 30 years experience in marketing. He is mainly responsible
for the Group’s marketing operations and is also the general manager of the
paper laminate factories in Fogang and Shaoguan, the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC”). Mr. Cheung is also an executive director of Kingboard
Copper Foil Holdings Limited (“KBCF”), a 87.90%-owned subsidiary of the
Company as at the end of reporting period of KBCF and whose shares are
listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX”). Mr.
Cheung was appointed as an executive Director in May 20086.

Mr. LAM Ka Po, aged 62, is an executive Director. Mr. Lam is a co-founder
of KHL and has over 30 years experience in the sales and distribution of
laminates. Mr. Lam is also the chairman and executive director of KBCF. He
was appointed as an executive Director in November 2006.

Mr. CHEUNG Ka Ho, aged 35, is an executive Director. Mr. Cheung is the
nephew of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa, Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung and Mr. Cheung
Kwok Ping, all being executive Directors. Mr. Cheung joined KHL in 2004
and is involved in the laminate marketing operations for the southern region
of China and also the general manager of glass epoxy laminate factory in
Thailand. He was appointed as an executive Director in July 2006.

Mr. LIU Min, aged 50, is an executive Director. He joined KHL in 1998. Mr.
Liu graduated from Harbin University with a Bachelor’s Degree in Chemical
Engineering. Prior to joining, he had over 7 years’ experience in the copper
foil industry. He was appointed as an executive Director in November 2006.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES
EERSREBAECER

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. ZHOU Pei Feng, aged 50, is an executive Director. He joined KHL in
1999 and is the general manager of four glass epoxy laminate facilities in
Shenzhen, Fogang, Jiangmen and Jiangyin, the PRC. Mr. Zhou holds a
Bachelor’s Degree in Mechanical Engineering from the Chongaging University
and a Master’s Degree in Material Processing Engineering from Jilin Industrial
University (now known as Jilin University). He was appointed as an executive
Director in November 2006.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. LO Ka Leong, aged 45, is a non-executive Director. Mr. Lo is also a
member of the audit committee of the Company. He holds a Bachelor’s
Degree in Professional Accountancy from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong and is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr. Lo joined KHL in May 1999 and is in charge of KHL's
company secretarial work. Prior to joining KHL, he was an accountant at
an international accounting firm. Mr. Lo was appointed as a non-executive
Director in July 2006.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. LEUNG Tai Chiu, aged 72, joined as an independent non-executive
Director in November 2006. Mr. Leung is also the chairman of the audit
committee of the Company, and a member of the remuneration committee
and nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Leung graduated from The
University of Hong Kong in 1969. He is a member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales. He has broad experience in accounting
and auditing matters, having worked in the auditing profession for over 30
years, 20 years of which he served as a partner. Mr. Leung retired from
PricewaterhouseCoopers in 2005. Mr. Leung was the President of Lions
Club of Victoria in 1986 and 1998 and a director of Yan Oi Tong from 1995
to 1997. He is a member of The Hong Kong Institute of Directors. He is also
an independent non-executive director of the companies listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”),
namely Eva Precision Industrial Holdings Limited and G-Vision International
(Holdings) Limited. He was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of KHL on 1 October 2016.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DI RECTO RS (continued)

Mr. IP Shu Kwan, Stephen, GBS, JP, aged 67, joined as an independent
non-executive Director in May 2011. Mr. Ip is also the chairman of the
remuneration committee of the Company, and a member of the audit
committee and nomination committee of the Company.

Mr. Ip is currently serving as independent non-executive director of five
companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, namely China
Resources Cement Holdings Limited (stock code: 1313) since August 2008,
Lai Sun Development Company Limited (stock code: 488) since December
2009, Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited (stock code: 590) since
October 2011, Nameson Holdings Limited (stock code: 1982) since April
2018 and Million Cities Holdings Limited (stock code: 2892) since June
2018. Mr. Ip also served as independent non-executive director of Synergis
Holdings Limited (stock code: 2340) from September 2008 to December
2017. From November 1973 to July 2007, Mr. Ip held various positions in
The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, such
as Commissioner of Insurance, Commissioner for Labour, Secretary for
Economic Services and Secretary for Financial Services and Secretary for
Economic Development and Labour.

Mr. Ip graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a bachelor’s degree
in social sciences in September 1973, and he subsequently completed
the program for management development at Harvard University Graduate
School of Business Administration in November 1986.

Mr. Ip received the Gold Bauhinia Star award from The Government of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in 2001 and he was appointed as
an unofficial Justice of the Peace in July 2007.

Mr. ZHANG Lu Fu, aged 62, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director in January 2015. Mr. Zhang is also a member of the nomination
committee, audit committee and remuneration committee of the Company.
He has had the experience of working for the Chinese government since
1987 including the Xin Hua News Agency branch in Hong Kong (Liaison
Office of the Central People’s Government in Hong Kong). Since 2000,
Mr. Zhang has worked for a number of Hong Kong listed companies and
charitable organisations on either full-time or part-time basis in the capacity
such as chief representative of Chinese affairs, Chinese affairs consultant,
chief secretary for Chinese affairs and chief executive.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DlRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Zhang has been the director-general of the Friends of Hong Kong
Association and a member of the 4th Shenzhen Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference since 2008; he has been serving as
the council member of the China Overseas Friendship Association since 2013
and the executive director of Guangdong Overseas Friendship Association
since 2015 as well as the council member of the Shenzhen Overseas
Friendship Association since 2017. Mr. Zhang holds a Master degree in
Philosophy from the Beijing Normal University and is a research associate
thereat. In 2011, Mr. Zhang was employed by the Hong Kong Academy of
Management and the Hong Kong Financial Services Institute as a professor
on a part-time basis. He has been appointed as an independent non-
executive director of Sino Biopharmaceutical Limited since April 2015 and CT
Environmental Group Limited since January 2018, both companies listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. LAU Ping Cheung, Kaizer, aged 67, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director in August 2015. Mr. Lau is also the chairman of
the nomination committee of the Company, and a member of the audit
committee and remuneration committee of the Company. He is a chartered
surveyor and has substantial experience and involvements in construction,
real estate and infrastructure projects both in Hong Kong and the Mainland of
China. Currently, Mr. Lau is the Managing director of Biel Asset Management
Co., Ltd and an independent Non — Executive director of MTR Corporation
Limited. He is one of the Founders of Hong Kong Coalition of Professional
Services and has been the Chairman since June 2012. Mr. Lau is also a
member of the Lantau Development Advisory Committee, the Basic Law
Promotion Steering Committee, the Council of the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University, and the Vice — Chairman of the Vetting Committee of the
Professional Services Advancement Support Scheme. He is also a member
of the National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference, and a fellow of The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors. Mr. Lau
is a former president of The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors, a former
chairman of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (HK Branch), and a
former member of the HKSAR Legislative Council. He is also a former non-
executive director of the Urban Renewal Authority, a former member of the
Council of the City University of Hong Kong, a former member of the defunct
Economic Development Commission and the Long Term Housing Strategy
Steering Committee and a former member of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference of Shanghai. Mr. Lau holds a higher Diploma in
Quantity Surveying from the Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University) and a Master degree in Construction
Project Management from The University of Hong Kong.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. CHANG Guo Qiang, aged 51, joined KHL in 2002 and is the general
manager of the glass fabric factories in Qingyuan and Lianzhou, the PRC. Mr.
Chang graduated from Hunan Chang Sha University with a Bachelor’s Degree
in Textiles. Prior to joining KHL, he had over 14 years’ experience in the glass
fabric industry.

Mr. LAM Ting Hin, aged 31, the Company Secretary, joined the Group in
October 2015. Mr. Lam is a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He holds a Bachelor of Business Administration in
Accountancy from City University of Hong Kong. He is responsible for the
company secretarial work and financial management of the group. He has
over 8 years of work experience primarily on accounting, auditing, finance
and financial reporting, including working at professional advisory firms.
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The directors of the Company (“Directors”) are pleased to present their report
and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 42 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018 can
be found in the section headed “Chairman’s Statement” of this annual report,
which forms part of this Directors’ Report.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group is exposed to various risks and uncertainties which are specific to
the Group and/or the industries in which the Group operates. These risks may
materially affect the Group’s business operations, financial condition, results
of operations and business prospects. The Group has identified the key risks
and uncertainties as follows:

Operating at close to full capacity

The Group is operating at close to full capacity in its existing glass epoxy
laminates production plants. Accordingly, the Group’s ability to grow its
business is dependent upon it acquiring additional production capacity
through either the expansion of its existing plants or the building or acquisition
of additional plants. There can be no assurance that the Group will be able
to achieve its planned increases in production capacity in the near future or
at all. Failure to achieve this expansion in production capacity would limit the
Group’s ability to remain competitive and to maximise business opportunities
which may in turn have a material adverse effect on the financial condition,
results of operations and business prospects of the Group.
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BUSl N ESS REV' EW (continued)

Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continued)

Future expansion plans require additional funding and management
resources

The Group’s ability to obtain financing for its expansion plan will depend on
its financial condition, as well as on other factors that may be outside the
control of the Group, such as general market conditions and the political and
economic conditions. No assurance can be given that adequate funds will
be obtainable on acceptable terms, or at all. If capital cannot be obtained,
the Group may be forced to curtail its expansion plans, which could result in
an inability to successfully implement its business strategy and may have a
material adverse effect on the financial condition, results of operations and
business prospects of the Group.

Furthermore, the management may face challenges resulting from the
expansion plan of the Group, including but not limited to, upgrading or
expanding existing facilities and training personnel to manage and operate
those facilities. Such challenges could hinder the Group’s expansion plans
which may in turn have a material adverse effect on the financial condition,
results of operations and business prospects of the Group.

Intense competition in the industry

The business segments in which the Group operates are highly competitive.
No assurance can be given that the Group will be able to compete
successfully against its current competitors or emerging companies in
the future. If the Group fails to compete effectively, the Group’s results of
operations, financial condition and business prospects may be materially and
adversely affected.

Recent global market fluctuations and economic conditions

The recent global market fluctuations and economic conditions have adversely
affected economies and businesses around the world. A slowdown in the
global economy, in particular, the PRC economy, could lead to a reduction in
demand for the Group’s products and may materially and adversely affect its
business operations, financial condition and results of operations.

The risks and uncertainties stated above are not meant to be exhaustive.
There may be other risks or uncertainties that are not known to the Group or
which may not be material now but could turn out to be material in the future.
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BUSI N ESS REVI EW (continued)

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is committed to achieving environmental sustainability. The Group
endeavours to comply with the relevant laws and regulations regarding
environmental protection and adopt effective measures to achieve efficient use
of resources, waste reduction and energy saving. For instance, the in-house
manufacturing facilities of the Group operate in compliance with the relevant
environmental rules and regulations. The Group reviews its environmental
policies on a regular basis.

In accordance with Rule 13.91 and the ESG Reporting Guide contained in
Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules, the Company’s Environmental, Social and
Governance Report will be available on our website within three months from
the publication of this annual report.

Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations

The Group and its business operations are subject to various laws, rules and
regulations. The Company seeks to ensure adherence to such laws, rules
and regulations through various measures such as internal controls, approval
procedures, staff trainings and oversight of business operations at different
levels of the Group. The Board also monitors the Group’s policies and
practices on compliance with relevant laws, rules and regulations on a regular
basis.

So far as the Directors and senior management are aware, for the year
ended 31 December 2018, the Group has obtained the approvals, permits,
consents, licences and registrations required for its business and operations,
and there was no material breach of the relevant laws and regulations by our
Group that has a significant impact on the Group.

Key Relationships with Stakeholders

The Company understands the importance of maintaining a good relationship
with its employees, customers and suppliers in order to operate in a
sustainable manner and to meet its immediate and long-term goals.

The Company strongly believes that employees are its most important
and valuable assets. In order to recognise the performance of and provide
incentives for its employees, the Group reviews its policies on remuneration
and benefits for its employees regularly to ensure that they are in line with
the market standard. To maintain a close relationship with its employees, the
Group organises various activities for its staff to participate.

The Company maintains sound relationships with its customers and suppliers
which enable the Group to foster long term business benefits. The Directors
and senior management of the Company endeavours to exchange business
ideas and updates of the Group with its customers and suppliers from time to
time. To maintain its competitiveness, the Group aims to deliver high quality
products and services to its customers.

During the year, there was no material and significant dispute between the
Group and its employees, customers or suppliers.
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RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018 are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 65.

An interim dividend of HK17.5 cents per share was paid to the Shareholders
during the year. The Directors now recommend the payment of a final
dividend of HK35.0 cents per share to the Shareholders on the register of
members of the Company on 4 June 2019 and the retention of the remaining
profit in the Company.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has a dividend policy, the objective of which is to allow
the Shareholders to participate in the Company’s profits whilst retaining
adequate reserves to sustain the Group’s future growth. The declaration,
form, frequency and amount of dividend paid by the Company must be in
accordance with relevant laws and regulations and subject to the articles of
association of the Company. In deciding whether to declare any dividend,
the Board will take into account a number of factors, including the financial
results, the distributable reserves, the operations and liquidity requirements,
and the current and future development plans of the Company. The Board
will review the dividend policy of the Company as appropriate from time to
time.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements during the year in the issued share capital of the
Company are set out in Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SHARES

During the year, there was no purchase, sale or redemption by the Company
or any of its subsidiaries of the Company’s listed securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
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RESERVES

Details of the movements during the year in the reserves of the Group are set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 69 to 71.

In addition to the retained profits of the Company, the share premium
and special reserve of the Company are also available for distribution to
Shareholders provided that the Company will be able to pay its debts as they
fall due in the ordinary course of business immediately following the date on
which any such distribution is proposed to be paid.

As at 31 December 2018, the sum of the retained profits, the share premium
and the special reserve of the Company amounted to approximately
HK$8,345,097,000 (2017: HK$8,838,932,000).

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to
Shareholders by reason of their holding of Company’s shares.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group’s investment properties were revalued as at 31 December 2018,
resulting in an increase in fair value of HK$91,056,000 (2017: HK$29,505,000)
which has been credited directly to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss.

INVESTMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company has in aggregate
approximately HK$6,427.6 million investments in debt and equity instruments,
representing approximately 22% of the total asset of the Group as at 31
December 2018, which consist of mostly securities listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange and bonds issued by companies also listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange. The Company acquired its investments
through market purchase. The Group will from time to time monitor the price
movement of prices in securities and bonds and may adjust its investment
portfolio as and when appropriate.
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INVESTMENTS (continued) ?ﬁﬁ(%)
The following table sets out the Group’s major investments as at TRBEEAEEN _Z—)\F+_A=+—H
31 December 2018: FERFFIRE
Name of investments i i Fair value as at
31 December 2018
R-Z—-N\F Bond interest
+=-HB=+—H for the year
AFE FREFFE
HK$’000 HK$’000
T FRT
Bond listed on SGX by Country Garden EEEZERARA
Holdings Limited (listed on the stock (R FT £ H%Mkﬁ £ 2007)
exchange with stock code 2007) : WA E 2 &5
[0} fixed coupon interest 4.75% per ) BEEFRATEZEARRE
annum and maturity date on NHRA=—ZE-_=F
28 September 2023 AAZ+NA 820,521 44,831
(il fixed coupon interest 7.125% per (i AEFR7T16EZEEES
annum and maturity date on NHRAE=—ZE-_—F
27 January 2022 —A=-++H 1,234,933 23,218
(i) fixed coupon interest 8% per (i) BEEFR8EZEATERS
annum and maturity date on HHAA=—Z-NF
27 January 2024 —A=-++H 1,204,208 26,069
Bond listed on SGX by Guangzhou R&F BNE NERBER AR (FERH
Properties Co., Ltd. (HK stock code: 2777): R 2777 )RR P L 2 B %
[0} fixed coupon rate of 5.875% [0} EBEFBL875EZEATES -
per annum and maturity date BR-Z =% A58
in February 2023 675,901 45,825
(i fixed coupon rate of 5.75% (i BEEFBE5 5B EAEES
per annum and maturity date R 55
in 2022 211,185 13,455
(i) fixed coupon rate of 7% per (i AEFRTEZEEES
annum and maturity date R ZE = —F 5
in 2021 150,782 7,462
Bond listed on the Stock Exchange by SREEEERERA
KWG Group Holdings Limited (%% fAR5% - 1813)
(HK stock code: 1813): WA BT 2 (R
0) fixed coupon rate of 9.85% per 0 ABEFBO8EZETER
annum and maturity date in 2020 BR-ZZ-TF 5|5 797,706 7,578

5,095,236 168,438
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I NVESTM E NTS (continued)

Save as the investments as set out in the table above, the Group did not hold
any significant investments in the securities of other companies during the
year ended 31 December 2018.

Based on the announcement of Country Garden Holdings Company Limited
(stock code: 2007) (“CGH”) dated 21 September 2016, the senior notes (“CGH
Senior Notes”) were issued by CGH in September 2016, and due in 2023.
The CGH Senior Notes are listed on the SGX and carries an interest of 4.75%
per annum and interests are payable semi-annually. The proceeds from the
CGH Senior Notes was intended to be used for refinancing certain of CGH'’s
existing indebtedness and for its general working capital purposes.

Based on the announcement of CGH dated 19 September 2018, the senior
notes (“CGH January 2022 Senior Notes”) were issued by CGH in September
2018, and due in 2022. The CGH January 2022 Senior Notes are listed
on the SGX and carries an interest of 7.125% per annum and interests are
payable semi-annually. The proceeds from the CGH January 2022 Senior
Notes were intended to be used for refinancing CGH'’s existing offshore
indebtedness.

Based on the announcement of CGH dated 19 September 2018, the senior
notes (“CGH January 2024 Additional Senior Notes”) were issued by CGH in
September 2018, and due in 2024. The CGH January 2024 Additional Senior
Notes are listed on the SGX and carries an interest of 8% per annum and
interests are payable semi-annually. The proceeds from the CGH January
2024 Additional Senior Notes were intended to be used mainly for refinancing
CGH'’s existing offshore indebtedness.

According to the announcement of annual results for the year ended 31
December 2018 of CGH, as at 31 December 2018, its group’s net gearing
ratio was 49.6%, representing a year on year decrease of 7.3 percentage
points.
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I NVESTM E NTS (continued)

Based on the announcements of Guangzhou R&F Properties Co., Ltd. (stock
code: 2777) (“GRFP”) dated 13 November 2017, 12 January 2017 and 18
April 2018: (i) the senior notes (“GRFP 2023 Senior Notes”) were issued by
GRFP in November 2017, and due in February 2023. The GRFP 2023 Senior
Notes are listed on SGX and carries an interest of 5.875% per annum and
interests are payable semi-annually. The proceeds from the GRFP 2023
Senior Notes was intended to be used to refinance debt and for general
corporate purposes of GRFP; and (i) the senior notes (“GRFP 2022 Senior
Notes”) were issued by GRFP in January 2017, and due in 2022. The GRFP
2022 Senior Notes are listed on SGX and carries an interest of 5.75% per
annum and interests are payable semi-annually. The proceeds from the GRFP
2022 Senior Notes was intended to finance GRFP’s overseas projects under
China’s “One Belt One Road” strategy and for general corporate purposes;
and (i) the senior notes due 2021 (“GRFP 2021 Senior Notes”) were issued
by GRFP in April 2018, and due in 2021. The GRFP 2021 Senior Notes is
listed on the SGX and carries an interest of 7% per annum and interests are
payable semi-annually. The proceeds from GRFP 2021 Senior Notes was
intended to finance debt and for general corporate purposes. According to
the announcement of annual result for the year ended 31 December 2018
of GRFP, the net debt to total equity ratio of GRFP increased to 184% at 31
December 2018 from 169.6% at 31 December 2017.

Based on the announcement of KWG dated 15 November 2018, the senior
notes (“KWG 2020 Senior Notes) were issued by KWG in November 2018,
and due in 2020. The KWG 2020 Senior Notes are listed on the Stock
Exchange and carries an interest of 9.85% per annum and interests are
payable semi-annually. The proceeds from the KWG 2020 Senior Notes was
intended to be used for refinancing certain of KWG'’s offshore debt.

According to the announcement of annual result for the year ended 31
December 2018 of KWG, as at 31 December 2018, its group’s net gearing
ratio decreased from approximately 68% that as at 31 December 2017 to
approximately 65%.

For further information of the business and financial performance of the above
companies, please refer to the report and announcements referred in the
above paragraphs for details. Please also refer to the respective publications
of the above companies from time to time for updates on their prospects and
performances. The report and announcements referred above do not form
part of this annual report and do not constitute any publication issued by, or
any opinion, advice or view of, the Company or any of its directors.
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PROPERTIES, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Expenditure of HK$859,077,000 was incurred during the year primarily to
expand the production capacity of the Group. Details of all the changes in
properties, plant and equipment during the year are set out in Note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2018 are
set out in Note 42 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa (Chairman)

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung (Managing Director)
Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping

Mr. Lam Ka Po

Mr. Cheung Ka Ho

Mr. Liu Min

Mr. Zhou Pei Feng

Non-executive Director:
Mr. Lo Ka Leong

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Leung Tai Chiu

Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen

Mr. Zhang Lu Fu

Mr. Lau Ping Cheung, Kaizer

In accordance with Article 130 of the Company’s articles of association, Mr.
Cheung Kwok Keung, Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping and Mr. Lam Ka Po, being
executive Directors, and Mr. Lau Ping Cheung, Kaizer, being an independent
non-executive Director, will retire from directorship by rotation and will offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

Biographical details of the above Directors are set out in the section headed
“Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies” on page 11 to 15.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company has a service contract which is not terminable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES EEZRDERE

As at 31 December 2018, the interests of the Directors (including the NZZE—N\E+—A=+—R0  EF(8FELQ
Managing Director of the Company) and their associates in the shares, AINE RSB ) MBEEZHEARARRIRE
underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its associated B EE(EERBEALBEEMNN([EA KRS
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures &40 ) EEXVER) Z %D ~ MR EEHT - %
Ordinance (“SFO”)), as recorded in the register maintained by the Company EARRDNBIRIEZE SRS EIEIIGEEFEE &
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company AT sk 2 A - HIRIBE ET BT AER#
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities IBEZTHNEETIE MR T REEZ AT

Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, were as follows: 2RI

Long position RE

(a) Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company (“Shares”) (a) AATEREEOIOGE T ZEER (KR
%1

Approximate
percentage of

the issued

Number of share capital

issued shares of the Company

held HARDF]

Name of Director Capacity e 21T EBTRA

EEpE RS R BB ZEBHNBEDL

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa' Beneficial owner/interest of spouse 6,712,000 0.2179%

SREEE S EnlEAATEER

Mr. Cheung Ka Ho Beneficial owner 2,000 0.0001%
RRFHRE BEnEAA

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung Beneficial owner 897,000 0.0291%
SRE8 S A BEREAA

Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping Beneficial owner 1,000,000 0.0325%
SRET S BEREAA

Mr. Lam Ka Po Beneficial owner 1,803,000 0.0585%
MRERE BEnEAA

Mr. Zhang Lu Fu Beneficial owner 10,000 0.0003%
REKRGE BEREAA

Note: Mz -
1 75,000 shares were held by his spouse. 1 75,0008 f& {5 B ELBCAS 5 o

—E— ) \FFRK
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES (coniniesy EEEZBROER @

Long position (continued) RE@®@)
(b) Non-voting deferred shares of HK$1 each of Kingboard (b) AR ERBZ2HBRAREESERER
Laminates Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company ERAFEREEIBETERERIEL
e
Number of non-voting
Name of Director Capacity deferred shares held
o FEmMEE PR ERERETERAEE
(Note)
(Bfi=E)
Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa Beneficial owner 1,058,000
SREIEE S Emfia A
Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung Beneficial owner 529,000
SRER S A Emfia A
Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping Beneficial owner 952,200
SREI A Emfia A
Mr. Lam Ka Po Beneficial owner 581,900
MRE % EmfiaA
Note:  None of the non-voting deferred shares of Kingboard Laminates Limited is Mizt: AEEBERAREEERAERARZ
held by the Group. Such deferred shares carry no rights to receive notice ERERIRTERD - ZFELERMN I E
of or to attend or vote at any general meeting of Kingboard Laminates Bt 5 AT W R E FE B AR A PR A R IR
Limited and have practically no rights to dividends or to participate in any RAGBEEREFERREAG KNG L&
distribution on winding up. FZREF| - VR A UEAR BB R

BRERDIRZ BRET -
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES (coniniesy EEEZBROER @

Long position (continued) REW@)
(c)  Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of Kingboard Holdings () AAABRKERARNEEEEARAA
Limited (“KHL”), the ultimate holding company of the Company (MBEEE])EREEI0ETZEE

3

Approximate
percentage of

the issued
Number of share capital
issued ordinary of KHL
shares held LEHEE
Name of Director Capacity e 21T EBTRA
EEpE RS ZTERROHE ZEBHNBEDL
Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa' Beneficial owner/Interest of spouse 17,623,320 1.6270%
SR EUEE S A EnlEAATEER
Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping? Beneficial owner/Interest of spouse 5,036,383 0.4650%
SR BT 5 2 EnlEAATEER
Mr. Lam Ka Po Beneficial owner 2,991,360 0.2762%
MRERE BEnEAA
Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung Beneficial owner 2,918,122 0.2694%
SRE8 S A BEREAA
Mr. Cheung Ka Ho Beneficial owner 384,000 0.0355%
RRFRE BEREAA
Mr. Liu Min3 Beneficial owner/Interest of spouse 650,300 0.0600%
e[ e EnlEAATEER
Notes: B &

1 74,400 KHL's shares were held by his spouse.

i 74,4002 E R B ) AR BRHA -

2 36,000 KHL’s shares were held by his spouse. 2 36,0008k 12 E S B A () R A BB REA o
3 207,800 KHL's shares were held by his spouse. 3 207,800k BB S B AR 1) (A A BB 45
5o

—E-)\FFR
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES (continued)

Long position (continued)

(d) Ordinary shares (“EEIC Shares”) in the share capital of Elec
& Eltek International Company Limited (“EEIC”), a fellow
subsidiary of the Company

Name of Director

EBHR

Capacity
ERME

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa Beneficial owner

SREIEE S BEREAA
Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping Beneficial owner
SRET S Xt =N
Mr. Lam Ka Po Beneficial owner
MRERE BEnEAA

Other than as disclosed above, none of the Directors (including the Managing
Director of the Company) nor their respective associate, had any interests or
short position in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) as at 31 December 2018.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Other than as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the Company,
its holding companies, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party
to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.
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RE®

(d) FLAFAREMELARANZEEEER
NE(TEEIC) RAEFHEER ([EEIC
B3 1)

Approximate
percentage of

the issued

Number of share capital
issued EEIC of EEIC
Shares held {5EEIC
e 81T BBRITRAE
EEICKR 7 8B ZEBHNBEDL
706,200 0.3778%
520,000 0.2782%
486,600 0.2603%
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SHARE OPTIONS

Particulars of the share option scheme of the Company (including the
exercise price, exercisable period and vesting period) are set out in Note 33
to the consolidated financial statements. There are no options granted or
outstanding during the year ended 31 December 2018.

TRANSACTION, ARRANGEMENT OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this report, no contract of significance, to which the
Company, its holding companies, fellow subsidiaries or subsidiaries was a
party and in which a Director or an entity connected with him had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year.

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Connected Transactions” in this
report and in Note 41 to the consolidated financial statements, no transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance to the business of the Group to which
the Company, its subsidiaries, its substantial Shareholder or any subsidiaries
of its substantial Shareholder was a party subsisted at the end of the year or
at any time during the year.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS FERR

RoF—\FT-A=+—8 REXATR
BH L BEGHIEBOHATEZ EEREERD
Ftass - B EXAHRBE THE(REFAH
ZEFBER) 2 THRREMEER

At 31 December 2018, the register of substantial shareholders maintained
by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO shows that, other than
the interests disclosed above in respect of certain Directors (including the
Managing Director of the Company), the following Shareholders had notified

the Company of their relevant interests in the issued share capital of the
Company.

Long position

Nature of interest

REmtE

Name of shareholder

IRIREHME

Interest of controlled
corporations

SRR

Hallgain Management Limited (@), (b)
(“Hallgain”)

KHL (©
BEERE

Beneficial owner

BEREAA

Interest of controlled
corporations

RS

Jamplan (BVI) Limited (d)
(“*Jamplan”)

Beneficial owner

BEREAA

Interest of controlled
corporations

RS

Capital Research and Management
Company

Investment manager
REKE

L The letter “L” denotes a long position.
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Number of

issued shares held
FriEE 817
R E

2,181,055,000 (L)

76,388,500 (L)

2,104,666,500 (L)

1,790,000,000 (L)

314,666,500 (L)

177,205,851 (1)

() [LIFHRRER -

Approximate
percentage of
the issued
share capital

of the Company
EARRAHE
ERITREZ
BHBE DL

70.79%

2.48%

68.31%

58.10%

10.21%

5.75%
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

Long position (continued)

Notes:

() At 31 December 2018, (i) no shareholder of Hallgain was entitled to exercise, or
control the exercise of, directly or indirectly, one-third or more of the voting power
at general meetings of Hallgain, and Hallgain and its Directors are not accustomed
to act in accordance with any shareholder’s direction; and (i) Messrs. Cheung
Kwok Wa, Cheung Kwok Ping and Lam Ka Po, all of whom are Directors, are also
Directors of Hallgain.

(b) The interests are held by KHL directly and indirectly. KHL is owned as to
approximately 39.02% by Hallgain as at 31 December 2018.

(c) The interests are held by Jamplan directly and indirectly. Jamplan is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of KHL. Mr. Lam Ka Po, being a Director, is also a director of Jamplan.

(d) The interests are indirectly held by Jamplan through its wholly-owned subsidiary,

Kingboard Investments Limited (“KIL”). Messrs. Cheung Kwok Wa and Cheung
Kwok Ping, being Directors, are also directors of KIL.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has adopted the principals of
good corporate governance and complied with the code provisions in the
Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules (the
“Code”) throughout the year ended 31 December 2018, save for the deviation
that the non-executive Director and independent non-executive Directors are
not appointed for specific terms pursuant to paragraph A.4.1 of the Code. For
further information on the Group’s corporate governance practices during the
year, please refer to the Corporate Governance Report in this annual report.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the Group’s largest customer was KHL Group, being
subsidiaries of KHL other than the Company or its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “KHL Group”), and the percentage of sales attributable
to the KHL Group was 10%. The Group’s second largest customer was
Hallgain and its subsidiaries (the “Hallgain Group”), and the percentage of
sales attributable to the Hallgain Group was 3%. The percentage of sales
attributable to the Group’s five largest customers combined was less than
30% of the Group’s total revenue. During the year, the percentage of
purchases attributable to the Group’s largest supplier and the five largest
suppliers combined were 9% and 19%, respectively. The percentage of
purchase attributable to KHL, one of the Group’s five largest supplier was 5%.

At 31 December 2018, KHL, a Shareholder holding more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital and Hallgain, a controlling Shareholder of KHL, had
beneficial interests in one of the Group’s five largest customers and one of the
Group’s five largest suppliers. Save as disclosed in this annual report, none
of the Directors, their associates or any Shareholder (which to the knowledge
of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had an
interest in the major customers or suppliers noted above.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

In 2018, the Group had the following non-exempt continuing connected
transactions (which are also related party transactions) within the meaning of
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules:

(@@ KLHL/Hallgain SFA

On 26 October 2016, the Company and Hallgain entered into a
supply framework agreement (the “KLHL/Hallgain SFA”) pursuant
to which the Group agreed to supply copper and laminates to the
Hallgain Group from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2019. Under
the KLHL/Hallgain SFA, the amount of copper and laminates to be
supplied is not fixed but is to be determined and agreed between the
parties from time to time. The actual quantity, specification and price
(with reference to the prevailing market price) of the products under
the KLHL/Hallgain SFA will be subject to the individual orders placed
by the Hallgain Group with the Group.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(@)

(b)

KLHL/Hallgain SFA (continued)

The transactions contemplated under the KLHL/Hallgain SFA
constituted continuing connected transactions for the Company
pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules on the basis that
Hallgain, through its interests in KHL, is a substantial shareholder of
the Company, and hence a connected person of the Company under
the Listing Rules.

The annual cap and the actual transaction amount of the transactions
contemplated under the KLHL/Hallgain SFA for the year ended 31
December 2018 are set out in the table below. Details of the KLHL/
Hallgain SFA were disclosed in the circular of the Company dated 21
November 2016.

KLHL/Hallgain PFA

On 26 October 2016, the Company and Hallgain entered into a
purchase framework agreement (the “KLHL/Hallgain PFA”) pursuant
to which the Group agreed to purchase materials for production of
laminates such as drill bits and machineries from the Hallgain Group
from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2019. Under the KLHL/
Hallgain PFA, the amount to be purchased is not fixed but is to be
determined and agreed between the parties from time to time. The
actual quantity, specification and price (with reference to the prevailing
market price) of the products under the KLHL/Hallgain PFA will be
subject to the individual orders placed by the Group with the Hallgain
Group.

The transactions contemplated under the KLHL/Hallgain PFA
constituted continuing connected transactions for the Company
pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules on the basis that
Hallgain, through its interests in KHL, is a substantial Shareholder,
and hence a connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules.

The annual cap and the actual transaction amount of the transactions
contemplated under the KLHL/Hallgain PFA for the year ended 31
December 2018 are set out in the table below. Details of the KLHL/
Hallgain PFA were disclosed in the circular of the Company dated 21
November 2016.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued) EQEXE
(c) KLHL/KHL MPA () BEBEER EISENREBEE
ik
On 26 October 2016, the Company and KHL entered into a materials RZE—NRNF+A=Z+,B ' &R

purchase framework agreement (the “KLHL/KHL MPA”) pursuant to
which the Group agreed to purchase chemicals including methanol,
formalin, phenol, acetone, phenol resin and caustic soda “Chemicals”
from the KHL Group from 1 January 2017 to 31 December
2019. Under the KLHL/KHL MPA, the amount of chemicals to be
purchased by the Group are not fixed but are to be determined and
agreed between the parties from time to time. The actual quantity,
specification and the price (with reference to prevailing market price)
of the chemical under the KLHL/KHL MPA will be subject to the
individual orders placed by Group with the KHL Group.

The transactions contemplated under the KLHL/KHL MPA constituted
continuing connected transactions for the Company pursuant to
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules on the basis that KHL is the ultimate
holding company of the Company and that KHL and members of
the KHL Group are accordingly connected persons of the Company
under the Listing Rules.

The annual cap and the actual transaction amount of the transactions
contemplated under the KLHL/KHL MAP for the year ended 31
December 2018 are set out in the table below. Details of the KLHL/
KHL MPA were disclosed in the circular of the Company dated 21
November 2016.
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CON N ECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(d)

KLHL/KHL SSFA

On 26 October 2016, the Company and KHL entered into a supply
and service framework agreement (the “KLHL/KHL SSFA”) pursuant
to which the Group agreed to supply laminates and related upstream
materials and to provide drilling services to the KHL Group from 1
January 2017 to 31 December 2019. Under the KLHL/KHL SSFA, the
amount of laminates and related upstream materials to be sold and
the drilling services to be provided by the Group are not fixed but are
to be determined and agreed between the parties from time to time.
The actual quantity, specification and price (with reference to the
prevailing market price) of laminates and related upstream materials
and the drilling services to be provided under the KLHL/KHL SSFA
will be subject to the individual orders placed by the KHL Group with
the Group.

The transactions contemplated under the KLHL/KHL SSFA
constituted continuing connected transactions for the Company
pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules on the basis that KHL
is the ultimate holding company of the Company and that KHL and
members of the KHL Group are accordingly connected persons of
the Company under the Listing Rules. The annual cap and the actual
transaction amount of the transactions contemplated under the
KLHL/KHL SSFA for the year ended 31 December 2018 are set out in
the table below. Details of the KLHL/KHL SSFA were disclosed in the
circular of the Company dated 21 November 2016.

The independent non-executive Directors had reviewed the
above continuing connected transactions and confirmed that the
transactions have been entered into in the ordinary and usual
course of business of the Group, on normal commercial terms and
in accordance with the terms of the agreements governing such
transactions that are fair and reasonable and in the interest of the
Company and Shareholders as a whole.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The
auditor has issued an unqualified letter containing the auditor’s
findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions for the year ended 31 December 2018 disclosed by the
Group on pages 32 to 37 of the annual report in accordance with
Listing Rule 14A.38. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided
by the Company to the Stock Exchange. The auditor has confirmed
that nothing has come to its attention that causes it to believe that the
continuing connected transactions entered into by the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2018:

(@) have not been approved by the Board;

(b) were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the
pricing policies of the Group;

() were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance
with the relevant agreements governing the transactions; and

(d) have exceeded the cap.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continueq) BBERX S )

The annual caps and actual transaction amounts of the continuing connected TRV EXFPEECEE-Z
transactions disclosed above for the year ended 31 December 2018 are set =+t HILFENEERE

out in the table below. ERZHEH -

—NFE+=A
RHZFEERRK

Amounts Annual caps
£8 FELR
HK$’000

HK$’000
TET FHET

TEERERERER 2EEE
1R K ARBHE SR it )2 E S
HEERER XA LR R

The Group sold laminates and related upstream
materials and provide drilling services to the
KHL Group under the KLHL/KHL SSFA

REEILARTS 2,065,525 2,090,000
The Group purchased chemicals from FEEREEEREER/EEEE
the KHL Group under the KLHL/KHL MPA MR E Rz R R E RS
{tIES 725,796 880,000
The Group sold laminates and copper to REEBHEEEERBR, Halgain
the Hallgain Group under the KLHL/Hallgain SFA HFEAEZE Hpek [ HallgainE B
SHEE MR 2 4 702,935 770,000
The Group purchased drill bits and machineries AEEIREETEER, Halgain
from the Hallgain Group under the KLHL/Hallgain PFA B EIEZ A Hallgaink Bl
PREEIEOA R as 366,706 385,000
The Directors confirm that the Company has complied with the disclosure EERARNEE2 T —N\F+=-_A=+—HL

requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect
of transactions during the year ended 31 December 2018.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the Remuneration
Committee after consultation with the Chairman having regard to the relevant
Director’s experience, responsibility and the time devoted to the business of
the Group.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to
Directors and eligible employees. Details of the share option scheme are set
out in Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.
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EMOLUM ENT POLICY (continued)

The remunerations paid to the senior management (excluding the Directors)
during the year ended 31 December 2018 were within the following bands:

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

7 BN BUR ()

BE-T—N\E+-A=+—BILEE %
TERERE(TREES) 2HHN T UATE
H

Number of senior

management

EREERAY

Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000 7T 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001 722,000,000/ 7T -
HK$2,000,001 or above 2,000,001 73k A £ -
Total: HET 2

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The 2007 share option scheme of the Company (the “2007 Option Scheme”)
was approved by the Shareholders and the shareholders of KHL on 18 May
2007 and 25 June 2007 respectively. The 2007 Share Option Scheme took
effect after obtaining the approval from the Listing Committee of the Stock
Exchange on 6 July 2007. A total of 81,000,000 share options granted under
the 2007 Share Option Scheme were exercised during the year and there
was no outstanding share option under the 2007 Option Scheme as at the
date of this report.

The new share option scheme of the Company (the “2017 KLHL Scheme”)
was approved by the Shareholders and the shareholders of KHL on 29 May
2017 and the 2017 KLHL Scheme took effect upon obtaining approval from
the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange on 2 November 2017. The
2007 Share Option Scheme expired at its end of the term of the scheme
on 5 July 2017 prior to the 2017 KLHL Scheme becoming effective. The
purpose of the 2017 KLHL Scheme to provide incentive or reward to the
eligible participants of the 2017 KLHL Scheme for their contribution to, and
continuing efforts to promote the interests of the Group.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles
of association although there are no restrictions against such rights under
company laws in the Cayman Islands.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company had maintained a sufficient public float throughout the year
ended 31 December 2018.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

According to the articles of association of the Company, every Director,
auditor or other officer of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified
out of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or
sustained by him as a Director, auditor or other officer of the Company in
defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is
given in his favour, or in which he is acquitted.

Appropriate insurance covering for the Directors’ and senior management’s

liabilities arising out of activities of the Group has been arranged by the
Company.

EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreement was entered into by the Group, or existed during
the year ended 31 December 2018.

AUDITOR

A resolution to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the
Company will be proposed for approval by Shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Cheung Kwok Wa
CHAIRMAN

20 March 2019
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EXRERRE

The board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company recognises the
importance of corporate governance practice of a listed company. It is in
the interest of the stakeholders and shareholders for a listed company to
operate in a transparent manner with the adoptions of various self-regulatory
policies, procedures and monitoring mechanisms and a clear definition of
accountability of directors and management.

The Company has adopted the principals of good corporate governance
and complied with the code provisions as set out in the Code throughout
the year ended 31 December 2018, save for the deviation from paragraph
A.4.1 of the Code since the non-executive Director and the independent non-
executive Directors are not appointed for a specific term. Notwithstanding the
aforesaid deviation, all the Directors (including the non-executive Director and
independent non-executive Directors) are subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the Company’s annual general meeting in accordance with
the Company’s articles of association. As such, the Company considers that
steps have been taken with a view to ensure that the Company’s corporate
governance practices are in line with the principles of the Code.

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”).
Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, each Director has confirmed
that he has complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
and the code of conduct regarding Director’s securities transactions adopted
by the Company throughout the year ended 31 December 2018.

A. DIRECTORS

The Board

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Group
and is entrusted with the responsibility to supervise the management
of the business and the affairs of the Group. The Group has adopted
internal guidelines which set forth matters that require the Board’s
approval. Apart from its statutory responsibilities, the Board approves
the Group’s strategic plan, annual budget, key operational initiatives,
major investments and funding decisions. It also reviews the Group’s
financial performance, identifies principal risks of the Group’s business
and ensures implementation of appropriate systems to manage these
risks. Daily business operations and administrative functions of the
Group are delegated to the management.
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A. DlRECTORS (continued) A

The Board (continued)

The Board meets regularly and as warranted by particular
circumstances. Notices and agendas are prepared by the Company
Secretary as delegated by the Chairman of the Board and distributed
to the Board members within reasonable time before the meetings.
Relevant meeting papers are also sent to Directors well before the
meetings, informing them of the background and giving explanations
on matters to be brought before the Board. All Directors are given the
opportunity to include matters in the agendas for Board meetings. To
ensure the Directors make decisions objectively and in the interests of
the Company, the Company’s articles of association provide that any
Director shall abstain from voting on any resolutions in which he/she
or his/her associates is/are materially interested nor be counted in
the quorum of the meeting. Drafts and final versions of the minutes
of Board meetings are sent to all Directors for their comment and
records respectively within a reasonable time after the board meeting
and are kept by the Company Secretary.

During the year under review, the Board had held 4 meetings and the
Directors’ attendance at the Board meetings and Board committees’
meetings were as follows:
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Audit Nomination Remuneration
Committee Committee Committee

Board

Meeting

Y

=

Number of Meeting BREE 4

Executive Directors HIIES

Cheung Kwok Wa (Chairman) REE (L) 4

Cheung Kwok Keung (Managing Director) B3 (% Z484572) 4

Cheung Kwok Ping R B 4

Lam Ka Po HRE 4

Cheung Ka Ho RER 4

Liu Min o 4

Zhou Pei Feng [EE I 4
Non-executive Director FHITEE

Lo Ka Leong #R= 4

Independent non-executive Directors BUHRTEE

Leung Tai Chiu g 4
Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen eipel 4
Zhang Lu Fu KEX 4
Lau Ping Cheung, Kaizer 2= 4

Meeting Meeting Meeting
ERZEES REZEE HMEES
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A.

DIR ECTO RS (continued)

The Board (continued)

The Directors have observed the importance of directing and
supervising the Company’s affair at a more regular interval. After
consulting all Directors, Board meetings have been preliminarily
scheduled to be held at quarterly interval and not less than 4 times in
the coming year.

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in D.3.1
of the Code.

During the year under review, the Board met once to review the
Company’s corporate governance policies and practices, training
and continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Model
Code and the Company’s compliance with the Code and disclosure
in this Corporate Governance Report.

Division and responsibilities

The Board is headed by the Chairman whose role differs from that of
the Managing Director of the Company. The roles of the Chairman
and Managing Director are segregated and are not exercised by the
same individual.

The duties of the Chairman include (but not limited to) the following:

° scheduling meetings that enable the Board to perform
its duties and responsibilities and to ensure all key and
appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a timely
manner without interfering the Company’s operations;

° preparing meeting agendas after consultations with the
Managing Director;

o exercising control over quality, quantity and timeliness of the
flow of information between management and the Board and
to ensure decisions are made on a fully informed basis by the
Directors; and

° assisting in ensuring compliance with the Listing Rules and
the Company’s guidelines on corporate governance.

The Managing Director is mainly responsible for the overall strategic
planning and day-to-day management of the Group.
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A. DIRECTORS (continued) A %% (48)

Division and responsibilities (continued)

The Board currently comprises 12 members, four of whom are
independent non-executive Directors who are expressly identified in
all corporate communications that disclose the names of Directors.
At least one of the independent non-executive Directors possesses
appropriate professional qualifications (or accounting or related
financial management expertise) as required by the Listing Rules. The
composition of the Board as of the report date is as follows:

Executive Directors

Cheung Kwok Wa (Chairman)

Cheung Kwok Keung (Managing Director)
Cheung Kwok Ping

Lam Ka Po

Cheung Ka Ho

Liu Min

Zhou Pei Feng

Non-executive Director
Lo Ka Leong

Independent non-executive Directors
Leung Tai Chiu

Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen

Zhang Lu Fu

Lau Ping Cheung, Kaizer

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa, Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung and Mr. Cheung
Kwok Ping are brothers and are uncles of Mr. Cheung Ka Ho.

Currently, the non-executive Director and the independent non-
executive Directors were not appointed for specific terms but are
subject to retirement by rotation and are eligible for re-election. The
Board considers that although such arrangement deviates from
paragraph A.4.1 of the Code, sufficient measures have been taken to
ensure that the Company’s corporate governance practices are no
less exacting than those in the Code.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence as
required under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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DIR ECTO RS (continued)

Division and responsibilities (continued)

The Board comprises Directors who collectively provide core
competencies, sales and marketing experience and technical
knowledge in laminates and its upstream materials, administration
and management experience in the PRC factories, financial
and accounting skill, as well as in-house advice to comply with
international laws and regulations. The current Board size of twelve
Directors with a balance of skills and experience is appropriate for
effective decision making, taking into account the nature and scope
of the operations of the Company.

Appointment, re-election and removal

The Company’s articles of association set out a formal, considered
and transparent procedure for the appointment of new Directors to
the Board. Any Director appointed by the Board either to fill a casual
vacancy or as addition to the Board shall retire and be eligible for re-
appointment at the next following general meeting after appointment.
At every annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors, including
the Chairman, shall be subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election by Shareholders. The Directors appointed by the Board who
are subject to retirement and re-election as mentioned above shall
be taken into account in calculating the total number of Directors for
the time being but shall not be taken into account in calculating the
number of Directors who are to retire by rotation. All Directors eligible
for re-election shall have their biographical details made available
to the Shareholders to enable them to make an informed decision
on their re-election. Any appointment, resignation, removal or re-
designation of Director shall be timely disclosed to the Shareholders
by announcement and shall include in such announcement, the
reasons given by the Director for his resignation.
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DIR ECTO RS (continued)

Responsibilities of Directors

The Company and the Board require each Director to keep abreast of
his responsibilities as a Director of the Company and of the conduct,
business activities and development of the Company. Every Director
is required to devote sufficient time and involvement in the affairs of
the Board and the material matters of the Company and to serve
the Board with such degree of care and due diligence given his own
expertise, qualification and professionalism.

Every newly appointed Director shall receive a comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment. All
Directors shall be updated and briefed on continuing professional
development as is necessary to ensure that they have a proper
understanding of the operations and the business of the Company
and that they are fully aware of their responsibilities under the
applicable laws and regulations. The Board has a procedure for
Directors, either individually or as a group, in the furtherance of their
duties, to take independent professional advice, if necessary, at
the Company’s expenses to enable and facilitate the Directors to
make well considered decisions. Appropriate insurance coverage
for Directors’ and officers’ liability has been arranged against for any
possibility of legal action to be taken against the Directors and the
management.

Pursuant to A.6.5 of the Code, Directors should participate in
appropriate continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to
the Board remains informed and relevant.

A briefing session was organised for the Directors for the year
under review to update the Directors on the latest Listing Rules and
statutory disclosure obligation for listed companies to disclose inside
information under Part XIVA of the SFO.
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Responsibilities of Directors (continued) BEEER®H)
During the year under review, the Directors also participated in the BIEEEEN - EESHEATE -
following trainings:

Attending or
participating

in the briefing
session/seminars/
programmes
relevant to

the business/
Directors' duties

HERSH
HRAXY EBRK
wENg,
Name of Directors Eie itE
Executive Directors: HITES :
Cheung Kwok Wa (Chairman) REE(EE) N
Cheung Kwok Keung (Managing Director) SRR (EFAUATHE) N
Cheung Kwok Ping SR v
Lam Ka Po MRE V
Cheung Ka Ho RR% V
Liu Min 218 Vv
Zhou Pei Feng JEpages v
Non-executive Director: FHTEE
Lo Ka Leong BR= V
Independent non-executive Directors: BIEHITES :
Leung Tai Chiu Pty Vv
Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen EC9i5p22] v
Zhang Lu Fu REX Vv
Lau Ping Cheung, Kaizer 2ImE V
The Directors confirmed that they have complied with A.6.5 of the BE®R - BESTEEESEIIZSE
Code on Directors’ training. BIZEA6.50% °
Supply of and access to information BERRERER
The management of the Company has an obligation to furnish the ARElBERERRARKRNESSRHE
Board with complete, adequate and appropriate information in T FZAEREERAEENER -
such form and such quality in a timely manner so as to enable them NEESSENNERAERBITIEAE
to make an informed decision and to discharge their duties and EYBBREET - 2EESHIENKR
responsibilities as Directors. All the Directors are given separate and BUEBANRSREEAR

independent access to the Company’s senior management.
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A. DIRECTORS (continued) A %%(ﬁ )

Supply of and access to information (continued)

All the Directors are given separate and independent access to
the Company Secretary, whose role includes ensuring that Board
procedures are observed and followed, and that applicable rules and
regulations are complied with. The Company Secretary attends all the
meetings of the Board and Board committees and is responsible for
drafting minutes and keeping minutes records which can be accessed
by any Director for inspection.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The level and make-up of remuneration and disclosure

The Board has set up a remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) which comprises four independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen (Chairman), Mr. Leung
Tai Chiu, Mr. Zhang Lu Fu and Mr. Lau Ping Cheung, Kaizer, to
formulate policies and procedures for determining the remuneration
of Directors and senior management and other remuneration related
matters. The Remuneration Committee is set up with written terms of
reference which set out clearly its duties and authorities delegated by
the Board, including the following duties:

° formulate the framework or Board policy for determining
the remuneration of the Company’s Board and senior
management. The objective of such policy should ensure
that members of the senior management of the Company are
provided with appropriate incentives to encourage enhanced
performance and are, in a fair and reasonable manner,
rewarded for their individual contributions to the success of
the Company;

o recommend to the Board specific remuneration packages
including, where appropriate, allowances, bonuses, benefits
in kind, incentive payments, and share options, if any, for
each executive Director and the Managing Director and such
other members of senior management as it is designated to
consider;

o recommend targets for any performance-linked pay schemes
operated by the Company, taking into account remuneration
and employment conditions within the industry and in
comparable companies; and

° recommend to the Board the remuneration of non-executive
Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
taking into account factors such as effort, time spent and
responsibilities.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continueq)

The level and make-up of remuneration and disclosure

(continued)

When recommending the remuneration package for each individual
Director, the Remuneration Committee will consider his qualification
and experience, specific duties and responsibilities assigned to him
by the Board and the prevailing market packages available for similar
position. The emoluments of the Directors on a named basis for the
year under review are set out on pages 139 to 142 in note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements. Review and comparison in terms
of Directors’ emoluments package and net profits of the Group are
made from time to time with comparable listed industrial companies
with similar capitalisation to the Group. Considering all such factors,
the Remuneration Committee would make recommendation on the
remuneration package for each Director after consultation with the
Chairman.

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee had
convened two meetings to consider the performance, and the
remuneration policy and packages for all Directors and senior
management.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
Company’s account which gives a true and fair view of the financial
position of the Company. The Company deploys appropriate and
sufficient resources to prepare unaudited half-yearly account and
audited yearly account. Senior management is required to present
and explain the financial reporting and matters that materially affect or
may have material impact on the financial performance and operations
of the Company to the Audit Committee and the Board and respond
to the queries and concerns raised by the Audit Committee and
the Board to their satisfaction. The statement of the auditor of the
Company about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated
financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on
pages 58 to 64 of this annual report.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Risk Management, Internal Control and Responsibility
of the Board

The Board acknowledges its accountability to the risk management
and internal control system and its responsibility to review the
effectiveness of the system. The Board also clarifies that the system
is purported to manage, but not eliminate, the risk of failure to
fulfil business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Management is responsible for setting an appropriate tone from
the top, performing risk assessments, and owning the design,
implementation and maintenance of internal control. Essential to this
risk management and internal control systems are well defined policies
and procedures that are properly documented and communicated to
employees.

The Group has in place a system of internal controls, the key elements
of which are as follows:

. formal policies and procedures are in place, including the
documentation of key processes, procedures and rules
relating to the delegation of authorities. These allow the
monitoring of controls and restrict the unauthorised use of the
Group’s assets;

° experienced and suitably qualified staff take responsibility for
important business functions. Annual appraisal procedures
have been established to maintain standards of performance;

. monthly business and financial reports are prepared, providing
relevant, timely, reliable and up-to-date financial and other
information; budget variances are investigated as appropriate;
and

o an internal audit function, which reports directly to the Audit
Committee, is in place to determine whether the above
procedures are properly carried out.

The Group has established an internal audit department to review
the financial condition, operational condition, risk management,
compliance control and internal control of the Group. For 2018, the
Board has conducted a review on the effectiveness of the above
internal control system of the Group including financial, operational
and compliance controls and risk management and will conduct
such review at least once a year, so as to ensure the Shareholders’
investment and the Company’s assets are properly safeguarded.
The Board is satisfied that, based on the information supplied,
coupled with its own observations and with the assistance of the
Audit Committee, the present internal controls and risk management
processes are satisfactory for the nature and size of the Group’s
operations and business.

C.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Risk Management, Internal Control and Responsibility

of the Board (continued)

In addition to the internal control system, the Board has established
an internal audit team that reports directly to the Audit Committee.
The internal audit team will independently audit various functions,
operations and systems existed in the Company according to their
weight of significance to the Company as well as the priority list
recommended by the Audit Committee. The internal audit team will
prepare an internal audit report highlighting the deficiencies and
weaknesses in existing audit functions, operations and systems for
discussion by the Audit Committee and the Board, and based on
these findings the Board will instruct senior management to take
appropriate corrective and improvement actions.

Audit Committee

The Board has established the Audit Committee with specific written
terms of reference setting out duties, responsibilities and authorities
delegated to them by the Board. The major duties and responsibilities
of the Audit Committee include the followings:

° review with the external auditor, the audit plan;

o review with the external auditor, their evaluation of the system
of internal accounting controls;

° review the scope and results of the internal audit procedures;

° review the statement of financial position and statement of
profit or loss of the Company and the consolidated statement
of financial position and statement of profit or loss of the
Group and submit them to the Board;

° nominate persons as auditor;

° review with the internal and external auditors their findings on
their evaluation of the Company’s system of internal controls
for the purpose of assisting the Board in developing policies
that would enhance the controls and operating systems of the
Company; and

° review connected transactions and examine the adequacy

of internal controls of the Group as part of the standard
procedures.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

The Audit Committee assists the Board to fulfil its oversight role
over the Group’s risk management and internal control function
by reviewing and evaluating the effectiveness of our overall risk
management and internal control system at least annually.

The Group’s risk management and internal control system are
embedded within our business processes so that its functions as
an integral part of the overall operation of the Group. The system
comprises a comprehensive organisation structure with assignment
of definite accountabilities and delegation of corresponding authorities
to each post. Based on our organisation structure, a reporting system
has been developed including reporting channels from division heads
of business units to the Board.

The risk management and internal control systems and accounting
system of the Group are aimed at identifying and evaluating
the Group’s risk and formulate risk mitigation strategies, and to
provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against
unauthorised use or disposition, transactions are executed in
accordance with management’s authorisation, and the accounting
records are reliable for preparing financial information used within the
business for publication, maintaining accountability for assets and
liabilities and ensuring the business operations are in accordance with
relevant legislation, regulations and internal guidelines.

The Group has a defined organisational structure with clear
defined lines of responsibility and authority. Each department is
accountable for its daily operations and is required to report to
executive Directors on a regular basis. Policies and procedures are
set for each department, which include establishing and maintaining
effective policies to enhance risks identifications to which the
Group are exposed and taking appropriate action to manage such
risks, establishing a structure with defined authorities and proper
segregation of duties; monitoring the strategic plan and performance;
designing an effective accounting and information system; controlling
price sensitive information; and ensuring swift actions and timely
communication with our stakeholders.

Procedures and Controls over Handling and Dissemination of
Inside Information

With respect to the procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information, the Group has internal policy
and procedures which strictly prohibit unauthorised use of inside
information and has communicated to all staff; the Board is aware
of its obligations to announce any inside information in accordance
with the Listing Rules and conducts the affairs with reference to
the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information” issued by the
Securities and Futures Commission in June 2012. In addition, only
Directors and delegated officers can act as the Group’s spokesperson
and respond to external enquiries about the Group’s affairs.

C.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

The duties of the Audit Committee include reviewing the scope and
results of the audit and its cost effectiveness and the independence
and objectivity of the Company’s auditor, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.
The Audit Committee will review the independence of the Company’s
auditor, the resources and adequacy of the internal audit function, at
least once a year. Where the auditor also supplies non-audit services
to the Company, the Audit Committee will keep the nature and extent
of such services under review, seeking to balance between the
maintenance of objectivity and value for money. During the year under
review, the fees paid/payable to the Company’s auditor in respect of
audit and non-audit services provided by the Company’s auditor to
the Group were as follows:
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EREES(H)
ERZEECRERERIZBZE
B ERARKAME - ARAREIZ
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EEDRAERMELHER - HWEZH
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EE - BHRERFEEM KA Z
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B A SR B ER 2 R B K FERR RIS T
BN/ ENARBREM 2 ERMT

Amount (HK$)
SE(BT)

Nature of services R MHE

Audit services ZH AR
Non-audit services L ERTE

() Tax services 0] B ARTS
(i) Other services (i) o AR 75

The Audit Committee has undertaken a review of all the non-
audit services provided by the Company’s auditor and concluded
that in its opinion such services did not affect the independence
of the auditor. The Board has appointed an accountant to be
responsible for the accounting and financial matters of the Group
and the Audit Committee has free access to the accountant and
senior management of the Group and to any financial and relevant
information which enable them to discharge their audit committee
function effectively and efficiently. Besides internal assistance being
available, the Audit Committee may request for assistance and
advice from external auditors as and when they think necessary
at the expenses of the Company. The Audit Committee shall meet
with external auditor without the presence of executive Directors to
discuss the Group’s financial reporting and any major and financial
matters arising during the year under review at least once a year.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)
In addition, the Audit Committee is authorised:

. to investigate any matter within its written terms of reference;
o to have full access to and co-operation by the management;
° to have full discretion to invite any Director or executive officer

to attend its meetings; and

° to have reasonable resources to enable it to discharge its
functions properly.

The Board will ensure that the members of the Audit Committee
are appropriately qualified to discharge their responsibilities and at
least one member has accounting and related financial management
expertise or experience. The Audit Committee comprises four
independent non-executive Directors and one non-executive Director,
namely Mr. Leung Tai Chiu (Chairman), Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen,
Mr. Zhang Lu Fu, Mr. Lau Ping Cheung, Kaizer and Mr. Lo Ka Leong.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee had performed the
following works:

° review of the scope of audit work;

° review and discussion of the annual financial results and
report in respect of the year ended 31 December 2017 and
interim financial results and report for the six months ended
30 June 2018 and discussion with the management of the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group;

o discussion and recommendation of the re-appointment of the
external auditors; and

. review of the internal control, financial reporting and risk
management systems of the Group.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee had convened
three meetings.

C.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

Management function

The Company’s articles of association set out matters which are
specifically reserved to the Board for its decision. Executive Directors
normally meet on an informal basis every two weeks and participate
in senior management meetings on a regular basis to keep abreast of
the latest operations and performance of the Group and to monitor
and ensure the management carry out the directions and strategies
set by the Board correctly and appropriately. Clear instructions are
given to the management as to the matters which should bring to the
attention and be determined by the Board on behalf of the Company.

Board committees

The Board has set up three Board committees, namely Audit
Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee,
each chaired by different independent non-executive Director, to assist
the Board in discharging functions specific to each committee. Each
Board committee has its own written terms of reference setting out
the principles, procedures and arrangements which are substantially
the same as those for the Board.

The Nomination Committee comprises four members who are
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Lau Ping Cheung,
Kaizer (Chairman), Mr. Leung Tai Chiu, Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen and
Mr. Zhang Lu Fu. According to the written terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee, the major responsibilities of the Nomination
Committee include:

o regularly review the structure, size and composition of the
Board and make recommendations to the Board with regard
to any adjustments that are deemed necessary;

° review whether or not an independent non-executive Director
is independent for the purpose of the Listing Rules on annual
basis;

° be responsible for identifying and nominating for the approval

of the Board, candidates to fill board vacancies as and when
they arise; and

° be responsible for re-nomination having regard to the Director’s

contribution and performance, including, if applicable, as an
independent Director.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD (continued)

Board committees (continued)

During the year under review and up to the date of the report, the
Nomination Committee had convened two meetings during which,
among other things, considered the Directors who should retire by
rotation pursuant to the Company’s articles of association and Code.
The Nomination Committee had resolved that Mr. Cheung Kwok
Keung, Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping and Mr. Lam Ka Po, being executive
Directors, and Mr. Lau Ping Cheung, Kaizer, being independent non-
executive Directors, shall be subject to retirement by rotation at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. All the above-
named Directors were nominated by the Nomination Committee to
stand for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company. During the meeting of the Nomination Committee, it
had considered the policy for the nomination of Directors, and the
process and criteria adopted by the Nomination Committee to select
and recommend candidates for directorship. It had also reviewed the
structure, size and composition of the Board to ensure that the Board
has a balance of expertise, skills and experience appropriate to the
requirements of the business of the Company.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy in accordance with
the Code. The policy aims to achieve diversity on the members of the
Board. In designing the Board’s composition, a number of aspects
would be considered, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service.

D.
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COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

The Board endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
Shareholders. All Directors are encouraged to attend the general
meetings to have personal communication with Shareholders. In
annual general meeting, Chairman of the Board and the chairman of
each committee are required to attend and answer questions from
Shareholders in respect of the matters that they are responsible
and accountable for. The external auditor is also required to be
present to assist the Directors in addressing any relevant queries
by Shareholders. The Company has also set up a public relations
website which enables the Shareholders and public to post their
questions, comments and opinions in relation to the Group to the
Board.

The Company’s annual general meeting (“AGM”) and extraordinary
general meeting (“EGM”) provide good opportunities for
Shareholders to air their views and ask Directors and management
questions regarding the Company. All Shareholders receive the
annual report, circulars and notices of AGM and EGM and other
corporate communications in a form chosen by each Shareholder.
The notices are also published on the Company’s website at
www.kblaminates.com. Separate resolutions are required at general
meetings on each distinct issue. A Shareholder is permitted to appoint
any number of proxies to attend and vote in his stead.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolutions
are proposed at Shareholders’ meetings on each substantial issue,
including the election of individual Directors, for Shareholders’
consideration and voting. Besides, pursuant to the Company’s articles
of association, Shareholder(s) holding not less than one-tenth of the
paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings may request the Company to convene an extraordinary
general meeting by sending a written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary. The objects of the meeting must be stated in the
written requisition.

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company for putting
forward any enquiries or proposals to the Board. Contact details are as
follows:

Address: 23/F, Delta House
3 On Yiu Street
Shek Mun, Shatin, N.T.
Hong Kong
Fax: (852) 26910445/26915245
Email: enquiry@Kingboard.com

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholders must deposit and send the
original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry
(as the case may be) to the above address and provide their full
name, contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto.
Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by law.

During the year under review, the Company has not made any
changes to its articles of association.

An up to date version of the articles of association is available on the
Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website. Shareholders
may refer to the Company’s articles of association for further details
of their rights.

All resolutions put forward at Shareholders’ meetings will be voted
by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll voting results will be
posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk)
and the Company (www.kblaminates.com) immediately after the
relevant general meetings.
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Deloitte.

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS
LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Kingboard
Laminates Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 65 to 209 which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2018,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
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Assessment of net realisable values of properties held for development (“PHD”)

THEFRBEY R ([ FRBEYHE]) 19 25 FE

We identified the assessment of net realisable values of
PHD as a key audit matter due to the significance of the
amount and significant judgements involved in estimating
their net realisable value and the future costs to completion
of the PHD.

The carrying value of the Group’s PHD amounted to
HK$2.1 billion as at 31 December 2018. The Group’s
PHD are all situated in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”).

As disclosed in Notes 4 and 26 to the consolidated
financial statements, the net realisable values of the PHD
are determined by reference to the estimated future selling
prices. The future selling prices are estimated by reference
to the recent selling prices of similar properties in the same
project or relevant locations. In addition, the management
estimated the future costs to complete the PHD by
reference to the actual development costs incurred and the
completion status.
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Our procedures in relation to the assessment of net realisable values
of PHD included:

Evaluating the reasonableness of the costs recognised
in PHD, on a sample basis, by obtaining the direct
confirmations from an independent qualified surveyor in
respect of the cost incurred and the completion status;

Assessing the appropriateness of the estimated future selling
prices of the PHD, on a sample basis, by comparing them
to recent transaction prices of similar properties in the same
project or relevant locations, based on our knowledge of the
property markets of the relevant locations; and

Evaluating the reasonableness of the estimated future costs
to completion of the PHD, on a sample basis, based on
the actual development costs incurred and the completion
status of the properties of the Group with the adjustments,
taking into account the current market data and the past
history of the similar projects.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continueq)

Key audit matter

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BREER

Valuation of investment properties

REWFEHILE

We identified the valuation of investment properties as
a key audit matter due to the inherent level of subjective
judgements and complex estimates required in determining
the fair values.

The Group’s investment property portfolio comprises
commercial, residential and industrial properties located
in Hong Kong, the PRC and the United Kingdom, which
was stated at fair value of HK$1.4 billion, accounting
for approximately 5% of the Group’s total assets as at
31 December 2018 with a gain on fair value change of
HK$91.1 million recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss for the year then ended.

As further disclosed in Notes 4 and 14 to the consolidated
financial statements, in estimating the fair value of these
investment properties, the Group engaged a professional
independent valuer (the “Valuer”), to carry out the valuation.
The valuation committee of the Group provided information
to the Valuer and the Valuer established and determined
the appropriate technique and inputs to the valuation
model. The significant unobservable input of the approach
is the price per square metre of comparable properties.
Changes in the comparable properties adopted may result
in a significant increase or decrease in fair value.
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Our procedures in relation to the management’s valuation of
investment properties included:

Evaluating the competence, capability, and objectivity of the
Valuer;

Understanding the key assumptions applied to the valuation
based on available market data and evaluating their
reasonableness; and

Assessing the reasonableness of the key inputs and
information used by the Valuer and the valuation committee
in the valuation model, including adjustment factors for
location and other individual factors such as road frontage,
size of property and facilities, on a sample basis, in order to
assess the appropriateness, completeness and accuracy
of these inputs and comparing the comparable properties
adopted with fair market unit price.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BAZBEMRE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s
report is Chu, Johnny Chun Yin.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

20 March 2019
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
mEBRER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 BEZ =ZT— \GF+-A=+—HILFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F T —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
(RESEVES))
(f&&Euh)
Revenue = ] 5 20,645,776 18,337,952
Cost of sales SHEM A (15,113,926) (12,906,842)
Gross profit EF 5,531,850 5,431,110
Other income, gains and losses HAaU A ~ Y25 R e 7 (1,744) (17,513)
Distribution costs PaKiz DN (409,735) (330,397)
Administrative costs TTERR A (663,750) (577,329)
Gain on disposal of HEAHHEIRE 2 s
available-for-sale investments - 176,046
Gain on fair value changes of BEAVTEFABGE EmTAZ
equity instruments at fair N EZ
value through profit or loss 29,799 -
Gain on disposal of debt HERAFEFAEMEEREZ
instruments at fair value BB IEZ =
through other comprehensive income 1,580 -
Gain on fair value changes of EMERNTEEH 2 WE
investment properties 91,056 29,505
Finance costs BhE AR AN 8 (103,221) (68,843)
Profit before taxation R T A A 4,475,835 4,642,579
Income tax expense FRSTRI X 9 (1,217,844) (870,328)
Profit for the year REEEF 10 3,257,991 3,772,251
Profit for the year attributable to: NS M B 15 58
Owners of the Company NNSIESSUN 3,250,381 3,764,540
Non-controlling interests JEPE R 2 7,610 7,711
3,257,991 3,772,251
Earnings per share FRER 13
- Basic — &R HK$1.05558 70  HK$1.225/ 7T

—E— ) \FFRK



66 KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
REREREMEZERER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 BEZ =ZT— \GF+-A=+—HILFE

2018 2017

—Z-N\F —E—+F

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FHET FHET

Profit for the year ANE R F 3,257,991 3,772,251
Other comprehensive (expense) income AEFEEHM2E(FX)WE

for the year

Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: TEeREF P EEEDHE -

Translation reserve: P 3 RE 4
Exchange differences arising from translation RAmEE2HREEmMEEZ
to presentation currency P 7 =RE (801,663) 1,050,038
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to ERAEWEHIEE B s
profit or loss: EH -
Investment revaluation reserve: WEBMEHE
Fair value loss on debt instruments measured EAVEFAEMEEEE 2
at fair value through other comprehensive BEBIAZ AFEEIE
income (320,740) -
Reclassify to profit or loss upon disposal of HERAFEFTFAEM
debt instruments measured at fair value 2ENE 2 EBIEMm
through other comprehensive income Epibay Bt (1,580) -
Net fair value changes arising from AHEEREZATE
available-for-sale investments 2E)FE - 52,812
Other comprehensive (expense) AFFEEMEE ()R
income for the year (net of tax) (BrFE8) (1,123,983) 1,102,850
Total comprehensive income for the year AEFE AW EETE 2,134,008 4,875,101
Total comprehensive income AFEE2EEEE(FY)
(expense) for the year attributable to: REEE(R R
Owners of the Company VN/NEIESFEDN 2,137,102 4,860,769
Non-controlling interests eI RS (3,094) 14,332

2,134,008 4,875,101
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e PR R

At 31 December 2018 R —ZE—N\F+-A=+—H

2018
—B-N\fF

HK$°000

67

TR

Non-current assets IERBEE
Investment properties LB 14 1,387,842 1,344,937
Properties, plant and equipment ME - R NRE 15 4,818,717 4,830,663
Prepaid lease payments TENTRERIE 16 501,650 426,457
Equity instruments at fair BAFERFABEERZ
value through profit or loss HmT A 17 284,776 -
Equity instruments at fair value through 12 A (EF AE M2 EW 2
other comprehensive income B ITHE 18 8,124 -
Debt instruments at fair value through  RAFEET A B4 2 EUEE 2
other comprehensive income BT A 19 6,134,659 -
Available-for-sale investments Al HERE 20 - 2,506,043
Other non-current assets HibIEmeEEE 21 - 691,213
Deposits paid for acquisition of BEME  BERLEZ
properties, plant and equipment [EENEEA 10,487 137,868
Deferred tax assets EEHEEE 22 3,527 2,882
Goodwill FEES 23 238 238
13,150,020 9,940,301
Current assets MENEE
Inventories PR 24 1,710,503 953,483
Trade and other receivables E 5 R EAMEWRRT K
and prepayments SRS 25 4,244,165 4,775,798
Bills receivables e E I 25 2,944,491 3,150,609
Properties held for development FHFEREME 26 2,134,666 4,030,974
Available-for-sale investments AMEHERE 20 - 778,986
Other current assets Hibme)EE 21 659,429 -
Prepaid lease payments FENEERE 16 10,004 10,291
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries &Y R ZHT B A BIFIE 27 58,158 439,356
Taxation recoverable AT Uk [ FR 18 7,180 7,185
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRNIIRS 28 3,803,125 4,464,240
15,571,721 18,610,922
Current liabilities nBEE
Trade and other payables H 5 R EMEMARR 29 3,195,776 2,732,847
Bills payables JER R 29 248,352 460,016
Deposits received from THEWMEMKETS
pre-sale of residential units - 3,372,565
Contract liabilities AHBE 29 1,049,071 -
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries FER R Z M B A Fl30Ia 27 48,378 46,276
Taxation payable JESIFIIA 409,156 461,639
Bank borrowings RITEE——FRNIHz
— amount due within one year IE 30 1,065,577 402,110
6,016,310 7,475,453
Net current assets mEEEFE 9,555,411 11,135,469
Total assets less current liabilities BELERRDEE 22,705,431 21,075,770

—E— ) \FFRK



68 KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

FEMBMRRR
2018
—E-N\F
HK$°000
FHET
Non-current liabilities FERHEE
Deferred tax liabilities FERIBERE 22 85,506 88,836
Bank borrowings HRITERE - —FRIB
—amount due after one year oIE 30 4,776,923 3,000,000
4,862,429 3,088,836
17,843,002 17,986,934
Capital and reserves A& R b
Share capital [N 31 308,100 308,100
Reserves Ee 17,191,472 17,161,859
Equity attributable to RABFRE ANE GRS
owners of the Company 17,499,572 17,469,959
Non-controlling interests FEIZERR A A 343,430 516,975
Total equity L 17,843,002 17,086,934

The consolidated financial statements on pages 65 to 209 were approved EEERN T -NF=ZA-t+HEBIERERE
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 20 March 2019 and are T E65E 2008 2 ir A Mgz - WA T3

signed on its behalf by: BERKREE
Cheung Kwok Wa Cheung Kwok Keung
REIE REDR
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
BE BE

ANNUAL REPORT 2018
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mERBRBER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—ZE— \F+_A=+—HILFE
Attributable to owners of hv Company
Property Share Non-

Share Share revaluation e options Special  Statutory Goodwil Retained controling Total
captal premium e esenve eS8 ( Tesenve esenve Tesenve profs ~ Sub-fotal Inferests equity

EXeE  ERES e B il i : ‘ .
HKB000  HKSOOO  HKS$'000 $ §0 HKS'000  HK$000 5000 §0 HKS'000  HK$000
TER ThI BT BT TAT o T TERL

Balance at 1 January 2017 RIE-tE-f-Bris 300000 1,007,104 (13,089 7,68 (14878) 93,105 757,689 155,074 28365 11996735 14407318 939759 15,347,132
Proft for the year TEERT - - - - - - - - - 3764540 3764540 T 37150
Exchange diferences arsing RiEEERERmEE,

from trensiafon to EfzE

presentation curency - - 108417 - - - - - - - 1043417 6621 1,050,088
Net chenges arsing fom avalble-for- —~ HHERE 2 EHFE

sale nvestments (Note ¢) (M) - - - - 52812 - - - - - 52812 - 52812
Total comprehensive income TEERANREE

for the year - - 1043417 - 52812 - - - - 3764540 4860769 14382 4875101

Dividends paid to non-controling BRTHARER RS

interests - - - - - - - - - - - (3208) (3208)
Final dividend paid for the yearended ~~ EREZ-3-7%
31 December 2016 Note 12) tZA=T-ALtEEZ
RERE (H:E2) - - - - - - - - - (0098 (369989 - (9%
Interim cividend paic for the yearended  HEZ-F-+&
31 December 2017 Note 12) tZA=1-ALtEREL
RERE () - - - - - - - - - (1004408 (1,004408) - [1004408)
Specil fnal dhvidend paid or BREE-RE
the year ended 31 December tZA=T-RItFREL
2016 Note 12) FRIRERE (Wit12) - - - - - - - - - (U300 (924300 - a0
Issue of new shares fom exercise EEEERERAHR
of share options 8,100 614,745 - - - 93,108) - - - - 520,740 - 529,740
Transfer to resenve BETRE - - - - - - - 1565682 - (156,562 - - -
Acquistion of additional inteests WiEh B AR R
in subsiciares (Note d) (Hiskd) - - - - - - - - 10768 - 10768 (433908 (263,140)
8,100 614,745 - - - 93,105) - 156,562 170768 (2695253 (1,798,183  (437,116) (2235299
Balance at 31 December 2017 i g3
tRz+-Rz88 308100 1,711,849 1030328 7,268 37,934 - 757,689 311,636 199,133 13106022 17,469,959 516975 17,986,934

—E-)\FEFER




70 KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REERBER

Attributable to owners of the Company
AAIREARGRR
Property  Investment Non-
Share Share Translation revaluation ~revaluation Special  Statutory  Goodwill  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits  Sub-total interests equity

g R
& ROEE EXGGE  ERRE  EfRE  GORE  ERRE  BERRE  REEA Nt OFBREE  AAEE
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TER TR TiEx TR T TEn TER TER TER TR TR TiEn
(Note32)  (Notea)  (Noteh)
((3527) (Hzta) (Hzkb)

Balance at 1 January 2018 RZE-\F-A-AzER 308,100 1,711,849 1,030,328 7,268 37,934 757,689 311,636 199,133 13,106,022 17,469,959 516975 17,986,034
Adustments due to adopting new RivERET 2R
standards (see note 2) (Bitz2) - - - - (8,241) - - - 8,241 - - -

Belance at 1 January 2018 Restated) ~ #N=F-\E-F-Az

8(Esi) 308,100 1,711,849 1,030,328 7,268 29,693 757,689 311,636 199,133 13,114,263 17,469,959 516975 17,986,034
Profi for the year REREA - - - - - - - - 3250381 3,250,381 7610 3,257,901
Exchange differences arising from RirE22Rg8mEEL
translation to presentation currency EXEE - - (190959) - - - - - - (190959)  (10,704)  (801,663)
Fair value loss on debt instruments BAFEAL AN
measured at fair value through EEIEZATEEE
other comprehensive income: - - - - (320,740) - - - - (320,740 - (320,740)

Reclassify to profit orloss upon disposal  FiE ERATEE A KA
of debtinstuments at value through 2 AW 7 BHTAT
other comprehensive income EFNBERE - - - - (1880 - - = - (1580 - (1580)

Total comprehensive (expense) income  AEEZE (B %)Mz

for the year &8 = - (790,959) - (3223%0) - - - 3250381 2,137,102 (3,004) 2,134,008
Dividends peid to non-controling interests 2 i 5 2 8. - - - - - - - - = = (4,356 (4,35)
Final cvidend paid for the yearended ~~ ERfEZ-E—+5

31 December 2017 (Note 12) ToB=t-AILEEZ

FERS(H12) - - - - - - - - (1,620,606) (1,620,606) - (1,620,606)
Interim dividend paid for the year ended 2 & Z-Z—-/\E
31 December 2018 (Note 12) TR T-HILEEZ
bk - - - - - - = - (%175 (539,179) - (%17
Transfer to resenve i - - - - - - 16228 - (162,289) = o o
Acquistion of addtonal interests WENBRABINER
in subsiciaries (Note d) (Hfza) - - - - - - - 5% - 52202 (166,005  (113,803)

- o = - - - 162285 52202 (2022066) (2107489)  (70451) (227,040

Balance at 31 December 2018 RZ5-/\ET2A
=t-Bris 308,100 1,711,849 239,369 7268 (202627) 757,689 473,921 251,425 14,042,578 17,499,572 343,430 17,843,002
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Notes:

(@) Statutory reserve comprises statutory fund, which is non-distributable, and
represents capitalisation of retained profits of certain subsidiaries established in the
People's Republic of China (the "PRC") for capital re-investment in these subsidiaries
and funds shall be used to (i) make up prior year losses or (i) expand production
operations.

(b) Goodwill reserve represents the effect of changes in ownership in certain subsidiaries
when there is no change in control.

() During the years ended 31 December 2017, net changes arising from available-for-
sale investments consist of adjustments for gain on fair value change amounting to
HK$228,858,000 and gain on disposal of HK$176,046,000.

(d) During the years ended 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, the Group

acquired additional interests in non-wholly owned subsidiaries from non-controlling
shareholders. As a result of the acquisition, the difference of HK$52,292,000
(2017: HK$170,768,000) between the consideration paid HK$113,803,000
(2017: HK$263,140,000) and the amount of non-controlling interests acquired of
HK$166,095,000 (2017: HK$433,908,000) was directly recognised as equity in the
goodwill reserve.

"

EERBRETADIRETES - HETRH
FARLMBE ([ E DRIZAMTE R B RE
MERNMEBREABRE  B2ERARNUATA
& ()R AR R R ) E R EEE -

AEREEENREREZBERTATHELR
PRt 2% -

HE-_ZT—+F+-_A=Z+—HLEE 7

%5 39 # 228,858,000 7% 7L LA M i & BT 15 W =
176,046,000/ 7T

REE-_ZT—N\F+-_A=+t—BE=-_ZF—+t
FE+ZA=+—BUEFERN  AEERIFZR
BRIEBIEZEW BB 2 FEIMESS - ZIKE
E4XHENHRE113803,00F T (—F—+
F 1 263,140,000 ) EE W EIEE R EE S
£6166,095,00078 7T ( —Z —+4F : 433,908,000
FEIL) 2 EEE52,292,0008 L (T —t4F ¢
170,768,000/870) B BN EHERER A
%o

—T)\FFR



72 KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 BEZ =ZT— \GF+-A=+—HILFE

2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+F

HK$’000

TR

HK$'000
FAT
(RESEIEE))
€ <E=319)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES ReEZK
Profit before taxation EREE AT A 4,475,835 4,642,579
Adjustments for: SEUATIE B (EH F% -
Depreciation of properties, plant and equipment ME - MENZEZITE 590,300 568,220
Release of prepaid lease payments AR EFERE D 10,916 9,312
Interest expenses FMEMX 103,221 68,843
Interest income on bank balances and deposits IRITHERR RIES Z T BURA (21,744) (22,579)
Impairment loss recognised on trade receivables  FLE 5 fE U BR R FER 2 F(E E518 51,683 81,211
Write-down of inventories MEEs 16,685 6,259
Loss on disposal and written off of properties, HERMEDE  BEMEREZ
plant and equipment 518 31,304 38,911
Gain on fair value changes of investment REMENFERE 2 W2
properties (91,056) (29,505)
Gain on fair value changes of equity RN EGFABRZERTAE
instruments at fair value through profit or loss N EZE W (29,799) -
Gain on disposal of debt instruments at fair HERAFEFAEMEERE 2
value through other comprehensive income B TAZ W (1,580) -
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale investments & A HE1E ~ zs - (176,046)
Operating cash flows before movements KRt EELEER 2
in working capital LR enE 5,135,765 5,187,205
Increase in inventories FEEM (812,121) (161,213)
Decrease (increase) in trade and B 5 N H th FEU AR R TR /I8
other receivables and prepayments R (3 h0) 44,197 (398,569)
Decrease (increase) in bills receivables FEURZZ I A (38 0) 79,180 (449,616)
Decrease in properties held for development FEEMERD 1,846,167 575,021
Decrease in amounts due from fellow subsidiaries Y[R Z i B A 7l Z T8R4 398,900 32,628
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 N H th FE T RRFIE A0 282,795 102,623
(Decrease) increase in bills payables FERTZ=IE O ) 1En (126,363) 303,497
Decrease in contract liabilities ABHEaERD (2,518,708) -
Decrease in deposits received from TEEMEML TR
pre-sale of residential units - (1,222,661)
Increase in amounts due to fellow subsidiaries FETR) 2P B A R FRIEIE AN 3,966 1,369
Cash generated from operations B IRATRIR G 4,333,778 3,970,284
Other Income Tax paid EEHEMATEH (761,430) (715,981)
PRC Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT”) paid BB B ER ([ L HEER ) (42,862) (33,370)
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid B AERIEH (1,358) (14,472)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES REEBHERESTRE 3,528,128 3,206,461
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

73

GARSRBR
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FH&T FAxT
(RESEVE))
(g )
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BREXEK
Proceeds from disposal of equity instruments HERAFEFABRZ
at fair value through profit or loss = TAMSEIR 1,122,142 -
Proceeds from disposal or on maturity HERAFEFARMEmKE 2
of debt instruments at fair value through EBITA(KEE)SHE
other comprehensive income 899,249 -
Interest received 2HFIE 184,656 22,579
Proceeds from disposal of properties, HEWE - BE MR EBEHRIE
plant and equipment 37,164 7,891
Purchase of debt instruments at fair value BERATESFAREMEZEREZ
through other comprehensive income (= =t (4,229,234) -
Purchase of equity instruments at fair value BERATETAEBSZ#ERTA
through profit or loss (1,152,239) -
Purchase of properties, plant and equipment BEYE  BEMK (875,745) (820,929)
Purchase of prepaid lease payments BEBNEERE (101,067) (29,925)
Deposits paid for acquisition of properties, BB~ BB R @A
plant and equipment ZE® (10,487) (137,868)
Purchase of available-for-sale investments BEAHHERE = (3,030,191)
Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale HER 4 HEREFREIRIE
investments = 2,264,088
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEKFARLSEE (4,125,561) (1,724,355)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES REEE
New bank borrowings raised FILRITEE 4,500,000 6,039,610
Dividends paid on ordinary shares BT mR AR E (2,159,781) (2,498,691)
Repayment of bank borrowings EERRITEE (2,059,610) (5,405,270)
Interest paid 2RFLE (117,893) (79,421)
Consideration paid for acquisitions of U BB A B REME RS AT S 2
additional interests in subsidiaries KRB (113,803) (263,140)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests EEERER ZIRE (4,356) (3,208)
Proceeds from exercise of share options 1T BB RS A - 529,740
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) FINANCING BEEBFE (A BSFE
ACTIVITIES 44,557 (1,680,380)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH ReRRLEEBERRDBEE
EQUIVALENTS (552,876) (198,274)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FzEEREELEEER
THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 4,464,240 4,518,270
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE Ex@EHTE
RATE CHANGES (108,239) 144,244
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FRzESRBESLEHEHER -
THE END OF THE YEAR, REPRESENTING BRITHBRES
BANK BALANCES AND CASH 3,803,125 4,464,240
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KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—ZE— \F+_A=+—HILFE

1.

GENERAL

Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated and registered as an exempted company with limited
liability in the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on the main
board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). Its immediate parent company is Jamplan (BVI) Ltd.,
a limited liability company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
and in the opinion of the directors of the Company (the “Directors”),
its ultimate holding company is Kingboard Holdings Limited (“KHL”),
previously known as Kingboard Chemical Holdings Limited, an
exempted limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands
with its shares also listed on the Mainboard of the Stock Exchange.
The addresses of the registered office and principal place of business
of the Company are disclosed in the section headed “Corporate
Information” of the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company and the principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 42.

The functional currency of the Company is Renminbi (“RMB”) while
the consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$"), which the Directors considered is more relevant for
the users of the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRARMEE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to the “Group”)
has applied the following new and amendments to HKFRSs issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
for the first time in the current year:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers and the related
Amendments

HK(FRIC) — Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration
Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of
Share-based Payment Transactions
Amendments to HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 “Financial
Instruments” with HKFRS 4

“Insurance Contracts”

Amendments to HKAS 28 As part of the Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle

Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group’s financial performance and positions for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

2.1

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with

Customers”
The Group has applied HKFRS 15 for the first time in the
current year. HKFRS 15 superseded HKAS 18 “Revenue”,
HKAS 11 “Construction Contracts” and the related
interpretations.

The Group has applied HKFRS 15 retrospectively with the
cumulative effect of initially applying this standard recognised
at the date of initial application, 1 January 2018. Any
difference at the date of initial application is recognised in
the opening retained profits and comparative information
has not been restated. Furthermore, in accordance with the
transition provisions in HKFRS 15, the Group has elected
to apply the standard retrospectively only to contracts
that are not completed at 1 January 2018. Accordingly,
certain comparative information may not be comparable
as comparative information was prepared under HKAS 18
Revenue and HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and the
related interpretations

The Group recognises revenue from the following major
sources which arise from contracts with customers:

o sales of glass epoxy laminates
o sales of paper laminates

. sales of upstream materials

o sales of properties

Information about the Group’s performance obligations and
the accounting policies resulting from application of HKFRS
15 are disclosed in notes 5 and 3 respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. FEF¥TiE K 4
H

ey
=
J:\_Ilﬁ'
i1, TNZ
o IH

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 7B B 7% R 3R 2E A (T

STAN DARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued) /\Zl-g% $ ﬁziﬁ—/\u J (?E)

21 HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with 21 BEUBR|MERE155
Customers” (continued) [BEFEHWE(E)
Summary of effects arising from initial application of NBERE B ERREDSE
HKFRS 15 15 FEEN S ENE
The following adjustments were made to the amounts R-E—)/\F— A —HYGEH
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position AR RR N FERA S REEL A
at 1 January 2018. Line items that were not affected by the THRZ  TRERZEBFEN
changes have not been included. HH -

Impacts on assets (liabilities) as at 1 January 2018 R-ZEB-N\NF—-A—BHEE
(BBHEE
Carrying Carrying
amounts amounts
previously under
reported at Impacts of HKFRS 15 at
31 December adopting 1 January
2017 HKFRS 15 2018
BAER
—T-N\F
BAER —H—H
—T—+F RERBITG
TR  FREBNG R ¥R
=+—H FRER/ER F15ETE
EWMREE F155RAFE ZIREE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET FAT
Trade and other payables ~ Z 5 Nk E M EN IR (@) (2,732,847) 153,634 (2,579,213)
Deposits received from TEEMEMIK
pre-sale of residential units &% (a) (3,372,565) 3,372,565 -
Contract liabilities aRBE @) - (3,595,883) (3,595,883)
Properties held for FERME
development (b) 4,030,974 69,684 4,100,658

—E-)\FFH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

2.1 HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with

Customers” (continued)
Impacts on assets (liabilities) as at 1 January 2018

(continued)
Notes:
(@) As at 1 January 2018, advances from customers of approximately

HK$3,526,199,000 in respect of sales contracts signed with
customers previously included in deposits received from pre-sale
of residential unit and trade and other payables were reclassified
to contract liabilities.

(b) At the date of initial application of HKFRS 15, interest expenses
of HK$69,684,000 relating to the significant financing component
has been adjusted to the contract liabilities and capitalised in
the properties held for development, due to the effects of the
time value of money of the deposits received from pre-sale of
residential units, which provides the Group with a significant
benefit of financing the properties under development. These
benefits implicitly exist in the contracts.

The application of HKFRS 15 has had no material impact on
the Group’s retained profits as at 1 January 2018.

The following tables summarise the impacts of applying
HKFRS 15 on the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2018, consolidated statement
of profit or loss and its consolidated statement of cash flows
for each of the line items affected. Line items that were not
affected by the changes have not been included.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MSRERMEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. FERAHFRRKBEIIZF
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING & B S $&if% Bl ([ &8
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued) MERHRER ) =)

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with

Customers” (continued)

Impacts on the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2018 and consolidated
statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31

ERAMEBRBERFE155
[ZEEEHWE(E®)

Y2 \E+-A=+—-80&K
SHBRRARRBE-S—N\F
+=A=+—BLFENGSE

21

December 2018 mRNTE

Amounts

without

application of

As reported Adjustments HKFRS 15

IWEER

BEGE

FR 3R 2E A

RER HE F155HNEE

HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000

FHET FTHET THET
Revenue S (@) (20,645,776) 69,684  (20,576,092)
Cost of sales HEMA (@) 15,113,926 (69,684) 15,044,242
Trade and other payables &5 &M E M EN IR (b) (3,195,776) (107,274) (3,303,050)

Deposits received from TEEMEMIK

pre-sale of residential units 5% (o) - (939,356) (939,356)
Contract liabilities aHatE (@) (1,049,071) 1,049,071 -

Notes: fiaT -

(@) This relates to interest capitalised upon application of HKFRS (a) WIEEEBERESES
15, due to the effects of the time value of money of the deposits AR F 155514 B R LT
received from pre-sale of residential units. B BAZEEMEMKET

THRREEBEMZE
(b) This relates to the reclassification of advances from customers (b) HIEEBEBETEKEFE#T

from deposits received from pre-sale of residential unit and trade
and other payables to contract liabilities.

HEENEMKTERES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME
2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. FERAHEEREITTZ2E
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING AR RED([FE
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued) /\Zl-i%EFl ﬁziﬁ—z\uj (8&)
21 HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with 21 EBUBEPARERE155H
Customers” (continued) [BEEEHWE (8
Impacts on the consolidated statement of cash flows HBZ-_E—-NFE+=-A=+—
for the year ended 31 December 2018 BEFENGFERESRERNEY

-

Amounts

without

application of

As reported Adjustments HKFRS 15

3 4% FE A
ERME
FRERZEA
BRE® FAE FE15HEMNEE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHExT FHExT
Operating activities RS
Decrease in deposits received TEEMEMEET®
from pre-sale of residential units ~ J& 4> - (2,402,664) (2,402,664)
Decrease in contract liabilities AHEERD (2,518,708) 2,518,708 =
Increase in trade and other Z 5 R HMPER IR
payables A0 282,795 (46,360) 236,435
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

2.2

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” and the related

amendments

In the current year, the Group has applied HKFRS 9 “Financial
Instruments” and the related consequential amendments
to other HKFRSs. HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements
for 1) the classification and measurement of financial assets
and financial liabilities, 2) expected credit losses (“ECL”) for
financial assets and 3) general hedge accounting.

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 in accordance with the
transition provisions set out in HKFRS 9, i.e. applied the
classification and measurement requirements (including
impairment under ECL model) retrospectively to instruments
that have not been derecognised as at 1 January 2018 (date
of initial application) and has not applied the requirements
to instruments that have already been derecognised as at 1
January 2018. The difference between carrying amounts as at
31 December 2017 and the carrying amounts as at 1 January
2018 are recognised in the opening retained profits and
other components of equity, without restating comparative
information.

Accordingly, certain comparative information may not be
comparable as comparative information was prepared
under HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement.

Accounting policies resulting from application of HKFRS 9 are
disclosed in note 3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

1
i
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. FEH
H

i IN
o T

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 7B B 7% R g 2E A ([

STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued) /\Zl-g%EFl $ﬁ2§ﬁ_,\| J (%8)

2.2 HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” and the related 22 EFABUKHBBRERAFINR
amendments (continued) [T A |[REREER (&)
Summary of effects arising from initial application of NRERE BV KR RENE
HKFRS 9 BATEENTENE
The table below illustrates the effect arising from application TRHFEPREBREREH-Z
of HKFRS 9 at the date of initial application, 1 January 2018. —N\F—A—AEBHBERERE
Line items or reserves that were not affected have not been BSOS Z - WEET KT
included. FEMIER Ki#E -

Equity
instruments
at FVTPL*
required by Equity Debt  Investment
AFS HKAS39/ instruments instruments  revaluation Retained
investments* HKFRS 9 atFVTOCI*  at FVTOCI* reserve profits
EAaiEa
0% /B
g Gk
FORER BRAYE BAYE
BAYE HAHMEE FAHERE
FTAREZ (V6] Wiz REE(
AHLERE BHIE*  EHIR*  BRIA it REREA

Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i TiEn TiEn FiEn Ti#n Ti#n Ti#n
Closing balance at RZE—+51+2A
31 December 2017 ST-RZERER
- HKAS 39 —BASHEREI0H 3,285,029 - - - 37,934 18,106,022

Effect arising from initial 1S EEEAB KSR
anplcalon of KFAS 9 g8 z0te 7 W 3209 223300 8124 3083606 8241) 8241

Opening balance at R=Z-\$-A-R

1 January 2018 2EES
(Restated) (&) - 223,300 8,124 3,058,605 29693 13,114,268
As defined below. * EFERLTX e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

2.2

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” and the related
amendments (continued)

Summary of effects arising from initial application of
HKFRS 9 (continued)

(@

Available-for-sale ("AFS”) investments
Reclassification from AFS investments to equity
instruments at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)

At the date of initial application of HKFRS 9, the
Group’s equity investments of HK$223,300,000
were reclassified from AFS investments to equity
instruments at FVTPL. The fair value gains of
HK$8,24 1,000 relating to those investments previously
carried at fair value were transferred from investment
revaluation reserve to retained profits.

Reclassification from AFS investments to equity
instruments at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVTOCI”)

The Group elected to present in other comprehensive
income (“OCI”) for the fair value changes of all its
unquoted equity investments previously classified as
AFS investments and which was measured at cost
less impairment under HKAS 39. These investments
are not held for trading and not expected to be sold in
the foreseeable future. At the date of initial application
of HKFRS 9, HK$8,124,000 were reclassified from
AFS investments to equity instruments at FVTOCI.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

2.2

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” and the related

amendments (continued)
Summary of effects arising from initial application of
HKFRS 9 (continued)

(@

(b)

Available-for-sale (“AFS”) investments (continued)
Reclassification from AFS investments to debt
instruments at FV/TOC/

Listed bonds with a fair value of HK$3,053,605,000,
were reclassified from AFS investments to debt
instruments at FVTOCI, as these investments are held
within a business model whose objective is achieved
by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling
of these assets and the contractual cash flows of
these investments are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
Related fair value gains of HK$29,693,000 continued
to accumulate in the investment revaluation reserve as
at 1 January 2018.

Impairment under ECL model

In relation to the impairment of financial assets,
HKFRS 9 requires an expected credit loss model, as
opposed to an incurred credit loss model under HKAS
39. The expected credit loss model requires an entity
to account for expected credit losses and changes in
those expected credit losses at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.
In other words, it is no longer necessary for a credit
event to have occurred before credit losses are
recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

2.2 HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” and the related

amendments (continued)
Summary of effects arising from initial application of
HKFRS 9 (continued)

(b)

Impairment under ECL model (continued)

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach
to measure ECL which uses a lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. To measure the ECL, trade receivables
that are within the scope of HKFRS 15 have been
assessed individually and/or grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics.

ECL for other financial assets at amortised cost
mainly comprise of other receivables, bills receivables,
amounts due from fellow subsidiaries and bank
balances are assessed on 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”)
basis and there had been no significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition.

All of the Group’s debt instruments at FVTOCI are
listed bonds that are graded in the high credit rating
among rating agencies. Therefore, these investments
are considered to be low credit risk investments and
the loss allowance is assessed on 12m ECL basis.

The Directors considered the additional ECL allowance
as at 1 January 2018 measured under ECL model is
insignificant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RENBHmRME
2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. FERAHERKZEITZE
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING B ERERER([FE
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued) ,H\ 7-],% EF' ﬁﬁ,\'u (8&)
2.3 Impacts on opening consolidated statement of 23 HHAFMEBEFHITEREHL
financial position arising from the application of FERBERRR 2 E
all new standards
As a result of the changes in the Group’s accounting policies A AR E B e E TR 2 &8 -
above, the opening consolidated statement of financial G A BRAKREBETFTANE
position had to be restated. The following table summarises Hl) o TNERBE S FRRE MM H TE B 1
the adjustments recognised for the relevant individual line ROECEHERAE  TRIERTE
item. Line items that were not affected by the changes have HERIER o

not been included.

31 December 1 January
2017 HKFRS 15 HKFRS 9 2018
—E—tf EHAHK BB

+=A FRER HEER - N\F
=t+—H 5155 gk —A—H
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TRz T Tz THT

Non-current and current assets JEFRBRFBHEE

AFS investments AN ERE 3,285,029 - (3,285,029) -
Equity instruments at FVTPL BRATEFABRN
ERIA - - 223,300 223,300
Debt instruments at FVTOCI BRATER AR
PEMENEBIA - - 3,053,605 3,053,605
Properties held for development FEREWE 4,030,974 69,684 - 4,100,658
Equity instruments at FVTOCI BRATERAEM
PERENERTA - - 8,124 8,124
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and other payables B 5 RAMERNER 2,732,847 (153,634) - 2,579,213
Deposits received from BEMEMIETS
pre-sale of residential units 3,372,565 (3,372,565) - -
Contract liabilties anas - 3,595,883 - 3,595,883
Note:  For the purpose of reporting cash flows from operating activities Mizr: SXEAKBEHBRZIEDHY
under indirect method for the year ended 31 December 2018, BIEBEASZEBEYBRE
movements in working capital affected by the changes in the MR =—F—-NF—-—A—HBZ
Group’s accounting policies have been computed based on VR e MR R HE
opening consolidated statement of financial position as at 1 EREREBEE-_T—N\F
January 2018 as disclosed above. F+TZA=+—RLEFELE
EE 2 IR @ i e (VAR B AR
B2 -

ANNUAL REPORT 2018



EEHEEREZERABRLDE

pull

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

2.

PR aR M

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments
to HKFRSs and an interpretation that have been issued but are not

yet effective:

HKFRS 16

HKFRS 17

HK(FRIC) - Int 23
Amendments to HKFRS 3
Amendments to HKFRS 9
Amendments to HKFRS

10 and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS
1 and HKAS 8
Amendments to HKAS 19

Amendments to HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRSs

Leases'
Insurance Contracts®
Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments'

Definition of a Business*

Prepayment Features with Negative
Comprehensation’

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture?

Definition of Material®

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement!

Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint
Ventures'

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2015-2017 Cycle’

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.
4 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for which

the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2020.
5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective (continued)

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs and the interpretation
mentioned below, the Directors anticipate that the application of all
other new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

HKFRS 16 “Leases”

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the identification of
lease arrangements and accounting treatments for both lessors and
leases. HKFRS 16 will supersede HKAS 17 Leases and the related
interpretations when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes leases and service contracts on the basis of
whether an identified asset is controlled by a customer.

Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases are removed for
lessee accounting, and is replaced by a model where a right-of-use
asset and a corresponding liability have to be recognised for all leases
by lessees, except for short-term leases and leases of low value
assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and subsequently
measured at cost (subject to certain exceptions) less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted for any remeasurement
of the lease liability. The lease liability is initially measured at the
present value of the lease payments that are not paid at that date.
Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted for interest and lease
payments, as well as the impact of lease modifications, amongst
others. For the classification of cash flows, the Group currently
presents upfront prepaid lease payments as investing cash flows
in relation to leasehold lands for own use and those classified as
investment properties while other operating lease payments are
presented as operating cash flows. Upon application of HKFRS 16,
lease payments in relation to lease liability will be allocated into a
principal and an interest portion which will be presented as financing
cash flows by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (continued)

Under HKAS 17, the Group has recognised prepaid lease payments
for leasehold lands where the Group is a lessee. The application of
HKFRS 16 may result in potential changes in classification of these
assets depending on whether the Group presents right-of-use assets
separately or within the same line item at which the corresponding

underlying assets would be presented if they were owned.

Other than certain requirements which are also applicable to lessor,
HKFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting
requirements in HKAS 17, and continues to require a lessor to classify

a lease either as an operating lease or a finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 16.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has non-cancellable operating
lease commitments of HK$2,763,000 as disclosed in Note 37. A
preliminary assessment indicates that these arrangements will meet
the definition of a lease. Upon the application of HKFRS 16, the
Group will recognise a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability
in respect of all these leases unless they qualify for low value or short-

term leases.

In addition, the Group currently considers refundable rental deposits
paid of HK$116,000 and refundable rental deposits received of
HK$11,430,000 as rights and obligations under leases to which HKAS
17 applies. Based on the definition of lease payments under HKFRS
16, such deposits are not payments relating to the right to use the
underlying assets, accordingly, the carrying amounts of such deposits
may be adjusted to amortised cost. Adjustments to refundable rental
deposits paid would be considered as additional lease payments and
included in the carrying amount of right-of-use assets. Adjustments to
refundable rental deposits received would be considered as advance

lease payments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (continued)

The Directors expect that the adoption of HKFRS 16 as compared
with the current accounting policy would result in increase in the
Group’s right-of-use assets and related lease liability. The combination
of straight-line depreciation of the right-of-use asset and the effective
interest rate method applied to the lease liability will result in a higher
total charge to the profit or loss in the initial year of the lease, and
decreasing expenses during the latter part of the lease term, but there
is no impact on the total expenses recognised over the lease term.
Based on facts and circumstances as at 31 December 2018, the
Directors of the Company do not expect the application of HKFRS 16
will have a material impact on the financial performance and net assets
of the Group.

The application of new requirements may result in changes in
measurement, presentation and disclosure as indicated above. The
Group intends to elect the practical expedient to apply HKFRS 16 to
contracts that were previously identified as leases applying HKAS 17
and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 “Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains
a Lease” and not apply this standard to contracts that were not
previously identified as containing a lease applying HKAS 17 and
HK(IFRIC)-Int 4. Therefore, the Group will not reassess whether the
contracts are, or contain a lease which already existed prior to the
date of initial application. Furthermore, the Group intends to elect the
modified retrospective approach for the application of HKFRS 16 as
lessee and will recognise the cumulate effect of initial application to
opening retained profits without restating the comparative information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for investment properties and certain
financial instruments, that are measured at fair values at the end of
each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration
given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such basis, except for share-
based payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS
2 “Share-based payment”, leasing transactions that are within the
scope of HKAS 17 “Leases”, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable
value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment
of assets”.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which are
transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that unobservable
inputs is to be used to measure fair values in subsequent periods,
the valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition the
results of the valuation technique equal the transaction price.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements
are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety,
which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at
the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investeg;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired
or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss from the date the Group gains control until
the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even
if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the

Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between the members the Group

are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group’s equity therein, which represent present ownership
interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets

of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in
the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as
equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant
components of equity and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries,
including re-attribution of relevant reserves between the Group and
the non-controlling interests according to the Group’s and the non-

controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amounts by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of

the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any) are
derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is
calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value
of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest
and (i) the carrying amounts of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the Company.
All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary
(i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of

equity as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs).

3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

PR aR M

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and
measured in accordance with HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” and
HKAS 19 “Employee Benefits” respectively;

° liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree or share-based payment
arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured
in accordance with HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment” at the
acquisition date (see the accounting policy below); and

° assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations” are measured in
accordance with that standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. If,
after re-assessment, the net of the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair
value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any),
the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Business combinations (continued)

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially measured
at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the recognised
amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair value. The
choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction

basis.

Goodwil

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as
established at the date of acquisition of the business (see accounting

policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each
of the Group’s cash generating units (“CGUs”) (or groups of CGUSs)
that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
which represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored
for internal management purpose and not larger than an operating

segment.

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment annually or more frequently when there is
an indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on
an acquisition in a reporting period, the CGU (or group of CGUs) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before the
end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount is less than its
carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill and then to other assets of the unit
on a pro rata basis on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or

group of CGUs).

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU within the group
of CGUs, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal. When the
Group disposes of an operation within the CGU (or a CGU within a
group of CGUs), the amount of goodwill disposed of is measured on
the basis of the relative values of the operation (or the CGU) disposed

of and the portion of the CGU (or the group of CGUs) retained.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon
application of HKFRS 15 in accordance with transitions

in note 2)
HKFRS 15 introduces a 5-step approach when recognising revenue:

° Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

o Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract

o Step 3: Determine the transaction price

o Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance

obligations in the contract

° Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the Group satisfies a
performance obligation

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred
to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

° the Group’s performance creates and enhances an asset that

the customer controls as the Group performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon
application of HKFRS 15 in accordance with transitions

in note 2) (continued)
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

The revenue of the Group arising from sales of glass epoxy laminates,
paper laminates, upstream materials and revenue from food and
beverage from hotel operation is recognised at a point in time. Under
the transfer-of-control approach in HKFRS 15, revenue from these
sales is recognised when customer acceptance has been obtained,
which is the point of time when the customer has the ability to direct
the use of these products and obtain substantially all of the remaining
benefits of these products.

The revenue of the Group arising from sales of properties in the
ordinary course of business is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the respective properties.

Revenue from hotel accommodation and service income from drilling
services are recognised over time.

Rental income from property investment and licence fee income will
continue to be accounted for in accordance with HKAS 17, whereas
dividend income and interest income from investments will be
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 9.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the promised
amount of consideration for the effects of the time value of money if
the timing of payments agreed (either explicitly or implicitly) provides
the customer or the Group with a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer. In those circumstances,
the contract contains a significant financing component. A significant
financing component may exist regardless of whether the promise of
financing is explicitly stated in the contract or implied by the payment
terms agreed to by the parties to the contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

3.

PR aR M

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon
application of HKFRS 15 in accordance with transitions

in note 2) (continued)

Existence of significant financing component (continued)

For contracts where the period between payment and transfer of the
associated goods, properties or services is less than one year, the
Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the transaction
price for any significant finance component.

For advance payments received from customers before the transfer
of the associated goods, properties or services in which the Group
adjusts for the promised amount of consideration for a significant
financing component, the Group applies a discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group and
the customer at contract inception. The relevant interest expenses
during the period between the advance payments were received and
the transfer of the associated goods and services are accounted for
on the same basis as other borrowing costs.

Revenue recognition (prior to 1 January 2018)

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated customer returns,
rebates and other similar allowances.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be reliably
measured; when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow
to the Group and when specific criteria have been met for each of the
Group’s activities, as described below.

Goods, services, interests and dividends
Revenue from the sales of goods other than sales of properties is
recognised when the goods are delivered and titles have passed.

Revenue from sale of properties in the ordinary course of business
is recognised when the respective properties have been completed
and the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and
rewards of ownership of the properties. Deposits and instalments
received from purchasers prior to meeting the above criteria for
revenue recognition are included in the consolidated statement of
financial position under current liabilities as ‘deposits received from
pre-sale of residential units’.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Revenue recognition (prior to 1 January 2018) (continued)

Goods, services, interests and dividends (continued)
Service income from drilling services is recognised when services are
provided.

Revenue from hotel accommodation are recognised upon the
provisions of the accommodation services. Revenue from food and
beverage sales and other ancillary services are recognised upon the
provision of goods and services.

Licence fee income is recognised on straight-line basis over the term
of the relevant licence agreement.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the
principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable,
which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the rights to
receive payment have been established.

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for
capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at their fair values. Gains or
losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment properties
are included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset) is included in profit or loss in the year in which the property is
derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

PR aR M

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Properties held for development
Properties held for development for sale in the future are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value.

Costs relating to the development of properties, comprising prepaid
lease payments for land and development costs, are included in
properties held for development until such time when they are
completed.

The Group transfers properties held for development for sale to
investment properties when there is a change of intention to hold the
properties to earn rentals or/and for capital appreciation rather than
for sale in the ordinary course of business. Any difference between
the fair value at the date of transfer and its previous carrying amount
of the properties is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group transfers properties held for development for sale to
properties, plant and equipment when there is a change of intention
to hold the properties for the Group’s own use rather than for sale in
the ordinary course of business. Its previous carrying amount of the
properties becomes the deemed cost upon transfers to properties,
plant and equipment.

Properties, plant and equipment

Properties, plant and equipment including buildings held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purpose (other than properties, plant and equipment under
construction as described below) are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or
administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs include professional fees and, for qualifying
assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy. Such properties are classified to the appropriate
categories of properties, plant and equipment when completed and
ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same
basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are
ready for their intended use.

ANNUAL REPORT 2018

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

FTESTBR®

FRERUR
FEARR I & Z B RMEIRA KA
BHFEME ZBIEHETIRR -

BRMERBIRA(BIE LI 2 BN
MEFERERAAL) BT AFERY
¥ EERTIRIE-

EAKEERAAE  AABEHARED
HERAFAYEARRES L, RE
RIEER - ARBERFEREHEDE
WEEREYE - RERARATESA
WEAEREEZRANERE - EREE

W e

EAKEERAAE  AABEHARED
HEXRRBENEB AR  AKEKGT
BRFLENEBRENE - BEMR
- MEAERAEXRRIEEREY
% - BERRBRERHIBA

M - BEKRRE

WE - BERRE(BEFEAREE

HHEERIBBAAETHRAENE

F o ENRBETXRAERYE - BE
RE) - IR ABERRAINER

Hig REPREEE (B e M HR

MR

REE HEXTHRAREZZMER
PRASR AR 2 RO BRI SIAR © AR
BREEXER HAEREEMS &
BREAEESHBREAMEOEERK
AN o ZEMELRT R AIERTE BRR
DEAME  BEMREZEZER -
ZEEEEAERTERERZEMYE
BEZHREEFRRRNE -



BHEEBREREBER2 101

Il

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Properties, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets (other
than properties, plant and equipment under construction) less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives using the straight-line
method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis.

An item of properties, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of properties, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Licenced properties, plant and equipment

Licenced properties, plant and equipment (included in properties,
plant and equipment) held to earn licence fee income are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

Depreciation is recognised as to write off the cost of items of licenced
properties, plant and equipment less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost of inventories are determined on a weighted average method.
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for
inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary
to make the sale.

Licenced inventories

Licenced inventories shown as either other non-current assets or
other current assets in the consolidated statement of financial position
are stated at cost less impairment, if any.

FESFHE

Y13 ~ BB R ()
BETERREEZDE BERRE)Z
FEDRBEGEAERFESR - FRF
SREER - NEREMBERARER -
BEFAMERFES - RREERTEDA
RERESMEERE B TR - &
BT  HPEERERAR -

W% - BE RRERE RN HE TR
BEMZEENGEERKEEN S
FIFRHER - HERBEME - BE MR
BEBMEEANTAABESZEELE
PISREREECHNER  ZE8
FERmPHER

REERADE  BERRE
FEREUREE R BN REERYE -
B N (GEAME - BE k&) -
THRRARE & RETHTE RAEM REHR
BEER(IE)EFA M BIRRRTIER -

REERME  BEMRERBEZTE
TIRBEMEETAEABFEY - RHIREF
REER - ABEREMEERA - b5t
AERFEY  RHREERTETERS
BEHFEERE B TR - AFH0E
TR HFEERRAR -

FE
FERRAK AR FERE D 2K
BN - FEAANZINEFETE -
AR ERT BT E BRI TK
PR 2 2 RBAR AN A AR E PR 2 A -

RECRAEER
BiERFEESAMBHRRRIZKA
BURES REAMIER B E ELE MR

T N\FER



102

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

PR aR M

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment losses on tangible assets other than
goodwill (see the accounting policy in respect of

goodwill)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible assets to determine whether there is any
indication that these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if
any.

The recoverable amount of tangible assets are estimated individually,
when it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are
also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset (or a CGU) for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to
be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset
(or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other
assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset
in the unit. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value
in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss
that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro
rata to the other assets of the unit. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a CGU) is increased to the revised estimate
of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
a CGU) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases and licence fee income are
recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease
and licence agreement. Other than investment properties measured
under fair value model, such costs are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments, including the cost of acquiring land held
under operating leases, are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term, except where another systematic basis
is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits
from the leased asset are consumed.

Leasehold land and building

When the Group makes payments for a property interest which
includes both leasehold land and building elements, the Group
assesses the classification of each element separately based on the
assessment as to whether substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to the ownership of each element have been transferred to
the Group, unless it is clear that both elements are operating leases
in which case the entire property is accounted as an operating lease.
Specifically, the entire consideration (including any lump-sum upfront
payments) are allocated between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values of the leasehold
interests in the land element and building element at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an operating
lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in the consolidated
statement of financial position and is amortised over the lease term on
a straight-line basis except for those that are classified and accounted
for as investment properties under the fair value model. When the
lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between the leasehold
land and building elements, the entire property is generally classified as
if the leasehold land is under finance lease.

The Group transfers prepaid lease payments to properties held
for development when there is a change of intention to hold the
properties for the Group’s redevelopment rather than owner
occupation. The previous carrying amount of the prepaid lease
payments becomes the cost of properties held for development upon
the date of transfer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

PR aR M

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair
value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Income
and expenses items are translated at the average exchange rates
for the year. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sales, are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans, state-
managed retirement benefit schemes and the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are
recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits
the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting any
amount already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee benefits
are measured at the present value of the estimated future cash
outflows expected to be made by the Group in respect of services
provided by employees up to the reporting date. Any changes in the
liabilities” carrying amounts resulting from service cost, interest and
remeasurements are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent
that another HKFRS requires or permits their inclusion in the cost of
an asset.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before taxation because of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that
are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of
goodwill.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in
the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and interests
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will
be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment properties
that are measured using the fair value model, the carrying amounts
of such properties are presumed to be recovered entirely through
sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted
when the investment property is depreciable and is held within a
business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over time,
rather than through sale.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets
and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except
when they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred
tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the
initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included
in the accounting for the business combination.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by

regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15
since 1 January 2018. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL) are added
to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial

liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter

period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income from debt instruments at FVTOCI and dividend
income from equity instruments which are derived from the Group’s
ordinary course of business are presented as revenue. Interest income
from bank balances and deposits are included in other income, gains

and losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (upon
application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with transactions in note 2)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at FVTOCI:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows
and selling; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, except
that at the date of initial application/initial recognition of a financial asset
the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in
fair value of an equity investment in OCI if that equity investment is
neither held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by
an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as
measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (upon
application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with transactions in note 2)
(continued)

(0

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost and debt instruments subsequently measured
at FVTOCI. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next
reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is
no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that the asset is
no longer credit-impaired.

Debt instruments classified as at FVTOCI

Subsequent changes in the carrying amounts for debt
instruments classified as at FVTOCI as a result of interest
income calculated using the effective interest method, and
foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or
loss. All other changes in the carrying amount of these debt
instruments are recognised in OCIl and accumulated under
the heading of investment revaluation reserve. Impairment
allowances are recognised in profit or loss with corresponding
adjustment to OCI without reducing the carrying amounts of
these debt instruments. The amounts that are recognised in
profit or loss are the same as the amounts that would have
been recognised in profit or loss if these debt instruments
had been measured at amortised cost. When these debt
instruments are derecognised, the cumulative gains or losses
previously recognised in OCI are reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (upon
application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with transactions in note 2)
(continued)

(iii)

)

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI, are initially
measured at fair value plus transaction costs. Subsequently
measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from
changes in fair value recognised in OCl and accumulated
in the investment revaluation reserve; and are not subject
to impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will
not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity
investments, and will be transferred to retained profits.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive
the dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly
represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment.
Dividends are included in revenue.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest
earned on the financial asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9 with

transitions in accordance with note 2)

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on financial assets
which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9 (including trade and
other receivables, debt instruments at FVTOCI, amounts due from
fellow subsidiaries, bills receivables and bank balances). The amount
of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit

risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In
contrast, 12m ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date. Assessments are done based on
the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting date as

well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables. The
ECL on those assets are assessed individually and/or collectively using

a provision matrix with appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default

occurring since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9 with
transitions in accordance with note 2) (continued)

(0

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9 with
transitions in accordance with note 2) (continued)

U

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a debt instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined to
have low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk if i) it has a low risk of
default, ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and iii)
adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability
of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
The Group considers a debt instrument to have low credit risk
when it has an internal or external credit rating of ‘investment
grade’ as per globally understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in
credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an
event of default occurs when information developed internally
or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9 with
transitions in accordance with note 2) (continued)

(iii)

v)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
of default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit — impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(©) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or

contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example,
when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case
of trade receivables, when the amounts are over two years
past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written
off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the
Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or
loss
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9 with
transitions in accordance with note 2) (continued)

W)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given default is based
on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with the respective risks
of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined at
initial recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis, the financial
instruments are grouped on the basis below:

° Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group’s trade
receivables, debt instruments at FVTOCI, amounts
due from fellow subsidiaries, bills receivables, bank
balances and other receivables, are each assessed as
separate groups);

° Past-due status;
o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
° External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
the constituents of each group continue to share similar credit
risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

PR aR M

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9 with

transitions in accordance with note 2) (continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)
Except for investments in debt instruments that are measured
at FVTOCI, the Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount, with the exception of trade receivables,
where the corresponding adjustment is recognised
through a loss allowance account. For investments in debt
instruments that are measured at FVTOCI, the loss allowance
is recognised in OCI and accumulated in the investment
revaluation reserve without reducing the carrying amount of
these debt instruments.

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial asset (before
application of HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018)

The Group’s financial assets are classified into loans and receivables
and AFS financial assets. The classification depends on the nature
and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of
initial recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

(i) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans
and receivables (including trade and other receivables, bills
receivables, amounts due from fellow subsidiaries and bank
balances and cash) are measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less any impairment losses
(see accounting policy on impairment loss on financial assets
below).

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate, except for short-term receivables where the recognition
of interests would be immaterial.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial asset (before

application of HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018) (continued)

(i) AFS financial assets

AFS financial assets are non-derivatives that are either
designated or not classified as loans and receivables, held-to-

maturity investments or financial assets at FVTPL.

Equity and debt securities held by the Group that are
classified as AFS are measured at fair value at the end of
each reporting period except for unquoted equity investments
whose fair value cannot be reliably measured. Changes in the
carrying amount of AFS debt instruments relating to interest
income calculated using the effective interest method, are
recognised in profit and loss. Dividend on AFS investments
equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the
Group’s right to receive the dividends is established. Other
changes in the carrying amount of AFS financial assets are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated

under the heading of investment revaluation reserve.

AFS equity investments that do not have a quoted market
price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be
reliably measured and must be settled by delivery of such
unquoted equity investments are measured at cost less any
identified impairment losses at the end of each reporting
period (see the accounting policy in respect of impairment

loss on financial assets below).

Impairment of financial assets (before application of HKFRS 9 on 1

January 2018)

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the
end of each reporting period. Financial assets are considered to be
impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial
asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have

been affected.

For an AFS equity investment, a significant or prolonged decline in
the fair value of that investment below its cost is considered to be

objective evidence of impairment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

PR aR M

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (before application of HKFRS 9 on 1
January 2018) (continued)

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could
include significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;
or breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest or
principal payments; or it becoming probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or the disappearance
of an active market for that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.

Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could
include the Group’s past experience of collecting payments, an
increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the
credit period and observable changes in national or local economic
conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the
impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash
flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the impairment loss
is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted
at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such
impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception of
trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through
the use of an allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount
of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. When a
trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against
the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited to profit or loss.

When an AFS financial asset is considered to be impaired, cumulative

gains or losses previously recognised in other comprehensive income
are reclassified to profit or loss in the period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (before application of HKFRS 9 on 1
January 2018) (continued)

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent
period, the amount of impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
loss was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is
reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount
of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not
exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment
not been recognised.

Impairment losses on AFS equity investments will not be reversed
through profit or loss. Any increase in fair value subsequent to
impairment loss is recognised directly in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in investment revaluation reserve.

For AFS debt investments, impairment losses are subsequently
reversed if an increase in the fair value of the investment can be
objectively related to an event occurring after the recognition of
impairment loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset at amortised cost, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in a debt instrument classified
as at FVTOCI upon application of HKFRS 9, the cumulative gain or
loss previously accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve is
reclassified to profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the
Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI
upon application of HKFRS 9, the cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve is not reclassified
to profit or loss, but is transferred to retained profits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

PR aR M

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

On derecognition of an AFS financial asset, the cumulative gain or
loss previously accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve is
reclassified to profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities
or equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, bills payables,
amounts due to fellow subsidiaries and bank borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer
to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are initially
measured at their fair values and are subsequently measured at the
higher of:

(i) the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance
with HKFRS 9 (since 1 January 2018)/HKAS 37 “Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets” (before
application of HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018); and

(i) the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised over the guarantee period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised

in profit or loss.

Share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based payments

Share options granted to the Directors and employees of the Group
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the equity

instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments determined
at the grant date without taking into consideration all non-market
vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over the
vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments
that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (share

options reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of
the number of options that are expected to vest based on assessment
of all relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the
revision of the original estimates during the vesting period, if any,
is recognised in profit or loss, such that the cumulative expense
reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to
share options reserve. For share options that vest immediately at the
date of grant, the fair value of the share options granted is expensed

immediately to profit or loss.

When the share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in the share options reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When the share options are forfeited after vesting date
or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to retained

profits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in Note 3, the Directors are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if revision
affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the Directors have made in the process
of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in consolidated financial
statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties (Notes 14 and 22)
For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax
assets arising from investment properties that are measured using the
fair value model, the Directors have reviewed the Group’s investment
property portfolios as at 31 December 2018, and concluded that
the Group’s investment properties located in the PRC with carrying
amount of approximately HK$313,161,000 (2017: HK$314,101,000)
are held under a business model which objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
properties over time, rather than through sale. Therefore, the Directors
have determined the presumption that the carrying amounts of such
investment properties are recovered entirely through sale is rebutted.
As a result, the Group has not recognised deferred taxes on LAT in
respect of changes in fair value of such investment properties but has
recognised deferred tax on Enterprise Income Tax on the assumption
that these investment properties will be recovered through use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
(continued)

Deferred taxation on investment properties (Notes 14 and 22)
(continued)

As at 31 December 2018, the investment properties located in
Hong Kong and the United Kingdom with carrying amounts of
HK$413,190,000 (2017: HK$346,790,000) and HK$661,491,000
(2017: HK$684,046,000) respectively are not held under a business
model with the objective of which is to recover the economic benefits
of the investment properties entirely through use. No deferred tax
is recognised in respect of the fair value change in such investment
properties as the Group is not subject to any income taxes on
disposal of investment properties in Hong Kong and the United
Kingdom, assuming that the Group is considered as a non-resident in
the United Kingdom.

Legal claim (Note 38(b))

The Group is currently involved in legal proceedings as disclosed in
Note 38(b) to the consolidated financial statements. The Directors
have evaluated and assessed claims made against the Group based
on legal advice received, the Directors are of the opinion that the
plaintiff has an intrinsically defective claim and the Company has a
more than reasonable chance to succeed in defending the case.
Accordingly, no provision nor accrual are made in the consolidated
financial statements.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year.
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124 KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Depreciation and impairment of properties, plant and
equipment (Note 15)

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives,
residual values and related depreciation charges for its properties,
plant and equipment. This estimate is based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives of properties, plant and
equipment of similar nature and functions. Management will increase
the depreciation charge where useful lives are expected to be
shorter than previously estimated, or it will write-off obsolete or non-
strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold. Changes in
these estimations may have a material impact on the results of the
Group. The management review its properties, plant and equipment
to determine if there is any indication that the assets may have been
impaired. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amounts
of properties, plant and equipment will be determined based on
discounted cash flow method of each asset or a CGU. The Directors
consider that there was no indication of impairment that require
the estimation of the recoverable amount of the properties, plant
and equipment including the licensed assets and therefore, no
impairment loss was recognised for the year ended 31 December
2018. As at 31 December 2018, the carrying amount of properties,
plant and equipment was approximately HK$4,818,717,000 (2017:
HK$4,830,663,000).

Allowances for inventories (Note 24)

In determining the net realisable value of the Group’s inventories,
management estimated the net realisable value of inventories based
on the most reliable information available at the time the estimates
are made. These estimates take into consideration the fluctuations
in price, the balance on hand relative to sales prospect and the
condition of the inventories. A write down of HK$16,685,000
(2017: HK$6,259,000) on inventories has been recognised during
the year ended 31 December 2018. As at 31 December 2018,
the carrying amount of inventories was HK$1,710,503,000 (2017:
HK$953,483,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Estimated impairment of trade receivables (Notes 25 and 35)
Before application of HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018

When there was an objective evidence of impairment loss, the
Group took into consideration the estimation of future cash flows.
The amount of the impairment loss was measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that
have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial
recognition, where applicable). Where the actual future cash flows
were less than expected or being revised downward due to changes
in facts and circumstances, a material impairment loss/further
impairment loss may arise.

Upon application of HKFRS 9

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for the trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on internal credit ratings for
each grouping of debtors that have similar credit risk characteristic.
The provision matrix is based on the Group’s historical default
rates taking into consideration forward-looking information that is
reasonable and supportable, and available without undue costs or
effort. At every reporting date, the historical observed default rates
are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information are
considered. In addition, certain balances of trade receivables and
those credit impaired are assessed for ECL individually.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group’s trade receivables are
disclosed in notes 35 and 25 respectively.

As at 31 December 2018, the carrying amount of trade receivables
was approximately HK$3,293,568,000 (2017: HK$4,034,814,000),
net of allowance for doubtful debts of HK$464,486,000 (2017:
HK$431,807,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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PR aR M

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Estimated net realisable value on properties held for
development (Note 26)

In determining whether write down should be made to the Group’s
properties held for development, the Group takes into consideration
the current market environment and the estimated market value (i.e.
the estimated selling price less estimated costs of selling expenses)
less estimated costs to completion of the properties. Write down is
made if the estimated market value less estimated cost to completion
of the properties is less than the carrying amount. If the actual net
realisable value on properties held for development for sales is less
than expected as a result of change in market conditions and/or
significant variations in the budgeted development cost, material write
down may result. As at 31 December 2018, the carrying amount
of properties held for development was HK$2,134,666,000 (2017:
HK$4,030,974,000).

Fair value measurements and valuation processes

Some of the Group’s assets are measured at fair value for financial
reporting purposes. The Directors have a designated team to
determine the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair
value measurements.

In estimating the fair value of the Group’s investment properties,
the Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is available.
Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages third party
qualified valuers to perform the valuation of the Group’s investment
properties. At the end of each reporting period, the Directors works
closely with the qualified external valuers to establish and determine
the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for Level 2 and Level
3 fair value measurements. The Group will first consider and adopt
Level 2 inputs where inputs can be derived observable quoted prices
in the active market. When Level 2 inputs are not available, the Group
will adopt valuation techniques that include Level 3 inputs. Where
there is a material change in the fair value of the assets, the causes of
the fluctuations will be reported to the Directors. Any changes in the
price per square meter in reference with recent transactions will affect
the fair value of the investment properties of the Group. Information
about the valuation techniques and inputs used in determining the fair
value of the Group’s investment properties are disclosed in Note 14.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Fair value measurements and valuation processes (continued)

In estimating the fair value of the Group’s equity instruments
at FVTPL, equity instruments at FVTOCI and debt instruments
at FVTOCI (2017: AFS investments), the Group uses market-
observable data to the extent it is available. Where Level 1 inputs
are not available, the Directors will assess the valuation of financial
instruments based on quoted bid prices of the previous trading day in
the markets at the end of each reporting period. The fair value of the
Group’s bond securities listed on the Stock Exchange, the Singapore
Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX”) and Cayman Islands
Stock Exchange (“CSX”) is determined with reference to the pricing
vendor’s estimation, who will assess its fair value taking into account
primarily the fair value quoted by the brokers and which is adjusted
for the lack of marketability of the bond securities at the end of the
reporting period. The pricing vendor will exercise their judgements
based on their experience to establish and determine the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs to the valuation model. Where there is
a material change in the fair value of the debt instruments at FVTOCI,
equity instruments at FVTPL and equity instruments at FVTOCI (2017:
AFS investments), the causes of the fluctuations will be reported to
the Directors. Any changes in the marketability of the listed bonds will
affect the fair value of the investments. Notes 17, 18, 19, 20 and 35(c)
provides detailed information about the valuation techniques, inputs
and key assumptions used in the determination of the fair value of the
Group’s equity instruments at FVTOCI, equity instruments at FVTPL
and debt instruments of FVTOCI (2017: AFS investments).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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REVENUE

Analysis of revenue for the year is as follows:

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

5. EH

FREEBENDITNAT

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tfF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET FAxT
(RESEVE))
€=

Revenue recognised at a point in time RE RN EEEE
Sales of glass epoxy laminates ﬁ’iiﬁﬁi}iﬁ B INER 10,482,318 10,388,459
Sales of paper laminates HEREIRER 2,273,489 2,246,462
Sales of upstream materials \E’%J:/)ﬁ Yt 2,642,404 2,499,139
Sales of properties HEMZE 3,508,674 1,664,468
Others (note a) H A (FizEa) 1,055,171 1,044,909
Revenue recognised overtime (note b) BER R RERR Ay & R (M FEDb) 240,584 215,005
Revenue from contracts with customers BEEAUNEERE 20,202,640 18,058,442
Interest income from debt instruments (note ¢) &7 T AF| S U A (FzEc) 236,301 89,536
Dividend income (note c) f& B U (MF3EC) 18,108 5,620
Rental and licence fee income HekEFEFERABRA 188,727 184,354
20,645,776 18,337,952

Sales of laminates include glass epoxy laminates and paper laminates.
Sales of upstream materials include sales of copper foil, epoxy resin,
glass fabric and bleached kraft paper. Apart for sales of properties, all
contracts have an original expected duration of one year or less. As
permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to these
unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed. The payment terms are ranged
from 30 days to 120 days.

Notes:

() Others mainly includes sales of specialty resin of HK$754,012,000 (2017:
HK$707,044,000) and income from food and beverage sales from hotel
operation.

(b) Revenue recognised overtime mainly represents income from drilling
services of HK$173,963,000 (2017: HK$154,445,000) and income from
hotel accommodation of HK$66,621,000 (2017: HK$60,560,000).

() During the year, the Group reorganised its internal reporting structure which

resulted in recognition of an additional reportable segment, the investment
business segment, details set out in note 6 below. The Directors consider
its investment activities are a part of the Group’s principal business activities
and accordingly interest income from debt instruments calculated using
effective interest method and dividend income from equity investments
which was previously included in other income, gains and losses has been
reclassified to revenue.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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5.

PR aR M

R EVE N U E (continued)

Transaction price allocated to the remaining

performance obligation for contracts with customers
The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations for sales of properties (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied)
as at 31 December 2018 and the expected timing of recognising
revenue are as follows:

—%FR

Within one year

"
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1,609,719

SEGMENT INFORMATION

HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments” requires operating segments to be
identified on the basis of internal reports about components of the
Group that are regularly reviewed by Chief Operating Decision Maker
(“CODM”) in order to allocate resources to segments and to assess
their performance. Specifically, the Group’s operating and reportable
segments under HKFRS 8 are organised into three main operating
divisions — (i) manufacturing and sale of laminates; (i) properties; and
(i) investments. The management aggregated the sales of properties,
rental and hotel income business into one reportable segment
because the financial performance of these businesses are affected
by changes in the property market. No operating segments identified
by the CODM have been aggregated in arriving at the reportable
segments of the Group.

Under HKFRS 8, segment information is based on internal
management reporting information that is regularly reviewed by the
executive directors, being the CODM of the Group. The measurement
policies the Group used for segment reporting under HKFRS 8 are the
same as those used in its HKFRS consolidated financial statements.
During the year, the Group reorganised its internal reporting structure
which resulted in recognition of an additional reportable segment, the
investment business segment. Prior year segment disclosure have
been re-presented to conform with current year’s presentation. The
CODM assess segment profit or loss using a measure of operating
profit whereby certain items are not included in arriving at the segment
results of the operating segments (unallocated corporate income and
expenses and finance costs).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. ﬁggﬁ*ﬂ(%)

(@ Segment revenue and results (a) oHEEBEREE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results BIELL RREDIEI D 2 KE
by operating and reportable segments: EEEEREESTOT
For the year ended 31 December 2018 BE-_Z—-\H+=-H=+—H
ILEE

Laminates Properties Investments Consolidated
BiER /S RE oy
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$°000

TET TET TET FTHET
(Note a) (Note b) (Note c)
(GED) (HizEb) (HizEe)

Segment revenue DERE LR 16,747,345 3,644,022 254,409 20,645,776
Segment results DERELE 2,775,164 1,545,862 262,715 4,583,741
Unallocated corporate income RABZDFA 43,361
Unallocated corporate expenses KA EZ A EIHH (48,046)
Finance costs BB (103,221)
Profit before taxation BiAT S 4,475,835
Notes: Bt 5T
(@) The management aggregated the revenue derived from the sales @ EREERHERAWBAE
of glass epoxy laminates, paper laminates, upstream materials, BINEAR - AEREAR - L
drilling services, licence fee income, the sales of specialty resin i) 71:4 CHEILRBE X
and income from food and beverages sales from hotel operation T OREERBRA - HE
into “Laminates” segment. BRI OB R X B E
HERAS AT ERER]
pax:i
(b) The management aggregated revenue derived from the sales (o) ERERHEDELEER
of properties, rental income and hotel income into “Properties” HeBARBERAE G A
segment. [ 1D ED -
(© The management aggregated the revenue derived from the (c) BEEZEE AR EWA
interest income from debt instruments and dividend income from RiEZRAEARSBALRE
equity investments into “Investments” segment. EHANEE D -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. /]-J\%Bﬁ*il'(%)
(@ Segment revenue and results (continued) (a) oHEEBREESE
For the year ended 31 December 2017 B8z=—FZ—+tFE+=-A=+—H
WHFE
Laminates Properties Investments  Consolidated
EiER ES "E A
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHIT THET THET ;

(RESEIC))
CEy
Segment revenue DEEEEE 16,453,413 1,789,383 95,156 18,337,952
Segment results DEEE 4,050,585 456,185 271,113 4,777,883
Unallocated corporate income AABZ BEMA 45,497
Unallocated corporate expenses & A EEZ AFIEH (111,958)
Finance costs BERAR (68,843)
Profit before taxation BiAT S 4,642,579

—E-)\FFH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RENBHmRME
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. ﬁ%lgﬁ*sl'(%)
(b) Segment assets and liabilities b) SBEEREE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities BIELL RREDIE D 2 KE
by operating and reportable segments: EEENABESTWT ¢
At 31 December 2018 RZZB-NE+=ZA=+—H

Laminates Properties Investments Consolidated

EHER /S RE )
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
THERT THET FTERT T
Assets BE
Segment assets DEVEE 13,694,235 4,509,783 6,703,891 24,907,909
Unallocated corporate assets AAEZREIEE
- Deferred tax assets —REHBEE 3,527
— Taxation recoverable — AR E R 7,180
- Bank balances and cash —RITEHRERE 3,803,125
Consolidated total assets HABERE 28,721,741
Liabilities B
Segment liabilities HEBE (2,985,165)  (1,556,412) = (4,541,577)
Unallocated corporate liabilities o) P A/NCIN= T
— Bank borrowings —RITIEE (5,842,500)
— Deferred tax liabilities —EERTEEE (85,506)
— Taxation payable — B FE (409,156)
Consolidated total liabilities AaELEE (10,878,739)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. ﬁggﬁ*ﬂ(%)
(b) Segment assets and liabilities (continued) b) SHBEERAEEE)

At 31 December 2017

R-B—tF+=-A=t+—H

Laminates Properties Investments  Consolidated
EiER ES RE oee)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THAT THET THET FHET
(RESEIC))
(e i)
Assets BE
Segment assets PHEE 14,350,188 6,441,699 3285029 24,076,916
Unallocated corporate assets AAEZREIEE
— Deferred tax assets —EIEFIBEE 2,882
— Taxation recoverable — Al E IR 7,185
- Bank balances and cash —RITEB RS 4,464,240
Consolidated total assets meBERE 28,551,223
Liabilities BE
Segment liabilities HEEE (2,919,488)  (3,643,566) - (6,563,054)
Unallocated corporate liabilities o) P A/NCIN= T
— Bank borrowings —fIIEE (3,402,110)
- Deferred tax liabilities —EERBAEE (88,836)
— Taxation payable —JETETE (461,639
- Others —HAit (48,650)
Consolidated total liabilities FagfERE (10,564,289)
For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and BERDERIA LN EBE D
allocating resources between segments: BIR

all assets are allocated to operating segments other
than deferred tax assets, taxation recoverable and
bank balances and cash used jointly by operating
segments; and

all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other
than bank borrowings, deferred tax liabilities, taxation
payable and other liabilities for which operating
segments are jointly liable.

BREEHREEE - A%
(2] 758 T A % 48 & 0 R 3L
e Az sRITHEMREIR
I TEEEBDE
ERENE R

BRIRITIEE - BEHRIA
BfE - BERERKE
DEHRAEZEME
‘o EREHDE

@ AL N ]
EREDE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RENBHmRME
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. ﬁ%lgﬁ*sl'(%)
(c)  Other information (c) HiER
For the year ended 31 December 2018 BE-E—-N\E+=-A=+—H
WHFE
Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss or SFESIERS D IWEERTA
segment assets. s~ I

Laminates Properties Investments Consolidated

B ER L/ES RE &e
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’'000
TER TEx TER TERT
Capital additions BARER 960,144 123,651 - 1,083,795
Depreciation e 570,439 19,610 251 590,300
Release of prepaid lease payments 811 & KB 6,336 4,580 - 10,916
Gain on fair value changes of BRATESABENER
equity instruments at FVTPL TERATFEEFPHUNE - - 29,799 29,799
Gain on fair value changes of REDMENTEES 2
investment properties g - 91,056 - 91,056
Gain on disposal of debt instruments H &L A EF AL {2 HE
at FVTOCI W mES TR e - = 1,580 1,580
Loss on disposal and written off of & REEME - BEM
properties, plant and equipment BB ER 31,304 - - 31,304
Write-down of inventories MEFE 16,685 - - 16,685
Impairment loss on trade receivables & 5 JE i BE 7 2 SR B 18 51,683 - - 51,683
Interest income RITEHEHR K
on bank balances and deposits FRAEMA 20,071 1,609 64 21,744
For the year ended 31 December 2017 BE=-f2—+tHF+=-A=+—8H
IEFE
Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss or FrENEEmK D BB ERTA
segment assets. s i
Laminates Properties Investments  Consolidated
BIRER ES KE o)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT TAET FiET BT
Capital additions BAIER 871,791 635,349 - 1,507,140
Depreciation e 550,343 17,626 251 568,220
Release of prepaid lease payments  TE {8 & 2 & E 5,392 3,920 - 9,312
Gain on disposal of AFS investments & A (&1 & 7 Uiz - - 176,046 176,046
Gain on fair value changes of REMENTEEH 2
investment properties Wz - 29,505 - 29,505
Loss on disposal and written off of & REHEME  BEL
properties, plant and equipment REZEE 38,751 160 - 38,911
Write-down of inventories MRFE 6,259 - - 6,259
Impairment loss on trade receivables & 5 EUEE R 2 M ERE 81,211 - - 81,211
Interest income RITHARK
on bank balances and deposits FRF A 21,048 1,190 341 22,579
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

6. SEGMENT |NFORMATION (continued)

(c)

Other information (continued)
The Group operates principally in the PRC (country of
domicile).

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from
external customers by geographical location of the customers
or tenants or in the case of dividend income and interest
income, the principal place of business of the investee or
debtor.

135

6. DEHER @

()

HER(®)
AREBETEERBUNFE(AE
B2 FrfEds) o

R % P S P R AE % o (fin 8
FEBWA R BN WIRE T
SEBANEEEEMBEH 2
REBEINBELEEESTN
T

2018 2017

—ZT-N\F —T—+F

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FH&T T

(RESEICE))

(gt )

The PRC (country of domicile) R (AREE 2 FriEs) 19,420,421 17,369,555

Other foreign countries: HMER -

Other Asian countries H b gm MBI 1,101,477 842,525
Europe B 56,602 63,092
America =M 67,276 62,780
20,645,776 18,337,952

Revenue from one of the Group’s customers in laminates
segment amounted to HK$2,065,525,000 (2017:
HK$1,835,757,000), which individually accounted for over
10% of the Group’s revenue for the year.

The geographical analysis of the Group’s non-current assets,
other than deferred tax assets, other non-current assets,
equity instruments at FVTPL, equity instruments at FVTOCI,
debt instruments at FVTOCI, AFS investments and deposits
paid for acquisition of properties, plant and equipment by
location of assets is presented as follows:

REARNEBEERM@IRSD B
EFR—FEFPFMEEHEB
2,065,525,0008 0 (=& —+
£ 1 1,835,757,0007T) * 157
EEAFENEEBBRBRI0% -

BIRIERIREE - HitbIERBE
E - BRAFERABRSOERT
A BoHE AR R EREs
B TR - RAFERTARM
E2ERENEF T  AIHHE
RENRWEME - BB RRE
ZENFETRIN - REEFRBE

EREEMHMOTE2IIT

2018 2017

—E-N\F —T—+F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FH&T T

PRC (country of domicile) AR (AN 2 FrfEst) 5,398,864 5,419,954
Hong Kong B 387,396 362,325
United Kingdom [ 661,491 684,046
Thailand EE| 260,696 135,970
6,708,447 6,602,295
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

7. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES 7. HMEWA - Wz kESE

2018 2017
—Z2—N\F —T—+F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET T
(RESEICE))
(g )
Other income, gains and losses includes: Hiplg A ~ Wz R EEsE
Interest income on bank balances and deposits 8774568 R i1E4 2 K B U A 21,744 22,579
Loss on disposal and write off of properties, HeERBEEME - BE&
plant and equipment Bpd i (31,304) (38,911)
Others Hih 7,816 (1,181)
(1,744) (17,513)
8. FINANCE COSTS 8. MERAK
2018 2017
—EBE-N\E —E—+fF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET T
Interest on bank borrowings IRITIEEF B 116,941 73,636
Less: Amounts capitalised in the construction i : fEiE TI2H9E RN L 248
in progress (13,720) (4,793)
103,221 68,843
Bank borrowing costs arising from the general borrowing pool which —REEELECRITEENER - LLE
were calculated by applying a weighted average capitalisation rate of BEREERIMEFIIE R LFEF X
2.46% (2017: 2.20%) per annum to expenditure on qualifying assets. 2.46%(=F—+F : 2.20%):T & °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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9.

PR aR M

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

9.

137

FrEBipax

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tfF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET

The amount comprises: HIBEIE
PRC Enterprise Income Tax B EATSH 710,216 808,909
PRC LAT AR £ it I (E 507,887 56,605
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEFEH 1,251 7,643
Taxation arising in other jurisdiction Efth RLAREIR 2 F118 2,465 633
1,221,819 873,790

Deferred taxation TEIEF IR

Credit for the year (Note 22) REZE B (M3E22) (3,975) (3,462)
1,217,844 870,328

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise
Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT
Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 2008
onwards.

The provision of LAT is estimated according to the requirements
set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations. LAT has
been levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the
appreciation of land value, represented by the excess of sales
proceeds of properties over prescribed direct costs. Prescribed
direct costs are defined to include costs of land, development and
construction costs, as well as certain costs relating to the property
development. According to the State Administration of Taxation’s
official circulars, LAT shall be payable provisionally upon sales of
the properties, followed by final ascertainment of the gain at the
completion of the properties development.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
assessable profit both years.

Taxation arising in other jurisdiction is calculated at the rate prevailing
in the relevant jurisdiction.

RBPEARIMBEERETOE( &
EMBPED REERGS  B=—FF
NE—A— Bt @RRTENER
B2 EEMEHER25% °

FHE L IRERBERIZERPERA
KRR BRMGESE - RELMIBESHE
(REMEHEBAMEREEBRKA)
A R HE TR HB0% 2 60% £ A 2 £ 3 1%
B} - HEERKRARE R LI -
BRREZERA > REMEREERRK
AR - BBRBERBRBARZE TR
5 HEMERELTHIIEER - 2
FEERTRRT R ERMEHE -

MEFE N BB FESRE IR ER
S FA16.56% 2 FERETE o

A FEARIR 2 BB o B A
ZBABEHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continueq) 9. FIfEHiR
Taxation for the year can be reconciled to the profit before taxation AEEZHREREZABERGHATNGF
per the consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows: ZEERIT ¢

2018 2017
—E2-N\fF —E—LtF

HK$°000 HK$'000
TR FTAT

Profit before taxation B A ) 4,475,835 4,642,579

Tax charge at the domestic income tax rate of LA B A FTSH K 25%

25% (2017: 25%) (Note a) (ZZ—+F : 25%)5THZ
IS H (K iEa) 1,118,959 1,160,645

Tax effect of expenses not deductible for TR ERZ

tax purpose M8 7,826 4,691
Tax effect of income not taxable for BARBRBAZ

tax purpose M e (89,689) (75,788)
PRC LAT B 4 s (E 507,887 56,605
Tax effect of PRC LAT A IR (E R 2 IR R & (126,972) (14,151)
Tax effect of Tax Concession (Note b) HEER 2 HEZE(H:Tb) (70,729) (112,318)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERH BB REHE 5,850 5,123
Utilisation of tax losses previously AL RIARER

not recognised MIBEE (18,083) (27,851)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries BREIARSEERIN - REME]

operating in other jurisdiction/areas R MEE LB AT

other than the domestic income tax rate ZRRAME 8 (75,435) (58,668)
Effect of tax exempted profit (Note c) P EBRT 2 52 (MisEe) (41,770) (67,960)
Tax expense for the year REE 7 HBH T 1,217,844 870,328

Notes: Bt EE

@) The domestic income tax rate of 25% (2017: 25%) represents the @ BAMEHHEB%(ZF— L5 :
PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate of which the Group’s operations are 25%) IR KB AR D EBHER T
substantially based. EMEHE -

() Pursuant to the EIT Law, a High-New Technology Enterprise shall be (o) RBAEMERE - SrEMeETR
entitled to a preferential tax rate of 15% for three years since it was officially HEEHRULEEABHA=FM15%H
endorsed. Certain subsidiaries in the PRC obtained official endorsement as REE - ETPEMBAREE R
a High-New Technology Enterprise (“Tax concession”). REAEi e ((HEBEER]) -

(© Profits arising from certain subsidiaries of the Company in Macau are (© ARRARFIZETHBARMES
exempted from profits tax. 2w FIERR BB FISEL -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

10. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 10. AFE@H
2018 2017
—E-\F —E—+F
HK$'000

HK$000
TR TAT

AN i ) 2 A HIRR (REA)

Profit for the year has been arrived at

after charging (crediting): LATRIER
Auditor’s remuneration ZE NS 4,053 4,053
Cost of inventories sold BEEFEZRA 13,127,423 11,656,273
Cost of properties sold BEEMEZ KR 1,969,818 1,210,370
Depreciation of properties, ME - BERERBITE

plant and equipment 590,300 568,220

Direct operating expenses in relation to REME T BEEKERY
investment properties 31,292 23,358

Net exchange loss (gain) bE B 1R (Mas) 558 160,117 (19,079)
Loss on disposal and write off of properties, HE RiEEmE - BE&

plant and equipment HAEETE 31,304 38,911
Release of prepaid lease payments FENAEFIERED 10,916 9,312
Total staff costs, including directors’ BTINABE  BREEEHe

emoluments (Note 11) (FF&E11) 810,945 692,917
Write-down of inventories, included in MRFE - 5T ABHERA

cost of sales 16,685 6,259

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S 11. EE - THARREES
AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS [, e
(@ Directors’ and Chief Executive’s emoluments (a) ESRTHAZME
The emoluments paid or payable were as follows: B SRERNZEenT

2018 2017

—E-\F  —E %

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT FAET

Fees me 1,188 1,167

Other emoluments: HihB S -

Salaries and other benefits e REMmET 17,369 16,799
Contributions to retirement benefits IRUREFIFTEI R

scheme 799 780
Performance related incentive TR EEFIE

payment (Note i) (P &) 72,190 74,140

91,546 92,886

—E-)\FFH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

(continued)

(b)

Chief Executive’s emoluments

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung is also the Chief Executive of the
Company and his emoluments disclosed above include those
for services rendered by him as the Chief Executive.

Neither the Chief Executive nor any of the Directors has
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the years
ended 31 December 2018 and 2017.

Employees’ emoluments
For the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, all of the
five highest paid employees are Directors.

During both years, no emoluments were received or receivable
by the Directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

As disclosed in Note 41, the Group entered into purchase and
sale transactions with its ultimate holding company and its
fellow subsidiaries. The price is to be determined and agreed
between the parties from time to time with reference to the
prevailing market price. Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa, Mr. Cheung
Kwok Keung, Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping, Mr. Lam Ka Po and
Mr. Cheung Ka Ho, the executive Directors, are interested
in these transactions to the extent that they have indirect
beneficial interests in the fellow subsidiaries. In addition, Mr.
Cheung Kwok Wa, Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung, Mr. Cheung
Kwok Ping and Mr. Lam Ka Po have interests in the ultimate
holding company.

Save for the aforementioned transactions, no other significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts to which the
Company or the Group was a party and in which a director
of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME
12. DIVIDENDS 12. BRE
2018 2017
—E-N\F =5
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET FAxT
Dividends paid EIRERIRE
ZE - \FRERRE
2018 Interim dividend of HK17.5 cents BRRERR17.58(0
(2017: HK32.6 cents) per ordinary share (ZZF—+F : 32.6/8l) 539,175 1,004,406
ZE—EFRARE
2017 Final dividend of HK52.6 cents TR BARE2.675(l
(2016: HK18.5 cents) per ordinary share (* T—RF 1 18.571) 1,620,606 569,985
ZENFERIREARE
2016 Special final dividend of HK30.0 cents R BA%30.0781L
(2017: nil) per ordinary share (ZF—tF 1) = 924,300
2,159,781 2,498,691
Dividends proposed HERE
Proposed 2018 Final dividend of HK35.0 T\ FRERIRE
cents (2017: HK52.6 cents) TR mAR35.07 (L
per ordinary share (ZF—+1%F : 52.6/81l) 1,078,350 1,620,606
The final dividend of HK35.0 cents per ordinary share amounted to EERRERREE T —N\F+=A8
HK$1,078,350,000 in respect of the year ended 31 December 2018 —t+—HIEFERARESR T AR
(2017: final dividend of HK52.6 cents per ordinary share amounted to 35.078 1l - 4 %8 &1,078,350,0007% 7T
HK$1,620,606,000 in respect of the year ended 31 December 2017) —E—tF HEZFT—tF+ =
have been proposed by the directors and are subject to the approval A=+—HILEFERPHREFR TR
by the shareholders of the Company in the forthcoming annual f&52.67% 1l - & %8 & 1,620,606,0007%5
general meeting. J0) ¢ MEEREARA AR A FE JE AR SR

FREHA - TAFE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME
13. EARNINGS PER SHARE 13. BRER
The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to owners KAREFEAEEBREREFIZ T
of the Company is based on the following data: BIERTE
2018 2017
—B-N\F —F—tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FH&T THT
Profit for the year attributable to owners FiN/NSIEEYEPN e
of the Company FEEA 3,250,381 3,764,540

Number of shares

BAPEE
2018 2017

—EB—N\FE =5
‘000 ‘000
T % Th%

Number of ordinary shares for the purpose of  FTEFREREFZ

calculating basic earnings per share BT B 3,081,000 3,071,990
No diluted earnings per share for 2018 and 2017 was presented as AR —E - \ER_F—tFIEDH
there were no potential ordinary shares in issue for both years. TTBEERE  HZMELE278K
EEERR o
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14.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

145

14. REWHE

HK$’000
FET

FAIR VALUE NFE

At 1 January 2017 RZZE—+F—HA—H 1,285,755
Exchange adjustments T 5, 8 B 79,677
Gain on fair value changes N EZ S W 29,505
At 31 December 2017 RZE—tF+-A=+—H 1,344,937
Exchange adjustments TE 5 (48,151)
Gain on fair value changes N EEE 2 WS 91,056
At 31 December 2018 RZZE—\F+_A=+—H 1,387,842

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31 December
2018 had been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out by
Ravia Global Appraisal Advisory Limited (2017: Ravia Global Appraisal
Advisory Limited), an independent qualified valuer not connected to
the Group. Ravia Global Appraisal Advisory Limited is a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors. The valuation was determined
based on direct comparison method by reference to the market
observable transactions of similar properties and adjusted to reflect
conditions and locations of subject properties. There has been no
change from the valuation technique used in prior years.

In determining the fair value of the relevant properties, the Directors
has set up a valuation committee, which is headed up by the
persons in charge of financial matters of the Group to determine
the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair value
measurements.

The Group engages an independent valuer to perform its valuations.
The valuation committee works closely with the independent valuer
to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the
model. The persons in charge of financial matters report the valuation
committee’s findings to the Directors every quarter to explain the
cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the assets and liabilities.

REBREWER-_ZE-NF+=A
=+ —BZAFETZEAEEL ERE
BB A BRI EM R SRR
FRAEBRAR(ZE—LF  mERK
AHERAERAR)ETHEZ A EE
B InQIRMGHEBABRAR/RER
REMBEEE - AEDZERLEE
SLERUDEZ IBETISR AR
HBARRBBEMEZMRRARLERE
E o RBEFEMAZ HERMIL R
o

REEHEEYEZIAFE  EFRILM
EZE8g ITHAKEZHBEERE
ARBRE - UEEQFEAEZEEME
BT R ABUR

AEBRIBB L (HERMGE - HEZE
SHBYGEMETAE - HAHIEH
W2 BESERMRBABE - M5E
HABEASFRNEEFERMGEZESZ
#H - WREENBEATERDZE
B o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14, BEWHE =

The Group’s investment properties were classified as Level 3 of the AEEREMER-_ZT—N\FR_ZT
fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2018 and 2017. —tF+-A=+—HBoBEAEE=ZLR
FEZEEBRR o

The following table gives information about how the fair values TREVZEIREMEATLENETEN
of these investment properties are determined (in particular, the E(E =P B E R R AZUS)
valuation technique and inputs used), as well as the fair value A NIRAFEFF 28 A BB ] BRIE
hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are categorised EHBAFEAEDBZ AT EEBRR
(Level 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value (B—Z2=8) -

measurements is observable.

Investment properties
held by the Group in the
consolidated statement Fair value Valuation techniques Significant unobservable

of financial position hierarchy and key inputs inputs Sensitivity
FEERAGEHBMRREER  ATE
RAEZREME BER5 REXMREIZEBAZE EAXTTEERAZE
Industrial properties in Hong  Level 3 Direct comparison Price per square metre, using A significant increase in the price
Kong method with price per market direct comparable and  per square metre used would
square metre taking into account of location  result in a significant increase in
and other individual factors the fair value measurement of

such as road frontage, size of the investment properties, and
property etc., which is ranged vice versa.

from HK$41,426 to HK$41,555

(2017: HK$42,389 to

HK$42,862) per square metre.

REBNIRYE F= EEUBERETIAE RATSERTLENEREE STIRERARLIEEHEK
& fiEAREMENRRR (NG  EVENAFEFERBELT

HEE  MENSNGES RZMR-
KEE - NTEF KA, 4267

TLEM 555 (ZE—+F

42 38978 T 42,8628 7T ) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRARMEE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Investment properties
held by the Group in the
consolidated statement
of financial position
AEERGFEHBMRRE
REZREMF

Commercial properties in
Hong Kong

REBNEANE

Commercial properties in
Shanghai

RLEBNERNE

Fair value
hierarchy
AFE
BEME

Level 3

Level 3

Valuation techniques
and key inputs

fEERTREEGAZE

Direct comparison
method with price per
square metre

BEREBERETIK
{18

Direct comparison
method with price per
square metre

BEREBERETIK
B8

147

14, BEWE »

Significant unobservable
inputs

EXFUBRHAHE

Price per square metre, using
market direct comparable and
taking into account of location
and other individual factors such
as road frontage, size of property
etc., which is ranged from
HK$200,090 to HK$203,981
(2017: HK$168,650 to
HK$170,071) per square metre.

RAMBEETLENERER
I E AR E A 8 Bl E =44 (R
HEE  MEXNS)NETES
KER - NFEFF7K200,00
BILE203,981EL(ZE—+
F 1 168,650/ L E170,0717%
) e

Price per square metre, using
market direct comparable and
taking into account of location
and other individual factors

such as road frontage, size of
property etc., which is ranged
from RMB32,000 to RMB32,042
(2017: RMB28,000 to
RMB30,000) per square metre.

RAMBEETLENERER
B REBERRZE
(IMERATIERS - MEXDE)M
BERKER  NTEFEARA
R#32,00070E ARM32,0427T
(ZZ—+F : AR%28,0007T
Z= ARH30,0007T) °

Sensitivity

BRE

A significant increase in the price
per square metre used would
result in a significant increase in
the fair value measurement of
the investment properties, and
vice versa.

FFIRERARE LSRR
BYMENAFEHEAE LT
RZIA

A significant increase in the price
per square metre used would
result in a significant increase in
the fair value measurement of
the investment properties, and
vice versa.

BFIORERARE LSRR
BYMENAFEAEAE L
RZIA
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KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14, BEWHE =

Investment properties
held by the Group in the
consolidated statement
of financial position
AEERGFEHBMRRE
REZREMF

Fair value
hierarchy
AFE
BEEQE

Valuation techniques
and key inputs

Significant unobservable
inputs

Sensitivity

EEAREIEGAZE EXFTTRERAZE BRE

Commercial properties in Level 3 Direct comparison method  Price per square metre, using A significant increase in the price
Shenzhen with price per square metre market direct comparable and  per square metre used would
taking into account of location  result in a significant increase in
and other individual factors the fair value measurement of
such as road frontage, size of ~ the investment properties, and
property etc., which isranged  vice versa.
from RMB15,794 to RMB16,207
(2017: RMB15,000 to
RMB16,000) per square metre.
Nz llEsEETEER S E=R BEURERGTAAE RATSEETHENEREZ  STHRERKRELFHEEER
1 BRENREGERNEZR(I BNENATEFEAELA
FRATER  MERINF)NEBT R2MA-
FARER  NFETHRARE
15,794LE AR #16,2077L( =
T—+5 : AR¥15000TEA
K #16,0007T) ©
Commercial Shops in Level 3 Direct comparison method  Price per square metre, using A significant increase in the price
Qingyuan with price per square metre market direct comparable and  per square metre used would
taking into account of location  result in a significant increase in
and other individual factors the fair value measurement of
such as road frontage, size of ~ the investment properties, and
property etc., which isranged  vice versa.
from RMB10,000 to RMB10,360
(2017: RMB9,580 to RMB9,709)
per square metre.
PB R AL E=R BEURERGTHAE RETSEEINENERERE ST HREERKRE FHEEER
1 B AREMERNRRR (NGRS EMEOATESEAE LT
BE - WERNE)NETHRE RZTFA -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14, BEWHE =

Investment properties
held by the Group in the
consolidated statement
of financial position
AEERGRA MR R R
REZRENE

Fair value
hierarchy
A¥E
BRER5

Valuation techniques
and key inputs

Significant unobservable
inputs Sensitivity

EXTABRBANE BRE

CAEE S EET-PN ¢

Commercial properties in Level 3 Direct comparison method  Price per square metre, using A significant increase in the price
London with price per square metre market direct comparable and  per square metre used would

taking into account of location  result in a significant increase in
and other individual factors the fair value measurement of
such as road frontage, size of  the investment properties, and
property etc., which is ranged vice versa.
from GBP8,569 to GBP8,886
(2017: GBP8,427 to GBP8,858)
per square metre.

INGEGCOESIEEZES B=/ BEELBEREGT IR RETSEEALBRYER FFHREEAEAKE

B

There was no transfer into or out of Level 3 during the year.

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating leases
to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are measured
using the fair value model and are classified and accounted for as
investment properties. In estimating the fair value of the properties,
the highest and best use of the properties is their current use. There
has been no change from the valuation technique used in prior years.

EZEMEAREMEREE
% (nERIERS - WEKRN

L)NFFEFAESE - NT

G 77 5K8,569H §E 5 8,886
B (T —+F 8427
$5758,8584E) o

BIREMENRFEFEXR
fELET RZIFA -

FA - WERE=RPIBANEL

AEERRIES S E AR ELRBEL
BHENBBE BN E#ES - AN A
RNHERNFTE - YN BRINERED
¥ o MERTMEZQATER  MEZEK
SERERERBNAS - RBEFE
PR (i E M R E) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRARMIEE

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

15. PROPERTIES, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

15. Y% - BMEKRRE

Properties,
plant and
Furniture, equipment
Leasehold Plant and Licenced fixtures and Motor under
Buildings  improvements machinery assets equipment vehicles  construction Total
B4 RE  BHo2E i3
g7 NERE  BRREE ®REE e ] e BRRRR A
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TEn TER TEn TER TEn
(Note)
(W)
CosT FiA
At1 January 2017 KZ5-+F-A-A 1,289,207 22,445 7,520,052 2,186,769 564,438 60,164 344,698 11,987,773
Exchange adjustments EH% 47852 1,367 452,855 151,921 25,479 3,653 20,545 703,672
Addttions B 894 8,702 341471 21,141 229,754 6,957 226,341 841,866
Trangfer fom properties held for BB BHLENZ (H3526)
development (Note 26) 179,254 - - - - - - 179,254
Disposals and write off it RS - - (59,504) (65,056) (7,552) (5.911) (20,148) (158,191)
Reclassfications ] 57 - 102,811 - 3233 - (135,191) -
At 31 December 2017 RZE-tF+ZA=1-H 1,517,264 3514 8,357,665 2,301,381 844,442 64,863 436,245 13,554,374
Exchange adjustments iR (17,509) (260) (417,531) (106,032) (37,763) (1558) (20,221) (600,874)
Addttions B - - 412,180 5619 57,242 7613 376,423 859,077
Disposals and write off it RS (2,124) - (267,943 - 16,435) 2,065) (1,597) (290,164)
Reclassfications Efipr 187,899 - 271,340 - (207,997) - (251,242 -
At 31 December 2018 RZE-\ETZA=T-A 1,685,530 32,254 8,355,711 2,200,968 639,489 68,853 539,608 13,522,413
DEPRECIATION AND IMPARMENT T R fE
At1 January 2017 KZ5—+F-f-A 287,565 12,683 5,292,401 1,870,901 363,741 42,748 - 7870029
Exchange adjustments EF 10978 648 233,3% 131,985 17,703 2,142 - 396,851
Provided for the year TFERE 15,543 2207 433745 71075 41,439 4211 - 568,220
Eliminated on disposals and wite off f\&E53H8H RisH - - (51436) (48,662) (6,152) (5,139) - (111,389
At 31 December 2017 RZE-tF+ZA=1+-A 314,076 15,538 5,908,105 2,025,299 416,731 43,962 - 8,723,711
Exchange adjustments EHEE (2.281) (127) (272,308) (94,918) (17,95 (1,035 - (388,619)
Provided for the year TFERE 13,521 2,102 440313 67,576 61,714 5,068 - 590,300
Eliminated on disposals and write off (&R 35 i 8 (3.861) - (212,689 - (3208) (1918 - (221,69)
Redlassfication EE g 3,959 - 13 - (3972) - - -
At 31 December 2018 RZE-\ETZA=T-A 325,420 17,513 5,863,436 1,997,957 453,293 46,017 - 8,703,696
CARRYING VALUE Sl
At 31 December 2018 RZE-NE+-A=1-H 1,360,110 14,741 2,492,215 203,011 186,196 22,776 539,608 4,818,717
At 31 December 2017 RZE-tF+ZA=1-A 1,203,188 16,976 2,449,560 276,082 41,11 20901 436,245 4,830,663

ANNUAL REPORT 2018



ZHEEBERERERLQF 151

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

15. PROPERTIES, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. Y% - BERZE#E

(continued)

The above items of properties, plant and equipment (other than those Pt - BERREEE (KRERE

under construction) are depreciated on a straight-line basis after BN EZERFIGEBRBRIZNUNTFEL

taking into account of their residual values at the following rates per KABREERNTE -

annum:

Buildings* Over the remaining unexpired BF BERBHARIBRAR
terms of the leases ranging TR E) F H B
from twenty to fifty years “tHERTF

Leasehold improvements 10-20% iEROkyE 32319 10 -20%

Plant and machinery* 10-20% RS Bt as 10 - 20%

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 10-33"/5% B RENMEE 10-33/%

Motor vehicles* 20% A 20%

* Including those grouped under licenced assets. . PRESEEREFEHAEENZSEE -

Note: BiE -

Licenced assets comprised of the following: P REERENTSIE

Plant and Motor
Buildings machinery vehicles Total
#F ME R RE &t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FExT FET FExT
COoSsT BOAR
At 1 January 2017 R-ZE—+F—A—H 327,512 1,850,568 8,689 2,186,769
Exchange adjustments I 5 % 22,090 129,218 613 151,921
Additions RE 4617 22175 955 27,747
Disposals and written off L R gH (28,158) (36,054) (844) (65,056)
At 31 December 2017 HW-Z—+F+-A=+—8 326,061 1,965,907 9,413 2,301,381
Exchange adjustments & 5 (15,159) (90,439) (434) (106,032)
Additions e 4,456 1,163 - 5,619
At 31 December 2018 R-Z—N\E+-A=+—A~ 315,358 1,876,631 8,979 2,200,968
DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT 8 RRE
At 1 January 2017 W-E—+F—H—H 145,036 1,717,176 8,689 1,870,901
Exchange adjustments EH AR 9,303 122,100 582 131,985
Provided for the year N SR 3,638 67,379 58 71,075
Eliminated on disposals and written off R R 8 MBS (27,028) (20,824) (810) (48,662)
At 31 December 2017 W-Z—+F+-A=+—8 130,949 1,885,831 8,519 2,025,299
Exchange adjustments R (6,141) (88,383) (394) (94,918)
Provided for the year INE SR 3,249 64,268 59 67,576
At 31 December 2018 RZZB—NE+=A=+—8 128,057 1,861,716 8,184 1,997,957
CARRYING VALUE AREE
At 31 December 2018 WZZ—-N\F+=ZA=+—H 187,301 14,915 795 203,011
At 31 December 2017 RZT—tF+=-A=+—H 195,112 80,076 894 276,082
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

15.

PR aR M

PROPERTIES, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

Note: (continued)

On 3 August 2011 and 30 August 2013 and 28 August 2015, a subsidiary of
Kingboard Copper Foil Holdings Limited (‘KBCF” or the “Licensor”) (KBCF is a listed
subsidiary of the Group), entered into a licence agreement and a letter of extension
and amendments with Harvest Resource Management Limited (the “Licencee”), a
third party, to licence KBCF’s copper foil manufacturing facilities located at Fogang
and Lianzhou to the Licencee for the period from 1 September 2011 to 31 August
2017. On 30 August 2017, the Licensor entered into a letter of extension and
amendments with Licencee and extended the licence period for a further period of
two years to 31 August 2019. The details of the licence arrangement which remained
unchanged, are as follows:

0] to use the leasehold properties, comprising factory buildings in Fogang and
Lianzhou;

(ii) to use, consume and dispose of the inventories which shall include
consumables and stocks in trade; and

(iii) to use the machinery, together with all other equipment and facilities as
from time to time located at the properties in Fogang and Lianzhou.

The licenced properties, plant and equipment tabulated above and the licenced
inventories in Note 21 were licenced for licence income of HK$10,000,000 per
month payable in advance on the first day of each and every calendar month, as a
measure by KBCF to generate income from the manufacturing facilities, pending the
resolution of the interested party transactions issue, relating to the manufacturing
and trading of copper foil, with the non-controlling shareholder of KBCF (Note 38(b))
and the approval of the interested party transactions mandated by the shareholders
and/or when KBCF clinched new third parties customers for the sales of copper foil.
Accordingly, the licenced properties, plant and equipment have been classified as
licenced assets under properties, plant and equipment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME
16. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS 16. FA{JHEFRIE

HK$’°000

FHxT

At 1 January 2017 RZZE—+F—HA—H 396,096

Addition INE 29,925
Exchange adjustments T 5, 8 B 20,039
Charge for the year RFEEZH (9,312

At 31 December 2017 R-_E—+HF+_-_A=+—H 436,748

Addition NE 101,067
Exchange adjustments TE 5 (15,245)
Charge for the year AEFEL M (10,916)

At 31 December 2018 NR-E—-—NFE+-_A=1+—8H 511,654

2018 2017

—E-N\E —E—tfF

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FET FAT

Analysed for reporting purposes as: MEmELTWT -

Current assets BB E 10,004 10,291
Non-current assets IERBEE 501,650 426,457

511,654 436,748

—E-)\FFH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

17. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR 17. BAFEFTABRZE
VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS =T H
2018
—E-N\F
HK$°000
FET
Financial assets measured at FVTPL: BAFEFABEZ ERMEE
Listed securities listed in Hong Kong REB LMz EhESH 284,776
At 31 December 2018, the fair values of the listed securities held by RZE—-—N\F+ZA=+—H ' *5E
the Group, determined by reference to the quoted market bid prices BENLEMESFZATFEMEL2ENS
available, amounted to HK$284,776,000. MISWREEETT ) £284,776,000/8 7T °

18. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FAIRVALUE 18. B A¥EFAHMEME

N2
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Wz Z*EEI,\
INCOME
2018
—E-N\F
HK$’000
FET
Unlisted equity investments at fair value: JFEETRFIRE  RAFE
— private equity investments in Hong Kong (Note) — BB BRI E () 8,124
Note:  The amount represents the 19.67% (2017: 19.67%) interest in a private MisE : ZEeRER MR EBELESEMK
entity incorporated in the British Virgin Islands which is engaged in the N ZAEEEZ19.67%(ZT—+1F :
property development business in Hong Kong. The private entity is held by 10.67%) M - ZAEEERE RS
the Group and other investment funds, and it currently holds a commercial MEBRRER - FNEBREMBEES
mix office building situated in Hong Kong. The private entity further BAZALEERE  HRRES RN
held 20% of interest of the building project thus the Group effectively BEAZEXRBTERNE - LWETEHE
participated 4.7% of the property. BHZAEEE20%MER « Bt AEE
BREBZWENLT% -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

19. DEBT INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

Listed bond securities, at fair value:

155

—8-N\F

HK$’000
FET

EHESFES  BRATE

— listed on the Stock Exchange and issued by listed issuers  — & 2417 AZEATIURBERS BT

in Hong Kong with fixed coupon interests 9.85% per
annum and maturity date on 26 November 2020

W BAEL8EEFES
WHRZZE_ZF+—A=+BF

B 797,706
— listed on the SGX and issued by listed issuers in — BB EMBITABITERIRAT L
Hong Kong with fixed coupon interests ranging o BAEFENT4.75E%E9.85E
from 4.75% to 9.85% per annum and maturity ZEFER WWN_ZTE-_ZTF=A
date from 29 March 2020 to 27 January 2024 —thAHEZZE-_NFE—-HF=-++
HEI8 5,336,953
6,134,659

At 31 December 2018, the fair values of the listed bond securities
are determined by reference to the valuation provided by the pricing
vender based on its own valuation techniques because of lack of an
active market.

Included in debt instruments at FVTOCI are the following amounts
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the
group entities in which they are held:

United States Dollar (US$) ETT

KRB N\F+-_A=+—8 " @R
SERMES - EMEHFESFHATES
ZEEEHREE S SNEERNTAE
HEET -

BAVERARMBEERSEZEFTA
BRETIINEEERMHER RN
SNEREETEZ R

2018
—B-N\F

HK$’000
FET

6,134,659

—E-)\FFH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

20. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS 20. A[ftH€&i#&R%

2017
—E—tF
HK$’'000
FAT
AFS investments comprise: AR HERE R
Listed investments, at fair value: EHRE(RAFEYE)
— equity securities listed in Hong Kong — BB LT ZBRAES 223,300
Listed bond securities, at fair value: FHESFBESFRRATAESIE)
— listed on the SGX and issued by listed issuers in —REFIRFT EmYRES LT
Hong Kong with fixed coupon interests ranging BITAET ABFENT
from 4.75% to 8.75% per annum and maturity 4.75[EE8.75]8
date from 13 January 2022 to 29 March 2024 ZEEES - HHHA
—EIF—A+=A=%
ZEIMNF=A=+NH 2,274,619
— Listed on CSX and issued by listed issuers in —RASHEEFRZH EMIHA
Hong Kong with a fixed coupon interest 3.875% EAEEMEITART BEBER
per annum with maturity date on 20 November 2018 3875EZETEEE - HHAA
—F/\Ft+—HA=tH 778,986
Unlisted equity investments, at cost: FE EMRERINE GRKASIE)
— private equity investment in Hong Kong —REBZLEERIRE 8,124
3,285,029
Analysed for reporting purposes as: MIMEDTLT -
- Current assets —mEAE 778,986
— Non-current assets —FNBEE 2,506,043
3,285,029
As at 31 December 2017, all listed AFS investments were stated at R_ZB—+tF+=—A=+—8 " FiEa"
fair value. Fair values of the listed bond securities were determined by HEE EMRESIRAFETE - AR
reference to the valuation provided by the pricing vendor based on its RZEEME - EMERSFESFAFETD
own valuation techniques because of lack of an active market. The B2EFTEEHFRBERSOGERN
unlisted equity investments were stated at cost less impairment. R ZEEET o IFLEMERRERK

AHBRRETIRR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

20. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

(continued)

Included in AFS investments were the following amounts denominated
in a currency other than the functional currency of the group entities
to which they were held:

Us$ e
HK$ BT

157

20. fHHEKRE

AHLERERRTIINEREERRA
ZWREEEIASNE B ETHEZ R

2017
—E—+F

HK$'000
TET

3,061,729
223,300

As detailed in note 2, the Group’s AFS investments as at 31
December 2017 have been reclassified to appropriate categories of
financial assets upon adoption of HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018.

21. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS/
OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

This represents inventories licenced to the Licencee (see Note 15).
Under the licencing agreement, the licencee may use, consume and
dispose of the Licenced inventories which include consumables and
stocks in trade. However, the licencee is required to replace and
return the quantities of the licenced inventories used, consumed or
disposed of during the licenced period to the Licensor at the end of
the licence period.

The licenced inventories has been reclassified from other non-current
assets to other current assets as the licence will expire on 31 August
2019.

The licenced inventories used, consumed or disposed during the
licence period are secured by cash and bills receivables of a related
party of the Licencee, with a total receivable value of not less than the
value of the licenced inventories used, consumed or disposed of as at
the end of the reporting period.

WM FE2fT R R —N\F—A—
ARME BV ERRELEIFKE - K
EER=Z—tF+ZA=1+—HBHT
HHEREEFT I EACHEENEE
$E7) -

21. HtERBHEE Hitb
RENEE

N
AL

BTy R A (R EE16) A r e
B o RIBEFEEER R - BREARRE
A RRRLEREERAFE B4 e
ESRMRESEE - A REEE
RS RE - EREARAREAEZE
FMRENEEEMHRCER - A%
HENRECRTFEHE -

ARECAAESR -_Z—NENA
=t+—RER REEAFEBEEMWD
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

22. DEFERRED TAXATION 22.

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets
recognised and movements thereon during the current and prior
reporting period:

IEFERIH

THRARRERHEBTEREHMEANE
WeR2 + BRATBUAR (B DA R
2 B

Fair value
change of
investment Revaluation
properties of properties Others Total
REMEZ
AR EEE YIS Hith a5t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET THET THET FHET
At 1 January 2017 RZZE—tF—H—H (9,577) (82,550) 2,711 (89,416)
Credit to consolidated FFAZRAERE
statement of profit or loss - 3,057 405 3,462
At 31 December 2017 R-ZT—+4F
+=-A=+—~H 9,577) (79,493) 3,116 (85,954)
Credit to consolidated SFAGZEBEER
statement of profit or loss - 3,057 918 3,975
At 31 December 2018 R N\F
+=—RA=+—H (9,577) (76,436) 4,034 (81,979)

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial
reporting purposes:

VAN SRS R 3R 1 AR B R T IA
AT

2018 2017

—E-N\F —T—+F

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FH&T T

Deferred tax assets EEFRIBEE 3,527 2,882
Deferred tax liabilities EERHIEEE (85,506) (88,836)
(81,979) (85,954)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses
of approximately HK$104,763,000 (2017: HK$163,695,000) available
for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. All tax
losses will be expired gradually within five years to year 2024 (2017:
year 2023).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RMEE
23. GOODWILL 23. &
HK$'000
FETT
CARRYING VALUE BREE
At 1 January 2017, 31 December 2017 and R=—E—tF—HF—H"
31 December 2018 —E—+tF+ZA=+—HEK
—E—-N\F+=-A=+—H 238
24. INVENTORIES 24. EE&
2018 2017
—EB-N\F I
HK$’000 HK$’000
R Tt
Raw materials B 775,027 564,465
Work in progress EEE 398,193 254,229
Finished goods BIpK M 537,283 134,789
1,710,503 953,483
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
AND PREPAYMENTS AND BILLS
RECEIVABLES

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

25. %5&,\@@\4&&5%&

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FHET FBT

Trade receivables B 5 MR TR 3,758,054 4,466,621
Less: Allowance for credit losses/doubtful debts & : {ZE 518 IZREHE (464,486) (431,807)
Trade receivables, net R IR 5 3,293,568 4,034,814
Advance to suppliers TERHE FER IR 364,380 339,333
Interest income receivables FEUH] B U A 106,632 33,243
Prepaid expenses and deposits TERAX RiEe 278,070 241,533
Value-added tax (“VAT”) recoverable AR EEER ([1EER]) 162,933 86,810

LAT on pre-sale residential units BEFETEEN 2 TIHIBETR

(Note) (P3E) - 7,035
Other receivables Ho A pEUBR R 38,582 33,030
4,244,165 4,775,798

Bills receivables EWEE 2,944,491 3,150,609
7,188,656 7,926,407

Note:  The amount represents the provisional LAT prepaid to the PRC tax
authority based on the latest completion status of the development
projects. The final assessment will be carried out upon sales of properties
at the completion of development projects.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
AND PREPAYMENTS AND BILLS
RECEIVABLES (continued)

The Group allows credit periods of up to 120 days (2017: 120
days), depending on the products sold to its trade customers. The
following is an aging analysis of trade receivables net of allowance for
credit losses/doubtful debts based on invoice date at the end of the
reporting period:

"

25.

161

AEEGRTESIRFPZEEHERS
1208 (=Z—+4F : 1208) * Bl
EEMME - RBEHEERER £
MREEEE 2R EE  BHEK
R RERENEZ AT ¢

2018 2017

—E-N\E —E—+F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET BT

0-90 days 0Z90H 2,228,048 3,010,539
91-180 days 91%180H 1,007,284 968,249
Over 180 days 180 A 58,236 56,026
3,293,568 4,034,814

Bills receivables of the Group are all aged within 0-90 days (2017:
0-90 days) since invoice date at the end of the reporting period. All
bills received by the Group are with a maturity period of less than one
year.

Before accepting any new customers, the Group has an internal credit
grading system to assess the potential customers’ credit quality and
the Directors have delegated the management to be responsible for
determination of credit limits and credit approvals for any customers.
Limits and scoring attributed to customers are reviewed every year.
About 83% (2017: 77%) of the trade receivables, that are neither past
due nor impaired, have the best credit scoring attributable under the
credit grading system used by the Group.

As at 31 December 2017, included in the Group’s trade receivables
balance were debtors with aggregate carrying amount of
HK$609,967,000 which were past due at the reporting date for
which the Group had not provided for impairment loss as the Group
considers that these debtors were financially stable. The Directors are
of the opinion that these amounts were recoverable. The Group does
not hold any collateral over these balances. The average age of these
receivables was 137 days.

R|MEHR - AEBERKERE 2 RKRS
RBEERHREFT0ER(ZF—+F :
0E90H)ZA - AEBEREWAMAERE
BR—FRBH -

EERMERHEFA - ARBERBER
AEHEEHEERPZERER
EXCIRERERERENTPERE
FERELEEMZ BEFPZRER
AOEGFEEN - H8B%(ZF— 5 :
77%) BB H SR E < B 5 e R R
AEBMRAZERTRNEZRB(E
RS

RZE—+tF+=ZA=+—H &~&%EH
B RWER R HBERERKERER - 45K
Tl {8 £609,967,0007 7T © R ¥RE B 5
B - NEEWERZSIEER
BERERE  REAARNEERE  #
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
AND PREPAYMENTS AND BILLS
RECEIVABLES (continued)

As at 31 December 2017, aging of trade receivables which were past
due but not impaired were as follows:

RZZ—+F+-HA=+—0H @mHE
EREE S RUIRRZ BRRIT

2017
T —F
HK$’000
FHT

Overdue: AEf
0-30 days 0&30H 119,456
31-60 days 31£260H 271,515
61-90 days 61290H 164,237
Over 90 days HRiE0H 54,759
609,967

The Group had fully provided for all receivables that were overdue
over 240 days because historical experience is such that these
receivables were generally not recoverable. Allowance on trade
receivables which have been overdue for less than 240 days are
made based on estimated irrecoverable amounts by reference to
past default experience and objective evidence of impairment as
determined by the management.

In determining the recoverability of the trade receivables, the Group
monitors any changes in the credit quality of the trade receivables
since the credit was granted and up to the end of the reporting
period. The Directors consider that the Group has no significant
concentration of credit risk on its trade and other receivables, with
exposure spread over a number of counterparties and customers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME
5% +
25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 25. E%E,\@ngﬂﬁﬁfk&
AND PREPAYMENTS AND BILLS BENEZEREREE
RECEIVABLES (continueq)
The following is @ movement in the allowance for doubtful debt during UTREZ=-F—+F+-A=+—H
the year ended 31 December 2017: IFEEBHREEM 2 EE) -
2017
—E—+F
HK$’'000
FBT
Balance at 1 January R—A—Hz&% 334,433
Amount written off as uncollectible i E A A 2 /I8 2,741)
Impairment loss recognised on trade receivables HE 5 MR IR < R EEE 81,211
Exchange adjustments bE 5% 18,904
Balance at 31 December R+—A=+—RBz& 431,807
As at 31 December 2017, included in the allowance for doubtful RZT—+F+-H=+—H  RE*%
debts are individually impaired trade receivables with an aggregate HEREERNEREL 2 ERERER - &
balance of HK$431,807,000 which have either been placed under 48 £431,807,0008 7T * ZERIEA
liquidation or in severe financial difficulties. The Group does not hold BERNEAM BRI T 28 o« "E
any collateral over these balances. BEpZEEn T EREEAERR -
As at 31 December 2018, included in the Group’s trade RZE—N\F+=_A=+—H £~&EH
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount WE S EBERRERBIERRE BB
of HK$542,619,000 which are past due as at the reporting date. 31 2 /9 B T 48 {8 542,619,0007% 7T §) &
Included in the past due balances is HK$58,236,000 which has been WikaE - @ HA R E P - 58,236,00078
past due over 90 days or more and is not considered as in default TTEMEI0 AL - EREBEZER,
based on good repayment records for those customers. RITHERRLE: - BEARIT AR AE
7o
Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables for HE-_Z—-\F+ZA=+—HIF
the year ended 31 December 2018 are set out in note 35(b). e %%&Ef’@ﬁ%”ﬂlﬁ%m&ﬁ@ﬁ@ﬁﬁ%
BRI FES5 (D) °
Included in trade and other receivables and bills receivables are B REMEWRERRERERBET
the following amounts denominated in a currency other than the TIAS B BB 2 e EEELAINE S
functional currency of the group entities to which they relate: FHEZ FREE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TER FAET
Us$ ET 201,052 191,763
HKS$ AT 399,765 425,152

—E— ) \FFRK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

26. PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT  26. 5% REY%

Movements of properties held for development are as follows: FEEMEEEBNOT

HK$’'000

FAxT

At 1 January 2017 RZZE—+F—HA—H 4,503,194
Exchange adjustments [ 5, 8 B 282,055
Additions INE 635,349
Transfer to cost of sales R HEM AR (1,210,370)
Transfer to properties, plant and equipment (Note 15) HEEYE - B MR (HIEE15) (179,254)
At 31 December 2017 R-_E—+HF+-_A=+—H 4,030,974
Effect on adoption of HKFRS 15 FaNE SR ELER|F155R A2 69,684
At 1 January 2018 (restated) RZTE—-NF—-A—RB (&) 4,100,658
Exchange adjustments TE W % (119,825)
Additions NE 123,651
Transfer to cost of sales R HEMA (1,969,818)
At 31 December 2018 R-ZZE—N\F+=_A=+—H 2,134,666

Properties held for development are situated in the PRC with medium-
term leases and are stated at cost at 31 December 2018 and 2017.
As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, all the properties are still under
development.

Properties held for development with carrying amount of
approximately HK$1,969,818,000 (2017: HK$1,210,370,000) were
completed and sold to third parties. The remaining balance as at
31 December 2018 was related to properties that were still under
development.

Included in the amount are properties held for development
with carrying amount of approximately HK$824,589,000 (2017:
HK$754,389,000) that are expected to be realised after one year from
the end of the reporting period.

In the opinion of the Directors, the properties held for development
were classified as current assets as the properties were held for sale
upon completion of construction within the Group’s normal operating
cycle.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

27.

AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) FELLOW  27.

SUBSIDIARIES

Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries FEUS B 0 88 & R FIA
— trade nature, neither past due nor impaired ~ —&S14% - mE s RE

165

FEW (F3) B &K B2 T

FIE

2018 2017
—2-NF —E—t%

HK$’000 HK$’000
FET TATT

58,158 439,356

The Group allows credit periods normally up to 120 days for sales
to its fellow subsidiaries. The amounts due are non-interest bearing,
unsecured and aged within 90 days at the end of the reporting period.

Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries FEAST[R) 22 B3 BB 2 B3R IE
— trade nature, neither past due nor impaired ~ —&S14% - mEHSRE

REBRBELRTEHRREMNBARZE
B —REEA1208 - ZSEWFUA
BB RERR - HIRERY AREERE
HEREALMWIOAZA -

2018 2017
—E-N\F —TtF

HK$’000 HK$’000
FET TATT

48,378 46,276

The amounts due to fellow subsidiaries have repayment terms of less
than 30 days. The amounts due are non-interest bearing, unsecured
and aged within 90 days at the end of the reporting period.

FET R Z BB 2 RIRIA 2 B D130
B - ZEFRNFRB/RERERT - K&
FREcI9 RIS HIRARE A0 2
A o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHwRRME
28. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 28. IRITHEHBRKRIES
Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group. At 31 RITEB LA SEEAEEZEE
December 2018, the Group’s bank balances carry interest at the L RE—N\E+-A=+—H8 X«
prevailing market interest rates which range from 0.01% to 0.9% EBEPITHEBBERITMSFERNENT
(2017: 0.01% to 0.9%) per annum. 0.01EZE09E(=ZZT—tF : 001EE
0.9 )&t&E °
At 31 December 2018, the Group had bank balances and cash that R—_E—-N\HF+-_A=+—H8 K
were not freely convertible or were subject to exchange controls EBETAARHBKRAS D HINE
in the PRC amounted to approximately HK$1,502,787,000 (2017: EHIFTRREZIETEBR LIRS A
HK$1,440,431,000). 1,502,787,000 /% 7T ( = & — £ F -
1,440,431,000/87T) °
Included in bank balances and cash are the following amounts FITHRSRIES A T A EE T2
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the B2 Thae B ASNG BE S HE 2 FNEE

group entities to which they relate:

2018 2017

—E-N\E —E—+F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET T

Us$ =TT 420,395 122,624
HK$ BT 1,318,613 2,046,282
Great British Pound (“GBP”) g 13,576 258,794
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHwRME
29. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 20 ESRHMEMNERARAR
BILLS PAYABLES AND CONTRACT ENEERESHNEE
LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables and bills payables EZRHMEMNRRRENRE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —
HK$’000 HK$’000
FH&T THT
Trade payables B S ENIRR 1,284,816 1,081,601
Accrued expenses JEIRE A 418,684 367,892
Payables for acquisition of properties, BEWE  BELREEZ
plant and equipment FEIFERK 63,111 150,880
Receipts in advance TR IR = 153,634
Other tax payables HAFENTLIA 637,737 675,426
VAT payables FERHISER 154,686 240,026
LAT payables JES T HIBER 457,990 -
Other payables E b FERTBRR 178,752 63,388
3,195,776 2,732,847
Bills payables (Note) FERT SRR (B 5E) 248,352 460,016
3,444,128 3,192,863
Note:  Included in bills payables as at 31 December 2018 was payables for Wex: RZZ—N\FE+-_A=+—8 ENZ=
acquisition of properties, plant and equipment of HK$51,151,000 (2017: EEFES51,151,0008 T ( —FE—+4F
HK$117,918,000). 117,918,000/8 L) A EW X - B&E
R BRI R RIE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

29. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 20 B REMENIER
BILLS PAYABLES AND CONTRACT ENEEREHNERE -
LIABILITIES (continued)

Trade and other payables and bills payables (continued) ESRHMEMNRRREMSRERE
()
The following is an aged analysis of trade payables based on the B 5 e (T BE SR AR 12 3 2 O B A SRS HARY
invoice date at the end of the reporting period: R ERBEOFOT
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FERT T
0-90 days 0Z90H 1,178,684 935,237
91-180 days 91%£180H 49,192 114,424
Over 180 days 180H A £ 56,940 31,940
1,284,816 1,081,601
The average credit period on purchase of goods is 90 days (2017: 90 BEERMTHEENAROVA(ZE
days). The Group has financial risk management policies in place to —+tF :90R) - AEEBRITHH R
ensure that all payables are settled within the credit time frame. S B IR R MR P JE AT SIS B AT

RAEE °

Bills payables of the Group are aged within 90 days (2017: 90 days) AEERMNER 2RI RS HELA
at the end of the reporting period. RIEMIOB (=T —+4F : 00H) 2R
Included in trade and other payables and bills payables are the B RHMEMERRENREERET
following amounts denominated in currencies other than the functional AR EE SRR 2 A B LAINEHE
currency of the group entities to which they relate: FHEZ 3R
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET T
uss$ e 523,941 589,005
HK$ BT 23,817 112,523
Japanese Yen (“JPY”) H 15,936 65,658
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

29. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 20.

BILLS PAYABLES AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continued)

Contract liabilities

169

31.12.2018 1.1.2018*
=EB-N\F —TN\F

+=A=+-R —A—RB*
HK$’000 HK$’'000
Tt T
Sales of properties HEME 941,797 3,442,249

Sales of glass epoxy laminates, HERAKBEEEIRNmR -

paper laminates and upstream materials MR SR E AR 2 LRkt 107,274 153,634
1,049,071 3,595,883

* The amounts in this column are after the adjustments for the application of ZHeRLERT AV KR RERE

HKFRS 15 (details as set out in note 2).

Certain amount of contract liabilities arising from sales of properties
as at 31 December 2018, are expected to be realised after one year
at the end of the reporting period. The entire amount of contract
liabilities arising from sales of glass epoxy laminates, paper laminates
and upstream materials as at 31 December 2018, are expected to be
realised within one year at the end of the reporting period.

The following table sets out the revenue recognised in the current
year relating to contract liabilities at 1 January 2018.

Revenue recognised that was included inthe 5T A-ZE—\FE—HF—HAHX
contract liabilities balance at 1 January 2018 B (E&AHHIDERL ¥5E

1698 (R RMTEE2) R FH%E -

RZB-NF+ZA=+—0H  #HEY
ENAWABE T2RRENHEH
REFF—FREH -RT-N\F+=
A=Z+—H  HERAWBEEERE
R AEFER R EHFOROEHAE
REERENRERREF —FAE
=

AEER T N\F-A—HNAHA
EHERREEEIIT

Sales of glass

epoxy laminates,

paper laminates
and upstream Sales of
materials properties

HERERE

A EER

M7 S AR K2
LEiwme HEME
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FERT

153,634 3,270,473
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

29. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND

BILLS PAYABLES AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continued)

Contract liabilities (continued)

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract
liabilities recognised are as follows:

Sales of properties

The Group typically receives a 30% to 50% of the contract
value as deposits from customers on entering of a sale
and purchase agreement of properties and will receive the
remaining contracted sum prior to customers obtaining
control of the respective properties. The deposits and
advance payment schemes result in contract liabilities being
recognised throughout the property construction period until
the customer obtains control of the completed property.

In addition, the Group considers the advance payment
schemes contain significant financing component and
accordingly the amount of consideration is adjusted for the
effects of the time value of money taking into consideration
the credit characteristics of the relevant group entities. As
this accrual increases the amount of the contract liability
during the period of construction, it increases the amount of
revenue recognised when control of the completed property is
transferred to the customer.

Sales of glass epoxy laminates, paper laminates and upstream
materials

When the Group receives a deposit before the production
activity commences, this will give rise to contract liabilities
at the start of a contract, until the revenue recognised when
control of the goods has transferred, being when the goods
have been delivered. The Group typically receives a 30% to
50% deposit on acceptance of manufacturing orders.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

30. BANK BORROWINGS

30. $RITEBE

171

2018 2017
—B-N\F —FtF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FHET
Unsecured A
Bank loans IRITEN 5,842,500 3,362,500
Trust receipt loans EREWIEE R - 39,610
5,842,500 3,402,110
Carrying amount repayable*: AR T FI B (EE 2 BRE(E”
Within one year —FR 1,033,077 359,610
More than one year, but not more than two years — LA H{E R BRE 933,077 933,077
More than two years but not more than MEA EETEBR=F
three years 933,077 933,077
More than three years but not more than —FUAEETNBBRF
five years 2,938,269 1,173,846
More than five years AFENE 5,000 2,500
5,842,500 3,402,110
The carrying amounts of bank loans that M 75 ZE A S IR (B IR O 1550
contain a repayment on demand clause RITIEEREEG ARE
(shown under current liabilities) but repayable: & 1&){BZEMNLA T EIEIEE -
Within one year —F R 10,000 10,000
More than one year, but not more than two years — LA H{B N ERBMAE 10,000 10,000
More than two years but not more than ME A EETEBR=F
three years 10,000 10,000
More than three years but not more than —FUAEETNBBRT
five years 12,500 20,000
More than five years HFA - 2,500
42,500 52,500
Carrying amount repayable within one year WA BN EHREERN
without repayment on demand clause ERERN—FREMNHEERE 1,023,077 349,610
Amounts due within one year shown —FREEZFIE - 5 A
under current liabilities mé)ﬁ’% & 1,065,577 402,110
Add: Amounts shown under non-current A RERESBE A
liabilities 4,776,923 3,000,000
5,842,500 3,402,110
* The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out in the * FE SR DENER RE AN TEEER
loan agreements. HEBIR ©

—ZF—
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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30. BANK BORROWINGS (continued) 30. ﬁE'fT'fE E(%)
Variable-rate bank borrowings at 31 December 2018 carry interest RZE—NEFE+=-A=+—08 " FER
ranging from Hong Kong Inter-Bank Offer Rate (“HIBOR”) + 1.02% TEENFMENTEEBBETRERE
to HIBOR + 1.5% (2017: HIBOR + 1.02% to HIBOR + 1.60%) per (TEBBRTRZERE D IN.02EEZEH
annum. RITRERBIMSE(ZZE—+F: &
BIRTRIZEFREI .02EZHBREITRH
¥R BE .60 )T -
The range of effective interest rates (which are also equal to REFIRTEEZERMER(TERE
contracted interest rates) on the Group’s bank borrowings is 1.75% HFER)BEENFTFFE1.75EZE3.74
10 3.74% (2017: 1.39% to 2.79%) per annum. [B(ZZ—+tF 1.39EE2.79F )15 -
Included in bank borrowings are the following amounts denominated RITEEBRETINEEETREE T
in currencies other than the functional currency of the group entities REEAINE A 25

to which they relate:

2017
—EB-N\F —TtE
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FBT
HK$ I 5,842,500 3,402,110
31. SHARE CAPITAL 31. BA&
Authorised Issued and fully paid
SEE ERTRAZR
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
BAEE ot | BB E ot |
’000 HK$’000 ’000 HK$°000
T A& FHET T A& T
Ordinary shares of SREEA0BILZ
HK$0.10 each: TR
At 1 January 2017 R-ZE—+F—HA—H 20,000,000 2,000,000 3,000,000 300,000
Exercise of share options FT{ERE A4 (P5E33)
(Note 33) - - 81,000 8,100
At 31 December 2017, R_ZE—tF+=—A=+—
1 January 2018 and B —Z—N\F—A
31 December 2018 —BER_ZE—)\F+_AH
=+—H 20,000,000 2,000,000 3,081,000 308,100
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32.

33.

PR aR M

SPECIAL RESERVE

Special reserve of the Group represents (i) the difference between the
net asset value of the acquired subsidiaries and the nominal value of
the Company’s shares issued for the acquisition at the time of the
group reorganisation in 2006; and (i) the reduction in the registered
capital of a wholly-owned subsidiary established in the PRC.

SHARE OPTIONS

The share option scheme of the Company (“2007 KLHL Scheme”)
was approved by the Shareholders and the shareholders of KHL
on 18 May 2007 and 25 June 2007 respectively. The 2007 KLHL
Scheme took effect after obtaining the approval from the Listing
Committee of the Stock Exchange on 6 July 2007, and it expired at its
end of the term of the scheme on 5 July 2017 prior to the new share
option scheme took effect. The new share option scheme of KLHL
(2017 KLHL Scheme”) was approved by the Shareholders and the
shareholders of KHL on 29 May 2017, and the 2017 KLHL Scheme
took effect upon obtaining approval from the Listing Committee of
the Stock Exchange on 2 November 2017. The terms of the 2017
KLHL Scheme are largely similar to the 2007 KLHL Scheme, and
that the purpose of the 2017 KLHL Scheme is to provide incentive or
reward to the eligible participants of the 2017 KLHL Scheme (as listed
below) for their contribution to, and continuing efforts to promote the
interests of the Group.

32.

33.
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33.

PR aR M

SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

The 2017 KLHL Scheme would be valid for a period of ten years and
it has a remaining life of around eight years and six months and no
share option had been granted or exercised as at the date of this
report. The Board may, at its discretion, grant options to subscribe
for shares in the Company to eligible participants who contribute to
the long-term growth and profitability of the Company and include
(i) any employee or proposed employee (whether full-time or part-
time and including any executive director), consultants or advisers
of or to the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any entity (“Invested
Entity”) in which the Group holds an equity interest; (ii) any non-
executive directors (including independent non-executive directors)
of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any Invested Entity; (i) any
supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity; (iv) any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity;
(v) any person or entity that provides research, development or other
technological support to the Group or any Invested Entity; and (vi) any
shareholder of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity.

The subscription price of the Company’s share in respect of any
option granted under the 2017 KLHL Scheme must be at least the
highest of (i) the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant
of the option, which must be a business day; (i) the average closing
price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant of the option; and (jii) the nominal value of
the shares of the Company.
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33.

PR aR M

SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

The option may be accepted by a participant within 28 days from
the date of the offer for the grant of the option upon the payment of
a consideration of HK$1. An option may be exercised at any time
during a period to be determined and notified by the Directors to each
grantee, and in the absence of such determination, from the date
upon which the offer for the grant of the option is accepted but shall
end in any event not later than ten years from the date of grant of
the option subject to the provisions for early termination thereof. The
Directors may, at their absolute discretion, fix any minimum period
for which an option must be held, any performance targets that must
be achieved and any other conditions that must be fulfilled before the
options can be exercised upon the grant of an option to a participant.

The total number of shares of the Company which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the 2017 KLHL
Scheme (excluding, for this purpose, options lapsed in accordance
with the terms of the 2017 KLHL Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Company) must not in aggregate exceed 10% of
the total number of shares of the Company in issue as at the date
of approval of the 2017 KLHL Scheme by the Shareholders and
the Shareholders of KHL (i.e. 308,100,000 shares of the Company,
representing 10.0% of the total issued share capital of the Company as
at the date of this report).

The maximum number of shares of the Company which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the 2017 KLHL Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Company must not exceed 30% of the issued share
capital of the Company from time to time.

The total number of shares of the Company issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted (including both exercised and
outstanding options) to each participant in any 12-month period must
not exceed 1% of the share capital of the Company then in issue
unless approved by the Shareholders and shareholders of KHL in
general meetings.

33.
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33. SHARE OPTIONS (continued) 33. @%Eﬁﬂﬁ*&(%)

Balance at
Balance at Exercised 31 December 2017 Exercise
Date of grant 1 January 2017 during the year and 2018 price per share  Exercisable period
(Note ii)

REEE
il , BRITRE

(RtEii)
Granted to the Directors
21 March 2011 54,000,000 (54,000,000 - HKS6.54/87L 21 March 2011 to 17 May 2017 (Note i
xra% “F-—FZf=-AF
“5—fzA-T-H ZE—+E- AT A(N)
Granted to employees
21 March 2011 27,000,000 (27,000,000) - HKS6.54/87L 21 March 2011 to 17 May 2017 (Note i
K7gR “3-—5ZA=t-AF
“5—fzA-T-H ZE—+E= AR (NE)

81,000,000 (81,000,000 -

Exercisable at
1 January 2017 81,000,000
RU TR T
“2-t+£-A-R
31 December 2017 and 2018 -
ZE-tERZE-\ETZA=1-H

Notes: B e

(i) 25% of the total share options were vested immediately on the date of [0) IR B I AR 1925%C BNRS
grant, 21 March 2011. The remaining 75% were split evenly into three lots NEEA(ZZE—F=/A=-+—81)
and were vested on 21 March 2012, 2013 and 2014, HE BT 25% TN A=%D

DRR_F—_F ZFZFR_F
—mFE=ZA=+—HBEB -

(ii) During the year ended 31 December 2017, 81,000,000 options in the (ii) BE-_Z2—+H5+-_A=+—HItH
Company at an exercise price of HK$6.54 per share were exercised. The & ANATIRI81,000,00017 8 4 & Bé
weighted average closing price of the Company’s share granted on the 1R GIRITE(B6.548 T ETE « ANAF]
Stock Exchange on the five trading days immediately before the exercise RIS EETFE RS AELSB8E
date was HK$8.93. The amount of approximately HK$93,105,000 was A IR D B N L U T (B 58.938
reclassified from share options reserve to share premium. JT ° #793,105,000/8 T H & R E LB

R B IRE R D MEROEE
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34. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of bank borrowings, net
of cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of
the Company, comprising issued share capital, other reserves and
retained profits as disclosed in the consolidated statement of changes

in equity.

The Directors review the capital structure on a semi-annual basis.
As part of this review, the Directors consider the cost of capital and
the risks associated with each class of capital. In the opinion of the
Directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through
the payment of dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as

well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

34.
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 35. €T A
(@ Categories of financial instruments (@ EsIAEEH
THE GROUP
REE
2018 2017
—EB-N\E —T—tF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET
Financial assets SREE
Loans and receivables B R EWERR
(including cash and cash equivalents) (BREASERE2SEIER) = 12,155,292
Financial assets at amortised cost BBERATTENSREE 10,244,556 -
AFS investments AP ERE = 3,285,029
Equity instruments at FVTPL BATESABRERTA 284,776 -
Equity instruments at FVTOCI BT EFAEHM
FHEWEHESETA 8,124 -
Debt instruments at FVTOCI BT EFAEHM
FHERWREHEF LA 6,134,659 -
16,672,115 15,440,321
Financial liabilities A=
Amortised cost HEHAR
— trade and other payables — 85 REMERRR 1,526,678 1,295,869
— bills payables —ENERE 248,352 460,016
— amounts due to fellow subsidiaries —ERRIREM B A RRE 48,378 46,276
— bank borrowings —HRITEE 5,842,500 3,402,110
7,665,908 5,204,271
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

Details of the Group’s financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (currency risk, interest rate
risk and equity price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these exposures
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.

Market risk

Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency
sales and purchases, which exposes the Group to foreign
currency risk. Approximately 8% (2017: 15%) of the Group’s
sales are denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency of the relevant group entity making the sale, whilst
almost 9% (2017: 2%) of purchases are denominated in
currencies other than the functional currency of the relevant
group entities.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and liabilities at the end of
the reporting period are disclosed in respective notes. The
management continuously monitors the foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging foreign currency risk
should the need arise.

179

35. €@ T B

(b)

MHEREREBERBER

REBE TR T AFIEAERMT
FEREE - DRI T AMEENERE
EmiGREE(E%ERE - FIEE
2 RRAERRR)  EERR
MREETRERE o BRIEZERR
ZBERESIIT - EEEEER
Bz ERE - AERERNE
RO BREVE & 2 55 ©

TS AR

EEmER
RARETHERRAINEETT
HERRE  SAEEAZI
KR - REBEK8%(—ZF—+
F 1 16%) WOSHE I IELAHETT 5
ENHBEEEERIEEET
B MAI9%(ZF—+F : 2%)
EVEREBL SELAOETTIR B AR &
EERNEEERDIE -

REEAINEIEN T EER
BERREHEAERE A ZRE
ERBRENEIRE - BEREHE
EESMNERR - X RNA TR
EREHINERE

T N\FER



180 KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 35. TRT A

(b) Financial risk management objectives and b)) BXEREEEHERBEXR
policies (continued) (58)
Market risk (continued) miERR(E)
Currency risk (continued) EiE g ()
Sensitivity analysis BURE DT

The Group is mainly exposed to fluctuation against foreign
currencies of US$, JPY, HK$ and GBP. The following table
details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% (2017: 5%) increase
and decrease in functional currency against the relevant
foreign currencies. 5% (2017: 5%) represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign
exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items
and adjusts their translation at the end of reporting period
for a 5% (2017: 5%) change in foreign currency rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes trade and other receivables,
debt instruments at FVTOCI, bank balances, trade and
other payables, AFS investments, bills payable and bank
borrowings. A positive number below indicates an increase in
post-tax profit for the year where functional currency of each
Group entity strengthen 5% (2017: 5%) against the relevant
currency. For a 5% (2017: 5%) weakening of functional
currency of each Group entity against the relevant currency,
there would be an equal and opposite impact on the post-tax
profit for the year.

AEEFEmmEETT AR - &
TR ERBRINERE R - T&
SRS EH AL E K ABRISN
B BE%( —B—+F : 5%)8Y
BRAE 5% (—ZT—+4F : 5%)
REEBEHIINERXRSEBER
BENFE  BERESTER
TR AR HR R AN DB B B
BE - YEREHRESRE HINE
ERE% (=T —+HF : 5%)EE
ERIAZE - RRESTRIEE
SREMBEIWIRR - AP ES
AHMEEREAEFIA R
TR - BHREMBEMAERER
AHEERE - BNRERIET
B8 - EHRIESEEERNY
BEEME RS AES%(ZF
—F 5% - REERFIE
BTG - ESEEETEN
e B A B B R ES% (=
T+ 5%)85 - ATREHIAGF
EBRTBEZANEREMEROE
o,

2018 2017
—E-N\FE —T—F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT FHBT

US$ XL (255,160) (113,231)
JPY =] 652 2,667
HK$ BT 157,962 33,310
GBP g (555) (10,514)

In the opinion of the Directors, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of inherent foreign exchange risk as the year
ended exposure does not reflect the exposure during the
year.
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation
to listed bond securities with fixed coupon interest (see Notes
19 and 20 for details of these listed bond securities). The
management monitors interest rate exposure when significant
interest rate exposure is anticipated.

The Group’s bank balances and variable-rate bank
borrowings have exposure to cash flow interest rate risk due
to the fluctuation of the prevailing market interest rate.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial liabilities
are detailed in the liquidity risk management section of this
note. The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly related
to the fluctuation of HIBOR (2017: HIBOR) arising from the
Group’s bank borrowings.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for interest-bearing bank
balances and bank borrowings at the end of the reporting
period. The analysis is prepared assuming the financial
instruments outstanding at the end of the reporting period
were outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis points (2017:
50 basis points) increase or 10 basis points (2017: 10 basis
points) decrease are used and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest
rates.

If interest rate had been 50 basis points (2017: 50 basis
points) higher and all other variables were held constant, the
Group’s:

° post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December 2018
would increase by approximately HK$8,339,000
(2017: HK$4,315,000) as a result of the Group’s
exposure to interest rates on its interest-bearing bank
balances and its variable-rate borrowings respectively;
and

£ET A

(b)
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

the investment revaluation reserve as at 31
December 2018 would decrease by approximately
HK$86,158,000 (2017: HK$74,049,000) mainly
as a result of the changes in the fair value of debt
instruments at FVTOCI (2017: AFS listed bond
securities) with fixed coupon interest.

If interest rate had been 10 basis points (2017: 10 basis
points) lower and all other variables were held constant, the
Group’s:

post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December 2018
would decrease by approximately HK$1,668,000
(2017: HK$863,000) as result of the Group’s exposure
to interest rates on its interest-bearing bank balances
and its variable-rate borrowings respectively; and

the investment revaluation reserve as at 31
December 2018 would increase by approximately
HK$17,444,600 (2017: HK$10,610,000) mainly
as a result of the changes in the fair value of debt
instruments at FVTOCI (2017: AFS listed bond
securities) with fixed coupon interests.

In the opinion of the Directors, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of inherent interest rate risk as the year
ended exposure does not reflect the exposure during the

year.
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its
investments in equity instruments at FVTPL and FVTOCI (2017:
AFS investments). For equity securities measured at FVTPL
(2017: AFS investments) quoted in the Stock Exchange,
the management manages this exposure by maintaining a
portfolio of investments with different risks. In addition, the
Group also invested in certain unquoted equity securities for
investees operating in property industry sector for long term
strategic purposes.

The sensitivity analyses have been determined based on the
exposure to equity price risk at the reporting date, excluding
AFS investments measured at cost less impairment for the
year ended 31 December 2017.

If the prices of the respective equity instruments had been
10% (2017: 10%) higher/lower, the post-tax profit for the
year ended 31 December 2018 would increase/decrease
by HK$23,289,000 (2017: increase/decrease in investment
revaluation reserve by HK$22,330,000) as a result of the
changes in fair value of equity instruments at FVTPL (2017:
AFS investments).

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event
of the counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations at
the end of the reporting period in relation to each class of
recoginsed financial assets is the carrying amount of those
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Directors has delegated
the management to be responsible for determination of credit
limits, credit approvals for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other for monitoring procedures to ensure
that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In
addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under
ECL model upon application of HKFRS 9 (2017: incurred loss
model) on trade balances individually or based on provision
matrix. In this regard, the Directors consider that the Group’s
credit risk is significantly reduced.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

The credit risk in relation to bank balances is considered
minimal as such amounts are placed with banks with good
credit ratings and there is no significant concentration of credit
risk.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk on
trade and other receivables, with exposure spread over a
number of counterparties and customers other than group
entities. However, the Group is exposed to the concentration
on geographic segment in PRC. At 31 December 2018,
approximately 88% (2017: 92%) of the Group’s trade and
other receivables are arising from PRC.

Upon adoption of HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018, the Group
applies the simplified approach to provide for expected credit
losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits the use of the
lifetime expected loss provision for trade receivables.

Directors assessed the expected loss on trade receivables
individually by estimation based on historical credit loss
experience, general economic conditions of the industry in
which the debtors operate and an assessment of both the
current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the
reporting date.

In addition, the Directors is of the opinion that there has been
no default occurred for trade receivables past due over 90
days and the balances are still considered fully recoverable
due to long term/on-going relationship and good repayment
record from these customers.

Collective assessments

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group
applies internal credit rating for its customers. The following
table provides information about the exposure to credit risk
for trade receivables which are assessed based on provision
matrix as at 31 December 2018 with lifetime ECL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 35. €M T B

(b) Financial risk management objectives and b) HEERBEEEEREKE
policies (continued) (%)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) EERBREETS(E)

Gross trade Range of Trade

Credit rating receivables loss rates ECL receivables
W TE A =)

EETAR IR EEXEHE EEEE FEUIBR TR
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FAET FAT FAT

Low risk KR 2,203,594 1-2.5% 49,398 2,154,196
Watch list BERAE 1,288,445 5% — 15% 191,424 1,097,021
Doubtful RER 63,283  30% - 35% 20,932 42,351
Loss &8 202,732 100% 202,732 -
Write-off i - 100% - -
3,758,054 464,486 3,293,568

Quality classification definitions:

“Low risk”:  The counterparty has low risk of default and [MER] : RSHFELHER
does not have any past-due amounts. & - BEE(TEE
FKIE o
“Watch list”: Doubtful debtors frequently repay after due [EEERF 2 | EERE NFRME
dates but usually settle after due date. BAKLERE A
& NIE - 1B5m
B REEIREE
“Doubtful”:  There have been significant increases in credit [RER] : WIBAEP AR SN
risk since initial recognition through information HERERMER
developed internally or external resources. BREERREY
TRTERAREE £
H o
“Loss”: There is evidence indicating the asset is credit- [E8]: BRBBETREED
impaired. BIEERIE -
“Write-off”:  There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in [Hss ] - BRBEREBA
severe financial difficulty and the Group has no PAARENR - A
realistic prospect of recovery. rEEEERKS
W EIRIE o

—E— ) \FFRK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b)

€I A

Financial risk management objectives and b)) BHXEREEEHERBEER

policies (continued) (%&)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors
and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is
regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant

EERBRRRERE(E)

it B R R I E N YRR IEH
FHNELBRAFROEM
it WHEFNHBZRANE
1 BIVAT 45 9 A B 1 B RHE 5B
E-BEEERERNSE U

information about specific debtors is updated. TERBERNE T REWEE I E
R ©
The following table sets out the movement in lifetime ECL that TEEHIEBEBILEERAEE 5
has been recognised for trade receivables under the simplified FEWBE N 2 EATEHIZE B BB
approach. BE) o
Lifetime
ECL  Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired)
’\,\H?E,H\E
ZHATEH] =EER
EEEBE (HREE
(BEEERE) ME)
HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$ 000
T T T
As at 31 December 2017 R-T—+%F
under HKAS 39 and as at +ZA=+—8
1 January 2018 under HKFRS 9 1RIFE B & 518
EIPRRR_E—N\F
—HA—BiRE
BB R R O5R - 431,807 431,807
Net impairment losses R (ERE)FERE
recognised (reversed) R 270,214 (218,531) 51,683
Exchange adjustments RS (8,460) (10,544) (19,004)
As at 31 December 2018 R N\F
+=A=+—8H 261,754 202,732 464,486

As at 31 December 2018, the gross carrying amount of trade
receivables decreased to HK$3,758,054,000 while allowance
for credit losses increased to HK$464,486,000. During the
year ended 31 December 2018, the net impairment loss
recognised from lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) was

%:%—A¢+:HE+—

B EWERGERER
/J\Es 758,054,000/ 7T * 2 &
5 18 ¥ 8 BIJ 3% N == 464,486,000
BT -HE-_ZE-N\F+-A

HK$270,214,000, which arose due to a general deterioration =+—HILFE  RmEHEEE
in the quality of the Group’s trade receivables as compared to BEEE(EEERE) ERNRE
prior year. This amount was partially offset by a net reversal of E518 ¥ %8 5270,214,000/8 7T

impairment loss of HK$218,531,000 from lifetime ECL (credit- AAREEEZERERERE R

impaired), due to settlement received during the year on trade
receivables which were previously impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

In determining the ECL for bills receivables, the Directors has
considered the bills received by the Group are with a maturity
period of less than one year are assessed on 12m ECL,
and concluded that the credit risk inherent in the Group’s
outstanding bills receivables is insignificant.

In determining the ECL for other receivables, the Directors
have made periodic collective assessment as well as individual
assessment on the recoverability of other receivables based
on historical settlement records, past expense, and also
forward-looking information, as appropriate, for example, the
Group has considered the consistently low historical default
rate in connection with payments, and concluded that credit
risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding other receivables is
insignificant.

The Group only invests in debt securities with low credit risk.
The Group’s debt instruments at FVTOCI mainly comprise
listed bonds that are graded in the high investment grade
as per globally understood definitions and therefore are
considered to be low credit risk investments. During the year
ended 31 December 2018, no expected credit losses on debt
instruments at FVTOCI was recognised.

For amounts due from fellow subsidiaries, in order to minimise
the credit risk, Directors continuously monitor the settlement
status and the level of exposure to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In the opinion of
the Directors, the risk of default by these counterparties is
not significant and the Group assessed that the ECL on
these balances are insignificant and thus no impairment loss
allowance was recognised.

The Directors considers the bank balances that are deposited
with the financial institutions with good credit rating to be low
credit risk financial assets. The management of the Group
considers the bank balances are short-term in nature and
the probability of default is negligible on the basis of high-
credit-rating issuers, and accordingly, loss allowance was
considered as insignificant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

For financial guarantee contracts, the maximum amount that
the Group has guaranteed under the respective contracts was
approximately HK$320,824,000 (2017: HK$2,066,699,000)
as at 31 December 2018. At the end of the reporting period,
the directors of the Company have performed impairment
assessment, and concluded that there has been no significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition of the financial
guarantee contracts. Accordingly, the loss allowance
for financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group is
measured at an amount equal to 12m ECL. The management
of the Group considers the probability of default is low and
accordingly, loss allowance was considered as insignificant.
Details of the financial guarantee contracts are set out in Note
38.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in
cash flows. The Directors monitors the utilisation of bank
borrowings and ensures compliance with loan covenants
during the year.

The Group relies on bank borrowings as a significant
source of liquidity. At 31 December 2018, the Group has
available unutilised bank borrowing facilities of approximately
HK$2,349,379,000 (2017: HK$4,945,382,000).

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. Specifically, bank loans
with a repayment on demand clause are included in the
earliest time band regardless of the probability of the banks
choosing to exercise their rights. The maturity dates for other
non-derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed
repayment dates.

The tables include both interest and principal cash flows.
To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate curve at the
end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME
35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 35. QEQIE(%)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and b) HMBEBREEEERBEXR
policies (continued) (58)
Liquidity risk (continued) RBESER(E)
Liquidiity and interest risk tables TEENE & R FF [ i

Weighted Over Over QOver
average  Ondemand 3monthsbut 1yearbutmot  2years but Total
effective  orlessthan butnotmore  more than notmore  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 3months  than 1 year 2years than5years  cashflows amount

nETE  RERE ZEANL  -ENER REMLE FRRRS
RBNE  ZEAR EFER-F  TEERF  TEELF  RERE ]
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK§'000
TR T T&n T Tn T

At 31 December 2018 RE-\F+-F=1-A
Non-derivative financial liabilites ~~ f44REE
Trade and other payables BARERERES - 15678 - - - 156618 1526678
Bils payables EHEE - 248,352 - - - 248352 248,352
Amounts dug to felow subsidiaries ENFZNELAHE - 48,378 = = = 48378 48378
Bank borrowings BirkE
- variable rate -%8 329 336,012 3483752 995,524 1305312 6,120,600 5842500
2159420 3483752 995,524 1305312 7,944008 7,665,908
Financial queranteg contracts BBERAD - 320,824 - - - 320,824 320,824
Weighted Over Qver Over
aerage  Ondemand  3monthshut  1yearbutnot 2 yearshut Total
effectie  orlessthan  butnotmore more than notmore  undliscounted Caming
interest rate 3months  than 1 year 2years  than5years cash flows amount
£ H
= EAME ik KAk
HK§000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HKS'000
T 7 T AT T
At 81 December 2017 NE-tE+ZA=1-R
Non-derivative financial iabiliies 74 $HARE
Trade and other payables BAREMERESN - 1,295869 - - - 1205860 1,295,869
Bils payables ENEE - 460,016 - - - 460016 460,016
Amounts due to felow subsiciaries EREZHBLAE - 46,276 - - - 46276 46,276
Bank borrowings Fidhl
- variable rate -8 210 263483 142,201 92173 2241248 3609105 3402110
2,085,644 142,201 92,173 2241248 5411066 5004271
Finandial guarantes contracts BiERaH - 206669 - - - 20669 2066699

—E-)\FEFER




190

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

Liquidity and interest risk tables (continued)

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are
included in the “on demand or less than 3 months” time
band in the above maturity analysis. At 31 December 2018,
the aggregate undiscounted principal amounts of these
bank borrowings amounted to HK$42,500,000 (2017:
HK$52,500,000). Taking into account the Group’s financial
position, the Directors do not believe that it is probable that
the banks will exercise their discretionary rights to demand
immediate repayment. The Directors believe that such bank
borrowings will be fully repaid after the end of the reporting
period in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates
within six years as set out in the loan agreements. At that
time, the aggregate principal and interest cash outflows will
amount to HK$44,499,000 (2017: HK$55,538,000).

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

Fair value of the group’s financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. The following table
gives information about how the fair values of these financial
assets are determined (in particular, the valuation techniques
and inputs used), as well as the level of the fair value hierarchy
into which the fair value measurements are categorised (Levels
1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair
value measurements is observable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq)
(c) Fair value measurements of financial instruments

(continued)

Fair value of the group’s financial assets that are

measured at fair value on a recurring basis (continued)

Financial assets Fair value as at 31 December Fair value hierarchy
SHEE WtZR=+-B2ATE AVERRRA
2018 17
&)\ 5t
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR T
) Listed equity securties classified as - 28300 1
avallable-for-sale financial assets
ARATHLESR
BB LilRAEs
fi)  Listed bond securties classfied as - 3063605 3
avalable-for-sale financial assets
ARATMLESR
HELLTERER
(iiy  Listed equity securities classffied as 284,776 -
equity instruments at FVTPL
ARRRLTE AR
BRIAZ FHAES
(W) Unlisted equity instruments classffied 8,124 -3

as equity instruments at FVTOCI

PERRLFE AL 2ERED
BATAZKHEETR

=

191

35. €@ T H

(c)

Valuation techniques
and key inputs

EERAR

EELN {2

Quoted bid prices in
active market.

e
EAB-

Reference to the fair value

quoted in the over-the-

counter market with the
adjustments for the lack

of marketabilty.
SRBITEREL
ATE - URRT
GRANE FHGEE

Quoted hid prices in active

market.

RETSHAEAR:

Market approach. The
market approach was
used to determine the
valuation using price to
eamings (‘P/E') ratio of
selected comparable
listed companies in &
similar business and
similar business mode!

and adjusted for the lack

of marketability

i AR
ERETEFRRER
EAREnTER AL
ATz MRRERf
& WitHZ AR
fEmFIEE -

ERTANATEFE®E)

REKEUHEERAVEFEZ
FEESREEZ A VEE)

Relationship of
unobservable inputs
to fair value

FIHEAA
UBRATEZBR

Significant
unobservable inputs

XA

LECN

NA NA
TR TR
Thelack of merketabiity  The higher the lack of
discount marketabilty discount,
the lower the fair value.
BeMEREHT  REDAREM
iElRER
ATERE -
NA NA
TR NER
The lack of marketabilty  The higher the lack of
discount and the marketabiity discount,
PIE ratio of selected the lower the fair value.
comparable companies
The higher the P/E rafio,
the higher the fair value.
FrmARBHINL  BTPRRELTNES
EETENEATY  DTEHE-
iR
mEkGE  AFEH
R

—E-)\FFH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 35. €M T B

(c) Fair value measurements of financial instruments (c) ST ENAFEEHITESE)

(continued)

Fair value of the group’s financial assets that are BREKEHEERATETEZ

measured at fair value on a recurring basis (continued) TEEEREEZATEE)

Relationship of
Valuation techniques  Significant unobservable inputs
Financial assets Fair value as at 31 December Fair value hierarchy and key inputs unobservable inputs o fair value
fERIR EXRY FTBEHA
SHEE MZA=+-AZAYE AYERERA IZHANE BRaAIE HERAVECER
2018 2017
ZE-)\f 5%
HK$'000 HK§'000
Thn T
() Listed bond securiies classfied as 6,134,659 -3 Reference to the fair value  Thelack of marketabiity  The higher the lack of
debt intruments at FVTOCI quoted in the over-he-  dliscount marketabilty discount,
counter market with the the lower the fair value.
adjustments for the lack
of marketabilty.
ARRRATENALN2ENEN SREITERECLT  HzmAi e ERELANES
[BBI&Z INERER B WitHz AR DFERE -
7T AR -

Note:  For the debt instruments at FVTOCI (2017: listed bond Wisk . SoOBEAEAFEFT AEAMm
securities classified as AFS financial assets), the most significant 2HNENEBTIAEMS (=
unobservable input is the marketability discount. As at 31 T—+F: pERITHEE
December 2018, if the marketability discount to the valuation SREENLMESES)
model was 0.5% higher/lower and the other variables were held & BRI BEE AR
constant, the total carrying amount of these investments would RTBRBETN - K=
decrease/increase by HK$86,158,000 and HK$86,158,000 T-\F+t=ZA=+—8"
(31 December 2017: HK$74,049,000 and HK$74,049,000) i G ERN TS RB T
respectively. WEFA/TK05% @ il

fhA] B2 BB TE - A%
EREMNEREAESED R
b /3% 7186,158,0005% 7T &
86,158,000/ 7T ( = F —+H4F
+=HA=+—H : 74,049,000
7T ] 74,049,000/87T) ©

There were no transfers between Level 1 and 3 during the REBEEZZT-N\FR-ZZF—tF
years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017. F+ZA=+—RALFERN F—
WEAEE = A 2 R R -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME
35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) ﬁ@lﬂ(%)
(c) Fair value measurements of financial instruments (c) ST ENAFEEHITESE)
(continued)
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurement of FERETHEELAVEITEZY
financial assets R
Unlisted Listed
equity bond
instruments securities Total
kEm s}
fERZTHE BE%#IH et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THET THET THET
At 1 January 2017 W-ZE—+F—A—H - 1,160,021 1,160,021
Additions NE - 2,057,573 2,057,573
Disposals HeE - (195,415) (195,415)
Fair value gain in OCI REMEERZEZ
NFEN S - 31,426 31,426
At 31 December 2017 RZT—+F
+=-A=+—H - 3,053,605 3,053,605
Effect on adoption of HKFRS 9 RNE B FEBRER
Eebiin)Z 8,124 - 8,124
At 1 January 2018 (restated) RZZE—N\F—H—H
(gEih) 8,124 3,053,605 3,061,729
Additions KRB - 4,229,234 4,229,234
On disposals or maturity H € 55 B A - (899,249) (899,249)
Fair value loss in OCI ﬁéﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ”ﬂléz
RNTHEEE - (322,320) (322,320)
Interest income from listed bond ~ +HfEHEA 2
securities FlEUA - 236,301 236,301
Interest received from listed bond B _F &5 B A5WEZ
securities B - (162,912) (162,912)
At 31 December 2018 R )\F
+=—A=+— 8,124 6,134,659 6,142,783
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME
35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 35. @@Iﬂ(%)
()  Fair value measurements of financial instruments (c) EBMIENATEEE)

(continued)
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurement of EZRERMEENTENEZY
financial assets (continued) BR(4&E)
The fair values of other financial assets and financial liabilities HhesmEERSRABEZAF
are determined in accordance with general accepted pricing ETRBERIRIBSREDNT
models based on discounted cash flow analysis. The Directors ZRAREBRAEE - EFR
consider that the carrying amounts of these financial assets R RSB R BRE S Rl
and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost approximate BERTHMAGNATEEER
to their fair values. FEEE °

36. CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS 36. EXRKk H &g

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F

HK$000 HK$’000
TR TAT

Capital expenditure contracted for but not B 5T 4B RN 4R 4 B 53R

provided in the consolidated financial ELBE 2 EARFY
statements for:
— acquisition of properties, — BV - BB NEE
plant and equipment 30,634 13,835
— capital injection in an unlisted — A LEmERRE
equity investment - 3,346
30,634 17,181
Other expenditure contracted for but not 2 5T 4B RPN 4R A& B TS RE
provided in the consolidated financial EH B E 2 A
statements for:
— acquisition and other expenditures —BRFEEME I WE R
relating to properties held for HAbFZ
development 479,860 1,148,902
510,494 1,166,083
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME
37. OPERATING LEASES . REHY
2018 2017
—B-N\F —E R
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FATT
The Group as lessee: AEBEREEA :
Minimum lease payments charged to the FARGEBRTINGRZ
consolidated statement of profit or loss FHIRBAORR
during the year 6,634 4,269
Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group %@%*ﬂ%’\]ﬁ?ﬂﬁ$%@ﬁfﬁ?ﬂ#‘*
for certain of its office properties. Operating leases are negotiated for XEMZHES - KERNEERENZ
terms ranging from 1 year to 33 years. TN F1233F -
At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s future lease payments REREHBERER - AEBBRETA]
under non-cancellable operating leases are payable as follows: B2 AR BRSNS 2 BONR

AR T ORI AT

2018 2017

—E)N\E TE

HK$’°000 HK$’000

FET FAT

Within one year —FR 918 879
After one year but not later than five years —EBERRAER 466 593
After five years AFi& 1,379 1,782
2,763 3,254
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHwRRME
37. OPERATING LEASES (continued) 2(((M$E.I%’J (%)
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—LtF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAxT
The Group as lessor/licensor: AEBELSHBEABEA
Rental income credited to the consolidated FANFFAGREBTREZ
statement of profit or loss during the year Be A 68,727 64,354
Licence fee income credited to the consolidated R AbR& B R
statement of profit or loss during the year EEFEABRA 120,000 120,000
188,727 184,354
The Group's investment properties are rented to outside parties for AEEZIRBEYEIRBREEZER
periods up to seven years at fixed predetermined amounts. HEBTPINRAAL - HEARERAESF -
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted with R HEERER - AEERHEER
tenants under non-cancellable operating leases and with Licencee EYE(RMF14) REEEREE(R
under cancellable licence agreement for the following future minimum MiE15) B8 P RT SZ M AT S & H8
lease payments commitments in respect of leasing of investment 29 e B R A BT S A AT IBUSH ET R ek
properties (see Note 14) and licenced assets (see Note 15) which fall BUTRKREEBEREATE - BRIAT
due as follow: AAfE S AR
2018 2017
—ZE-N\F —T—tF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FBT
Within one year —FR 55,681 59,003
After one year but not later than five years —FRERAFA 157,613 172,239
After five years AF% 72,663 77,451
285,957 308,693
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

37. OPERATING LEASES (continueq)

38.

The Group licences its licenced assets to a committed Licencee
under the licence agreement as follows:

Within the first twelve months of the licence, either the Group
or the Licencee may terminate the licence agreement at its
sole discretion, by serving on the other party not less than
one month prior notice in writing and paying the other party
HK$1,000,000 or such other amount as may be mutually
agreed in writing between both parties.

After the first twelve months of the licence, the Group may
terminate the licence agreement at its sole discretion, by
serving on the Licencee not less than one month prior notice
in writing.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

@)

The Group provided guarantees with maximum exposure
amounting to approximately HK$320,824,000 (2017:
HK$2,066,699,000) as at 31 December 2018 in respect of
bank mortgage loans granted to purchasers of the Group’s
properties. In the opinion of the Directors, the fair values
of these financial guarantee contracts of the Group are
insignificant at initial recognition and the Directors consider
that the possibility of default of the parties involved is remote,
accordingly, no value has been recognised at the inception of
the guarantee contracts and at the end of the reporting period
as at 31 December 2018 and 2017.

Guarantees are given to banks with respect to loans procured
by the purchasers of the Group’s properties. Such guarantees
will be released by banks upon delivery of the properties
to the purchasers and completion of the registration of the
relevant mortgaged properties.

37.

38.
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A e

B R % -

AEBEEEE A

ZERENE R REEREERNT -

EREEAET @A  &&
BN EREANITEEZEEG
R —AFEET LR
REAERBN YRS —FX
171,000,000/ ok & 5 EH 1
FNEMSE  RILREFERRD

=3
AR °

ERECHAET—@REK  &&E
EIRNDY: 23 YN unk N2y S
AEEEEEMN - 2EBIBEL
RBE(E R hhe

RZZE—N\F+=ZA=+—H"
AEERETAERYMERRD
RITIRBERREESRBER
49320,824,0008 L (=T —+
# 1 2,066,699,000/87C) - =
RE ANEBZSEWHERE
LR FER AR E
X BEZERAZ2HZHENDN
ek - Bt R=T—N\F
;=T —+F+=ZA=+—H"
PERE YIRS B R SR BRI A
RE AT EEREE -

BRDANEEMEERTER
AR TIRIT - ZEEERHR
DEES L/ EN TR TEl i
YR B RIK A IRTTARRR ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

38. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continueq)

(b)

On 3 August 2011, Annuity & Re Life Ltd (the “Petitioner”)
presented a petition in the Supreme Court of Bermuda in
respect of KBCF against its controlling shareholders based
on a complaint that the affairs of KBCF had been and/or were
being conducted in a manner which was oppressive or unfairly
prejudicial to the Petitioner.

The controlling shareholders of KBCF were eventually
successful in defending the case following a favourable
judgment by the Bermuda Court of Appeal dated 24 March
2017. Subsequently, the Petitioner took steps to appeal the
said judgment.

On 3 May 2018, the parties reached a settlement agreement
providing, inter alia, that the Petitioner shall forego its appeal
to the Privy Council in its entirety and releases and forever
discharges all of its claims arising out of or connected directly
or indirectly with the case and its underlying facts. The
Company is a party to this settlement agreement.

On 1 November 2018, the Petitioner served a Writ on the
Company and its controlling shareholders alleging a breach of
the said settlement agreement. The Petitioner claimed (inter
alia) a sum of S$2,297,360 plus damages to be assessed,
interests and costs. On 27 November 2018, the Company’s
Bermuda counsel filed the Defence arguing that there is no
reasonable cause of action and should accordingly be struck
out. In addition, the defendants denied that they are in breach
of any contractual obligations under the settlement agreement
and pleaded that they have at all times performed their
obligations under it.

Based on the advice of the Company’s Bermuda Counsel to
date, the board is of the opinion the settlement action appears
to be intrinsically defective and that the Company should have
a more than reasonable chance to succeed. Accordingly, no
provision for liability has been made in connection with this
claim.
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38. WAEE

(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

39.

PR aR M

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group participates in both a defined contribution scheme
which was registered under the Occupational Retirement Scheme
Ordinance (the “ORSO Scheme”) and a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme which was established under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Ordinance in December 2000 (the “MPF Scheme”). The assets
of the schemes are held separately from those of the Group and
are invested in funds under the control of independent trustees.
Employees who were members of the ORSO Scheme prior to the
establishment of the MPF Scheme are members of both the ORSO
Scheme and the MPF Scheme, whereas all new employees joining
the Group on or after December 2000 are required to join the MPF
Scheme. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees
each required to make contributions to the scheme at 5% of the
employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant
income of HK$30,000 (2017: HK$30,000).

Employees of subsidiaries in the PRC are members of the state-
sponsored pension schemes operated by the PRC government.
The subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of
their payrolls to the pension schemes to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the pension schemes is to
make the required contributions.

Payments to the ORSO Scheme, the MPF Scheme and the state-
sponsored pension schemes of approximately HK$26,737,000
(2017: HK$22,562,000) had been charged to profit or loss. As
at 31 December 2018, contributions of HK$2,858,000 (2017:
HK$2,257,000) due in respect of the reporting period had not been
paid over to the plans. The amounts were paid subsequently to the
end of the reporting period.

39.
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RIKEREE

AEE RN —IEIRER S RIRE
1651 5E 2 e BB BT 8 ([ B 3R KT
2l MRS AR KN =T
TE+Z AR zaHIEATE ST E
([oaFESETE]) - RSB EERAK
SEZEESHEE  WIRERBBL
SREAZS 2 ES - MR BESE
ZRIE2NBERKAZIZIEES R
BARERKE RAEESE 2K
8 MAMERZZZZTF+=_Azzik
MAXE@EZ FEB VAL MATES T
Bl IRIERTESETE - BEREREES
BB E 8 MR A 5% S 5 it
P& AMRABIKA LR A30,000/8 T
(== —+4F : 30,000/ 7T) °

FEMBARZEEATEBMEEZ
BRERNTENE - ZEHMERA]
ARFHEXHZ K AN LR ARKE
g U BERERN - AEBE R
EEITZE—BEERINABHEN -

MR aESHERERE
BhIRIRET 813 154 2 #5049 526,737,000
BT (ZZT— 4 : 22,562,000/8 7T )
DEBRETPHGR R N\FE+ =
B=+—8 Rp&EHREE 82 H3%
2,858,000/ 7T( = Z —+4F : 2,257,000
BIC) WA FZERTE - ZERER
SRS RE DT -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RENBHmRME
40. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES 40. MEFTBELEZERGBZ
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES ¥R
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from TREFVNNAEBE FEEL Y BEE
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. B BRERSNIIEESES - gt EEE
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash EXZBERESREEN  SiARKE
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s EMERRAEENGEEREERERD
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing fEARMETHERRSRENARE -
activities.
Bank Interest
borrowings payable Total
SRITER RS et
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
FH&x FET FET
At 1 January 2017 W-Z—+%—A—H 2,767,770 6,737 2,774,507
Financing cash flows BMERSRE 634,340 (79,421) 554,919
Interest expenses recognised in RETE BERERN
the consolidated statement of FEFRAX
profit or loss - 68,843 68,843
Interest expense capitalised BARH B - 4,793 4,793
At 31 December 2017 and R-ZE—+F+-A=+—H
1 January 2018 rZFT—-NF—HF—H 3,402,110 952 3,403,062
Financing cash flows MERSRE 2,440,390 (117,893) 2,322,497
Interest expense recognised in the REEE B R IERA
consolidated statement of profit or loss ~ F| B 5 - 103,221 103,221
Interest expense capitalised BEARMEF B = 13,720 13,720
At 31 December 2018 RZZ-N\F+_A=+—H 5,842,500 - 5,842,500
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A I IRARMEE

41.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group entered into the following significant transactions with

related parties during the year:

() Sales of goods and drilling services

() MRAZRMBARHE

201

4. BEALIRS

AEBEMEATHEFRNETIEAR
ST

2018
—B-N\F

2017
—E—+fF
HK$’'000
FHT

HK$000
TR

Emk

provided to fellow subsidiaries REEARS
2,065,525 1,885,757

(i) Purchases of goods from (i) MREREMBARREER

fellow subsidiaries 725,796 603,701
(i) Sales of laminates and copper to a (i) M REIERRDA]

shareholder with significant influence BEBRZENHNKER

over the ultimate holding company S5 7B 8 E AR % 8 702,935 659,021
(iv) Purchases of drill bits and machineries (v) MEREERDT]

from a shareholder with significant EBRFENHRE

influence over the ultimate holding FROESEA K ik 25

company 366,706 270,285

The transactions above constituted continuing connected transactions
of the Company under chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of the Directors and other members of key
management during the year is as follows:

RIEEWRANE1AT - LR HEK
ARARNFHEFERS -

TEEEAEME
R EERAMEIEEBABZHE
T

2018 2017

—B-N\F —T—+tF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Short-term benefits PSEEEY 94,278 97,516
Post-employment benefits RINERET] 870 893
95,148 98,409

The remuneration of the Directors and key executives is determined
with reference to the performance of individuals and market trends.

EERIBTRABZHEEZEES
BTRENMEBLRET -

—E-)\FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRME
42. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 42. RRAREFENBARZ
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY FH15
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2018 N—ZE—NEFEE_ZE—+F+=A1
and 2017 are as follows: =+—8  ARREENBARZFHE
mT -
Place of
incorporation/ Issued and fully paid Proportion of the
registration and share capital/ ownership interest
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital held by the Group Principal activities
EMEL, BERTRAR AEEEE
WEARER B RRE B/ ERER BRRRERLA FTEXK
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T+tF
% %
Excel First Investments Limited British Virgin Islands* US$1 100 100 Investment holding
ERREERAA RERUKS 1% REER
KBCF Bermuda* US$72,250,000 87.90 82.32  Investment holding
BB BERE 72,250,000 7 REER
Hong Kong Copper Foil Limited British Virgin Islands US$47,057,290 87.90 82.32  Investment holding and
BAWEERAT BREAHES 47,057, 290% 7T licencing of its properties
REZRRENZEZ
RiEER
Kingboard (Fogang) Insulated PRC! US$7,615,000 100 100 Manufacture and
Material Company Limited R 7,615,000%70 distribution of bleached
BE(BRBEMBARAT kraft paper
BER D HEARER
Kingboard (Fogang) Laminates PRC! US$29,466,000 100 100 Manufacture and
Co.Limited R 29,466,000 T distrioution of laminates
BB(HR)BERERAR HERS HENER
Kingboard (Fogang) Paper Laminates PRC! US$17,936,546 100 100 Manufacture and
Co. Ltd. R 17,936,546% 70 distrioution of laminates
BB BEARERAR HERS HENER
Kingboard Electronic Raw Material ~ PRC' US$30,000,000 100 100 Manufacture and
(Jiang Yin) Co., Ltd. FE 30,000,000 7T distribution of laminates
BEEFHMHOIR)ERAR HERS HENER
Jiangmen Kingboard Laminates PRC! HK$242,800,000 100 100 Manufacture and
Co., Ltd. R 242,800,000 ¢ distrioution of laminates
IFRERRRERAR SER S EERER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRARMEE

42. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

Name of subsidiary

WEARERE

Place of
incorporation/
registration and
operation

Issued and fully paid
share capital/
registered capital
ERTRARZ

B/ ERER

R,
BRREE

Kingboard (Jiangsu) Chemical PRC US$32,000,000
Co., Ltd. alei) 32,000,000% T

BE(IH )L IBRARF

Kingboard Laminates (Kunshan) PRC! US$32,010,000
Co., Ltd R 32,010,000% T

BERER(BILARAR

Kingboard (Lian Zhou) Fibre Glass ~ PRC' US$13,700,000
Co. Limited alei) 13,700,0005 7T

BEGEMN)EBEERRAR

Kingboard (Panyu Nansha) PRC! RMB250,000,000
Petrochemical Company Limited 1" 250,000,000 A R

BEERED)ALARRAT

# These are investment holding companies which have no specific principal

place of operations.

1 These companies were established in the PRC in the form of Wholly

Foreign-owned Enterprises.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results or assets of
the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

42.

203

Proportion of the
ownership interest
held by the Group Principal activities
AEEFRRE
BERRERLA FEXH
2018 2017
“E-N\E —T+F
% %
100 100 Manufacture and
distribution of chemicals
SERAHE I IER
100 100 Manufacture and
distribution of laminates
SER D HERER
100 100 Manufacture and
distribution of glass
fabric
SUER D HRR ST
100 100 Manufacture and
distribution of chemicals
SERAHEIER
# IFERATRERRAR - WEFEE
EEEME, -

! WEARNIINEBALE A ETE
PR3 ©

ERFIIRESZRATBFEAKEE

BREEZANFMBRR - EFERA
S EMH B AR ZFIFEBNILE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RENBHmRME
42. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 42. KRB EEHBLATRZ
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY FH1E
(continued)
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of BB A RN FAEREEEITEMER
the year. B o
(@  General information of subsidiaries (@ MEARZ—RESR
At the end of the reporting period, the Company has other RIS HMERE - NARHE
subsidiaries that are not material to the Group. A majority of HAREEW A EBRNEAMMER
these subsidiaries operate in the PRC. The principal activities Al o ZEMBRABARIBHRF
of these subsidiaries are summarised as follows: i REWBRAZEEEH

BEaan R

Principal place
Principal activities of business Number of subsidiaries

M A EEE
2018 2017
—BE-N\NE —T—+F

Manufacture and sale of RLERIHE PRC F 22 22
laminates EiNER Thailand Z=H 1 1
Macau SBPY 2 2

25 25

Properties mE Hong Kong a8 2 2
PRC =8 9 9

United Kingdom £ 1 1

12 12

Others EAh Hong Kong BB 37 37
PRC =a 6 6

43 43
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME
42. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 42. KATEEME AT Z
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY FH1E
(continued)
(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that (b) EEERFEREZRZHE
have material non-controlling interests 2EMBATIFE
The table below shows details of non-wholly owned TRES|HEREXIEE RS
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-controlling AEREFEREMBARFE
interests:

Place of Proportion of ownership

incorporation and interests and voting rights

principal place of K%K held by non-controlling Profit allocated tonon-  Accumulated non-
Name of subsidiary ~ HEAREH business FEERHY interests controlling interests  controlling interests

FEREREA 2R AREFER

RRER AR B2 ERFELL
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
Z-N\E TtF Z$-N\E TtF Z$-NE CT1F
HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
AR TR FER TAR

KBCF" fe3 gt Bermuda BEE 12.10% 17.68% 3,086 2568 296,860 467,794
Indlvidually immaterial BB FEER
subsiolaries with non- #3578

controling interests FERNBAA 46570 49,181
343430 516,975
# This is an investment holding company which has no specific # AR DBEEZB AR I
principal place of operation. BRTEEEEMI -
) excluding non-controlling interests of KBCF’s subsidiary ) TeEEERERB AR
FEPERR i

—E-)\FFH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME
42. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 42. KA FTERBE AR Z
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY 15 @
(continued)
(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that b) HEEERFEEREZZIFE
have material non-controlling interests (continued) 2EMBARFRE @)
KBCF and subsidiaries EEEERMB AT

2018 2017
—2-\F —2—tF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAT
Current assets REEE 2,561,238 1,837,886
Non-current assets SEMENE B 321,836 1,098,099
Current liabilities mEAaE 106,506 116,253
Non-current liabilities JERBEE 4,521 4,793
Equity attributable to owners of EN/NCIESTSDN
the Company =g e 2,450,622 2,319,847
Non-controlling interests of KBCF B IEE R 296,860 467,794
Non-controlling interests of EEIREMBARZ
KBCF’s subsidiary IR 24,565 27,298
Revenue e 586,979 609,407
Expenses, other gains and losses Fisz - Hibles REE 559,547 591,655
Profit for the year INEEE %A 27,432 17,752
Profit attributable to owners of KAREABA
the Company FEAE & 22,524 11,910
Profit attributable to non-controlling EHIRE FEIE R A
interests of KBCF FE(R = 3,086 2,558
Profit attributable to the non-controlling 2 5ESRSERNTE A A
interests of KBCF’s subsidiary FEFE SR 25 A s A 1,822 3,284
Profit for the year REZ i F| 27,432 17,7562
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME

42. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 42. ZATETEMBATZ
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY 15 @
(continued)
(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that b) HERERFEZEREZRZF

2EMBARFRE @)
BEEER MR (E)

have material non-controlling interests (continued)
KBCF and subsidiaries (continued)

2018 2017
—E-N\E —T—+tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Other comprehensive (expense) income 2 B35 A (L E A
attributable to owners of the Company £ (53 )z (57,844) 118,535
Other comprehensive (expense) income 325 M54 FE1Z AR A 25 FE (L H Aty
attributable to non-controlling interests 2 TE (B2 ) Uk zs
of KBCF (7,925) 25,458
Other comprehensive (expense) income  E5E G I B A R IE1EIR
attributable to the non-controlling FEEEMEE (RS Kk
interests of KBCF’s subsidiary (1,199) 1,786
Other comprehensive (expense) income A4 [E A i 2H (B )z
for the year (66,968) 145,779
Total comprehensive (expense) income AR TEA AEERE
attributable to owners of the Company  (Fisz ) Iz 48%8 (35,320) 130,445
Total comprehensive (expense) income &5 HR5E IR RE LS (G 2 E
attributable to non-controlling interests ~ (FAs ) Wz 42%8
of KBCF (4,839) 28,016
Total comprehensive income attributable 22585 $75E M B A T JE1RAT#E 25
to the non-controlling interests of R mik s 1a%a
KBCF’s subsidiary 623 5,070
Total comprehensive (expense) income  AFEL2E (Fsk ) a8 %E
for the year (39,536) 163,531
Dividends paid to non-controlling EEERERB AR
interests of KBCF’s subsidiary FEFER R RIS B (3,356) (3,208)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 484 ¥ 748 & A JF 58 122,827 120,499
Net cash outflow from investing activities &% & ¥ #%IH &k L F5E (18,482) (43,837)
Net cash outflow from financing activities g & EEHIR 4 7k H I F48 (3,356) (3,208)
Net cash inflow HEmAFER 100,989 73,454

—E— ) \FFRK
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KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Non-current assets

FRBEE

43.

2N
&

/

st s>

A i R K A

2018
—g-N\%F
HK$’000

2017
—ET—+F
HK$’000
FHET
(RESEVE))

FET

Equity instruments at FVTPL BEATVEFABRERTA 65,299 -
Investment in a subsidiary R B AR ZIEE 5,711,740 5,711,740
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUHI B A RIFRIE 671,543 657,370
6,448,582 6,369,110
Current assets MEVEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries NG % 19,000,193 13,857,253
Other receivables and prepayments Hth U BR 7 K FE N 08 39,152 50,896
Bank balances and cash IRITEBRERS 164,086 682,188
19,203,431 14,590,337
Current liabilities mEaE
Other payables H TR 64,824 23,075
Amounts due to subsidiaries ERHE A RIFIE 10,210,468 7,796,148
Bank borrowings RITEE—
— amount due within one year —FRNEIE 08 1,023,077 100,000
11,298,369 7,919,223
Net current assets mEVEEFE 7,905,062 6,671,114
Total assets less current liabilities BEREBERRDEE 14,353,644 13,040,224
Non-current liabilities ERBBEE
Bank borrowings HRITEE -
— amount due after one year — 1R EHf 2 F0E 4,776,923 3,000,000
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEATHT B A R FE 923,524 893,192
5,700,447 3,893,192
Net assets BEFE 8,653,197 9,147,032

ANNUAL REPORT 2018



BEEERZRERAD T 209

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

43. 7
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY S

D m AR R

(continued)

Capital and reserves A& R
Share capital A& AN 308,100 308,100
Reserves (Note) FHEGES 8,345,097 8,838,932
Total equity A R4REE 8,653,197 9,147,032
Note:
Share
Share options Special Retained
premium reserve reserve profits
BRERE
B E RE HEIRE RE SRR
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000
T FHT FHT 7SIT
(Note a)
(Hf&xa)
At 1 January 2017 RZZE—tF—A—8 1,097,104 93,105 5,427,130 1,653,603 8,270,942
Profit for the year and total RERFRAFE
comprehensive income for the year 2HERESAEE - - - 2,545,041 2,545,041
Final dividend paid for the year BEEHE=Z—RF
ended 31 December 2016 TZRA=E+—HIEFE
ZAREANLE - - - (569,985) (569,985)
Interim dividend paid for the year ENBE-_ZT—+F
ended 31 December 2017 +=—A=t+—HILEE
Z PR - - - (1,004,406)  (1,004,406)
Special final dividend paid for the year B fIEE —Z—<4F
ended 31 December 2016 +=—A=t+—HILEE
ZHRERIREIAR B - - - (924,300) (924,300)
Ordinary shares issued BT mk 614,745 (93,105) - - 521,640
614,745 (93,105) ~ (2,498,691)  (1,977,051)
At 31 December 2017 RZZT—tF
+=A=+—H 1,711,849 - 5,427,130 1,699,953 8,838,932
Profit for the year and total REEHF RAFEE2H
comprehensive income for the year eyt - - - 1,665,946 1,665,946
Final dividend paid for the year ENEBE-T—+4F
ended 31 December 2017 +=ZA=t+—HIEEFE
ZAREANL B - - - (1,620,606) (1,620,606)
Interim dividend paid for the year ENBE-_Z—N\F
ended 31 December 2018 +=—A=+—HILEE
ZAREARR S - - - (539,175) (539,175)
- - - 2159,781)  (2,159,781)
At 31 December 2018 R-IZE—)\F
+—-A=+—H 1,711,849 - 5,427,130 1,206,118 8,345,097
Note a: Special reserve of the Company represent the differences between the BT 7T'VA A2 FERl 1%1%&%&%%%%@ Az
net asset value of the acquired subsidiaries and the nominal value of the BEFEER _TTNFETRESE
Company'’s shares issued for the acquisition at the time of the Group’s H—*fﬁﬂﬂ%ﬁ’ﬁ?éﬁZ$’/} RO EERE
reorganisation in 2006. [ ZEHE
ZE-N\FFH
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INFORMATION ON THE GROUP’S PROPERTIES

The following table sets out the Group’s material properties held for

investment:

Location

1B

88 to 93 Fenchurch Street, 5 and
7 Carlisle Avenue and Part of
Saracens Head Yard, London,
EC3M 4ST, United Kingdom

Building 14, Kingboard Yueking Garden,
Kunshan Development District,
Kunshan, Jiangsu Province, the PRC*

(FEUIHERILTRER
BEmRE145E)

No. 130 Lingang Xinchengpu Road,
No. 220 Lingang Xinchengjin Road,
Shops of Jiangyin Kingboard Garden Phase |
at No. 225 Lingang Xincheng Zhujiang Road,
Jiangyin, Jiangsu Province, the PRC*
(FEUIEHE L s sae -
130%% » BB 3T & #2205
ER S R 8522555 -
TREBERIEE— B4

Unit Nos.2301-2303, 26/F, 27/F and

Car Parking Space No.9,10 on 2nd Floor,

Overseas Trust Bank Building,

No.160 Gloucester Road, Hong Kong
(BEBETITE160%

BIMERERITRE

2301-2303% - 264 « 2712

2IEEOR 10578 h1)

Gross floor
area (m?)
MEEEE
(EFK)

Existing use

R AZE

Commercial Freehold 8,000
[EES KAERE
Commercial Medium term lease 13,000
[EES h EATE AR
Commercial Medium term lease 11,000
[EES  EATE HA
Commercial Medium term lease 4,000
[EES  EATE HA

AEBERERREMEIINTE

Group’s interest

AEEFAER

2018
—E-N\F
(%)

100%

100%

100%

100%

2017
T —+F
(%)

100%

100%

100%

100%
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INFORMATION ON THE GROUP’S PROPERTIES
SEYMEER

The following table sets out the Group’s material properties held for REETEFREWEINTER :
development:

Approximate
percentage of
completion as Year of
at the date of expected Gross floor Group’s interest
this report (%) completion area (m? rEERERES
BEEERRE
Location Existing use B LR st BEERR 2018
1 REMH2 BOEHL RIEE (FFK) —g—n&
(%) (%)
Huagjiao Kingboard Garden Phase V, Residential 50% 2019 180,000 100% 100%
Guixi Road, Huagjao District, E=2

Kunshan, Jiangsu Province, the PRC*
(FEIIHS RILMIEE BB
TEREERIEERE)

* denotes English translation of Chinese addresses in the PRC for identification * AR 2 B E R R B R o
purposes only.

—E-)\FFH
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
B E
RESULTS ¥EiE

Year ended 31 December
BE+t=-A=1t—HILEE
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
—ZT—FE —Z—RF T—X —E—+F ZE-N\F

HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

T T THETT THETT THET
(RES EIE)) (RES EIEN)) (RESEWES)] (RESEWE))
(FesEit) (s &=t) (ge=it) (ge&it)

Revenue =] 13,628,790 12,954,627 15,576,069 18,337,952 20,645,776
Profit before taxation BB BT A 1,329,256 1,540,465 4,902,670 4,642,579 4,475,835
Income tax expense FRiSHifE (193,281) (269,465) (550,762) (870,328)  (1,217,844)
Profit for the year TN F 1,135,975 1,271,000 4,351,908 3,772,251 3,257,991
Attributable to: JE(R1DEE
Owners of the Company ViN/NEIESYEN 1,121,842 1,265,403 4,346,561 3,764,540 3,250,381
Non-controlling interests IR 2 14,133 5,597 5,347 7,711 7,610

1,135,975 1,271,000 4,351,908 3,772,251 3,257,991

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEREE

At 31 December
R+=—A=+-—8
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

—T—NF —ET—HF —ZT—F —T—+F ZEB-N\F
HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FAT FAT FAT FAT FET
Total assets BEMSE 22,922,586 23,030,997 25,664,205 28,651,223 28,721,741
Total liabilities BfEeE (8,528,926) (8,877,836) (10,317,073) (10,564,289) (10,878,739)
Net assets BEFE 14,393,660 14,153,161 15,347,132 17,986,934 17,843,002
Equity attributable to PN/NCIEST SN
owners of the Company JEfh R 13,299,975 13,167,408 14,407,373 17,469,959 17,499,572
Non-controlling interests FEIERR R A 1,093,685 985,753 939,759 516,975 343,430
Total equity B4R 14,393,660 14,153,161 15,347,132 17,986,934 17,843,002
Note:  Interest income from debt instruments and dividend income from equity instruments fsE . AREARFEMNRINAR - TATFFAEAMBA -
which were previously included in other income, gains and losses have been Wk RISEBREB AN BWA KBS TARE
reclassified to revenue to conform with current year's presentation. WABEHDBEEERE -
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KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

23/F, Delta House, 3 On Yiu Street, Shek Mun, Shatin, N.T., Hong Kong
EEFAVHAMTRE=REEAE-_1T=&

Tel &3 © (852) 2605 6493 Fax €& : (852) 2691 5245

E-mail EE : enquiry@kingboard.com Web site #8311t : http://www.kblaminates.com
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